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The Group encompasses a strong portfolio of 
employment, education and volunteer businesses which 
span across Australia, New Zealand, China, India, Brazil, 
Mexico, Indonesia, Nigeria, Bangladesh, Philippines, 
Vietnam, Thailand, South Africa, Kenya, Malaysia, Hong 
Kong and Singapore. SEEK makes a positive impact on 
a truly global scale with exposure to over 4 billion people 
and approximately 28% of Global GDP.

Our employment marketplaces are focused on facilitating 
the matching between jobseekers and employment 
opportunities, and helping hirers find candidates for 
advertised roles. Across our employment marketplaces 
we receive over 375 million visits to our sites every month 
and have over 3 million job opportunities available at any 
given time and over 100 million jobseeker profiles.

SEEK Learning offers trusted advice in relation to career 
related education; Online Education Services (OES) 
offers leading online education for working Australian 
adults; and IDP is a world leader in international student 
placement services. To date we have helped over 600,000 
students find relevant career related education through 
SEEK’s education businesses and partners.

SEEK’s commitment to having a positive impact on 
society is reflected through the diverse range of initiatives 
which our businesses across the globe partake in to 
support the communities they operate within.

In Australia SEEK Volunteer is the country’s largest 
single source of volunteering opportunities offering 
non-for-profit organisations free access to post 
volunteer opportunities for their organisations. This free 
marketplace is something SEEK is exceptionally proud  
of and has just introduced into New Zealand.

Over the 17 years of operation SEEK continues to 
innovate within the markets it operates in. We provide a 
culture of excellence and acceptance in our workplaces 
and celebrate the diversity of employees that contribute 
to the success of our organisation.

SEEK is a diverse group of companies that 
have a unified purpose to help people live 
more fulfilling and productive working 
lives and help organisations succeed.
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This report covers SEEK Limited as a consolidated entity consisting of SEEK Limited (the Company) and its controlled entities. 
Figures in this Financial Report are expressed in Australian dollars. The Financial Report was authorised for issue by the 
directors on 29 September 2015. The Company has the power to amend and reissue the Financial Report.

SEEK Limited is a company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. Its registered principal place of 
business is:

Level 6 
541 St Kilda Road 
MELBOURNE VIC 3004

A description of the nature of the consolidated entity’s operations and its principal activities is included in the review 
of operations and activities in the Directors’ Report on pages 2 to 44, which is not part of this Financial Report.

Through the use of the internet, we have ensured that our corporate reporting is timely, complete and available globally at 
minimum cost to the Company. All press releases, financial reports and other information are available at our Investor Centre 
on our website at www.seek.com.au.
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Chairman’s Letter

Dear Shareholder,

The 2015 financial year has been a 
successful period for SEEK with the 
business achieving record financial 
results, alongside significant 
investment to enhance the product and 
service offerings across the Group, 
continued M&A which has expanded 
SEEK’s geographic footprint and 
execution of specific growth strategies 
within individual businesses. 

I believe the achievements over the 
fiscal year have made SEEK an even 
stronger business and position it well 
for medium to long-term growth.

1.	 Revenue excludes interest and dividend income.

FY2015 Results
SEEK’s record financial results were achieved against a 
backdrop of relatively subdued global macro-economic 
conditions. Despite these subdued conditions, SEEK 
achieved sales revenue  growth of 20% and EBITDA growth 
of 15% from continuing operations, which was accompanied 
by an increase in total dividends of 20% over the 2014 
financial year.

These financial results were particularly pleasing as 
the business invested aggressively to increase the value 
proposition it delivers to jobseekers, hirers and students.  

SEEK completed some material M&A during FY2015, which 
has led to SEEK extending its footprint across India and 
increasing its ownership in existing businesses (JobStreet, 
One Africa Media and OCC Mundial). 

The expectation is that both the re-investment and M&A 
will generate robust future returns for SEEK’s shareholders 
and help SEEK fulfil its purpose of “helping people live 
more fulfilling and productive working lives and help 
organisations succeed”.

SEEK’s role in the community
SEEK’s purpose is having a very positive impact on a global 
scale by helping millions of jobseekers, and significant 
numbers of hirers and students, in turn benefiting their 
communities. 

SEEK’s focus on making a positive societal impact has also 
driven a number of territory specific initiatives.  For example, 
in Australia and New Zealand, these included:

•	 Supporting staff involvement in key programs and 
initiatives promoting diversity and inclusion;

•	 Continued participation in the leadership of the Australian 
Charities Fund as a member of the Fund’s Employee 
Leadership Group, with  57% of SEEK’s employees 
participating in the “Workplace Giving Program” and 
contributing over $650,000 to community initiatives 
throughout FY2015; and 

•	 In 2015 SEEK celebrated the 15th year anniversary 
of SEEK Volunteer in Australia, a milestone of which 
the company is very proud. In June 2015 SEEK 
officially launched SEEK Volunteer in New Zealand 
which capitalises  on SEEK Volunteer’s long history 
and contribution in Australia, where in FY2015 
alone it connected close to 150,000 volunteers with 
volunteer positions.

I am proud of the positive contribution that SEEK is having to 
the markets in which we currently operate.
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Chairman’s Letter

The Board and SEEK Team
The Executive Team saw some changes with the departure of 
Jason Lenga (MD – SEEK International) and John Armstrong 
(Group Chief Financial Officer).  I am pleased that Jason will 
remain as a Special Advisor to SEEK until 1 July 2016 and 
that both Jason and John will remain as directors on the 
Board of Zhaopin Ltd.

We also welcomed the appointment of three new Executive 
team members from SEEK’s strong and highly experienced 
senior management team, Isar Mazer (MD- International 
Operations), Ronnie Fink (Corporate Development Director) 
and Simon Lusted (Group Strategy Director), and the 
appointment of Geoff Roberts as SEEK Limited’s new Group 
Chief Financial Officer, who commenced with us early in 
October. 

I would like to thank our Chief Executive Officer Andrew 
Bassat, my fellow Board members and the entire SEEK team 
for their hard work and dedication, which is reflected in our 
strong financial performance and the significant business 
accomplishments over the last year.

Outlook
I am confident that under the leadership of Andrew, and 
his executive management team, that SEEK will continue 
to execute against its strategic growth plans, strengthening 
the business and providing new opportunities for earnings 
growth in FY2016 and beyond. 

Neil Chatfield
Chairman 
SEEK
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CEO’s Review

1.	 Revenue excluding interest and dividend income

Dear Shareholder,

I am pleased to report that SEEK 
delivered another record set of 
financial results in FY2015, with 
sales revenue(1) and EBITDA of $858.4 
million and $348.9 million respectively 
from continuing operations, growth of 
20% and 15% on FY2014.

The strong growth in our financial 
metrics were achieved against a 
backdrop of subdued macro-economic 
conditions across many key markets, 
some challenges in SEEK Learning 
and continued re-investment in 
product and technology to position the 
business for the long-term growth.  
SEEK’s ability to deliver strong 
financial growth against this backdrop 
reflects the strength, scale and 
diversity of the SEEK Group. 

Delivering on our purpose on a global 
scale
We believe we are making significant inroads and delivering 
against our purpose of helping people live more fulfilling and 
productive working lives and help organisations succeed.  
SEEK is doing this on a global scale:

•	 Across the entire SEEK Group, we service 150 million 
jobseekers and 700,000 hirers (at June 2015).

•	 In Australia and New Zealand we had over 35 million 
monthly visits to our employment platform and 
approximately 135,000 job ads per month.

•	 Across our International footprint we had over 340 million 
visits and 3 million job ads per month, with exposure 
to over 4 billion people and approximately 28% of 
Global GDP.

•	 In Education we helped over 55,000 students find a 
course in the last year, some of which were enrolments 
in international markets from our early stage education 
business in Mexico and growth in student placements 
achieved by IDP Education (IDP).

Pleasingly, SEEK is making a large social impact in 
emerging markets across millions of people. We believe that 
in less developed economies we are having a particularly 
large impact, providing greater access to employment 
opportunities and in turn helping organisations and 
communities prosper.

 

I am also proud of the way in which we have contributed 
to local communities, including leveraging SEEK’s core 
capabilities in Australia to assist over 6,500 not-for-profit 
organisations and around 148,000 volunteers connect in the 
past 12 months.

Our focus on delivering the fundamentals that provide the 
best possible outcomes for jobseekers, hirers and students 
will be what underpins SEEK’s future success and lead to 
significant shareholder returns over the medium to long-
term.

AS A RESULT OF OUR STRONG 
MARKET POSITIONS, THE 
DEPTH OF OUR RELATIONSHIPS 
AND THE UNIQUE DATA 
WE COLLECT, SEEK IS 
UNIQUELY POSITIONED TO 
CAPTURE LARGE MARKET 
OPPORTUNITIES IN THE GLOBAL 
HUMAN CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
INDUSTRY
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CEO’s Review

Key business accomplishments
FY2015 was an exciting year in which we set our sights 
high and achieved a number of significant business 
accomplishments, including:

•	 Completing the acquisition of JobStreet’s online 
employment assets and undertaking the complex 
integration with JobsDB.

–– The integration has gone very well, with excellent 
acceptance and support from staff and retention of the 
key personnel.

•	 Zhaopin is now the #1 online employment marketplace 
in China.

–– Zhaopin has taken market leadership in China in terms 
of both jobseekers metrics and number of unique 
hirers. This has been a terrific achievement to bring 
Zhaopin from a loss making, distant third player, to 
market leader in nine years.

•	 Domestically, we saw the successful launch of Premium 
Talent Search (PTS) in Q4 FY2015.

–– This is SEEK’s first direct revenue generating 
Placements product.  Sales to date have exceeded our 
expectations with now over 200 contracted customers.

–– SEEK has built the strong foundations from which 
to roll-out new Placements related products and 
technologies, and we anticipate two major product 
launches in the next 12 months to complement the 
strong progress we have made in PTS.

•	 We have completed exciting M&A in early stage 
businesses which provide access to either new 
technologies or open up new addressable markets 
which we believe position SEEK for future legs of 
earnings growth.

•	 We also launched our new culture, which is an important 
part of us becoming the world leader in what we do.

Re-investing to capture large market 
opportunities
SEEK has a portfolio of leading online employment 
marketplaces across 19 countries across Australia, 
China, South East Asia, Latin America and Africa.  This 
platform provides access to rich data, with over 150 million 
jobseekers, deep relationships with over 700,000 hirers and 
assisting approximately 400,000 students per annum with 
course and career advice.

We operate in a rapidly evolving world where all 
organisations are impacted by the rate of change in 
technology and globalisation.  As a business that was 
formed out of disruption to print, we firmly believe that all 
companies need to re-invest aggressively in their operations 
and  research and development to deliver more value to 
their customers or face being disrupted and/or risk missing 
growth opportunities.

As a result of our strong market positions, the depth of 
our relationships and the unique data we collect, SEEK is 
uniquely positioned to capture large market opportunities in 
the global human capital management industry.  In Australia 
alone, the human capital management industry is estimated 
to be worth in excess of $7 billion(2), and this is much larger 
when considered across all of the markets in which SEEK 
operates.

I believe there are very few businesses globally who are as 
well positioned as SEEK to capitalise on this opportunity.  
Given our demonstrated capability and track record in 
creating value for shareholders over medium to longer 
term(3), I believe that we should be re-investing more rather 
than less at this point in our evolution and we are optimistic 
that SEEK will continue to deliver excellent growth and 
returns into the future.

FY2015 - Key Financial Highlights
FY2015 was another record result for SEEK, and setting aside 
the challenges in SEEK Learning, all divisions performed 
well in relatively subdued macro conditions, with sales 
revenue and EBITDA of $858.4 million and $348.9 million 
respectively from continuing operations, growth of 20% 
and 15% on FY2014, and NPAT (excluding significant items) 
of $189.8 million(4). Group EBITDA margins remain stable, 
notwithstanding our continued re-investment to build a 
platform for future growth

SEEK’s strong balance sheet and cash flows allowed us to 
invest in exciting growth opportunities as well as declaring 
total dividends of 36 cents per share in FY2015 (growth of 
20% on FY2014).  

As our businesses grow and continue to generate high free 
cash flows, SEEK’s strong cash flows will provide us with 
optionality to deliver shareholder value.

 

SEEK Group(5) 2015 2014 Growth%

Sales revenue ($m) 858.4 713.3 20%
EBITDA ($m) 348.9 303.9 15%
NPAT excl. significant items (Post 
NCI) ($m)(4) 198.8 178.9 6%
Dividends per share (cents) 36.0 30.0 20%

2.	 Based on IBISWorld, market research and internal analysis, July 2015.

3.	 Between IPO (19 April 2005) and 14 August 2015, SEEK has delivered total shareholder returns of approximately 648% vs ASX 200 of approximately 109%.  Total shareholder returns 
includes dividends and share price appreciation.

4.	 NPAT excluding significant items (Post NCI) represents NPAT from continuing operations adjusted to remove the impact of significant one-off non-cash accounting items and excludes 
the impact of JobStreet’s Purchase Price Amortisation (FY2015: $3.0 million, FY2014: $nil).

5.	 Financial results presented in table above are on a Reported basis relating to continuing operations. 
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Domestic – Core Employment
The Domestic business had a great FY2015, delivering record 
revenue of $273.2 million despite the 12 month average 
unemployment rate reaching its highest level since our 
listing on the Australian Stock Exchange in 2005.  Achieving 
revenue growth of 14% (7% from volume uplift and 7% 
from yield benefit) in the current employment environment 
demonstrates the strength and resilience of our business 
model and that we are starting to derive some revenue 
benefits from prior period investment into the Placement 
Strategy. 

The operating momentum in our Placement Strategy during 
FY2015 encouraged us to increase our re-investment across 
people, product and technology. Our re-investment positions 
us well to bring an exciting suite of new products (including 
PTS) to market and deliver our long-term product and 
technology roadmap.  As a result, despite delivering record 
EBITDA of $154.2 million, growth was only 6% on FY2014 
and EBITDA margin stepped down to 56% (FY2014: 61%).  We 
believe that this re-investment back into the business will 
deliver a robust future return on investment.

The Australian online employment marketplace is 
competitive. However, despite the increased competition, 
SEEK remain the clear market leader delivering 32% of the 
placements in Australia(6) approximately 10 times that of our 
nearest competitor.

 
SEEK 

Australia
Lead over nearest 

competitor

Share of Placements(6) 32% c.10x
Unprompted brand awareness(7) 72% c.2x

The advances we are making in our Placements Strategy 
continue to strengthen our Domestic business is helping 
create a more efficient online employment marketplace for 
our jobseekers and hirers.

6.	 Independent research by GFK on behalf of SEEK (Jan-15). Nationally representative sample of (n=3,081) Australians in the labour force aged 18-65 years that changed / started jobs in 
a different company in the last 12 months.

7.	 Independent research conducted by Hall & Partners |OpenMind on behalf of SEEK (April 2015 to June 2015). Total respondents May to June, n = 800.

OUR DOMESTIC EMPLOYMENT 
BUSINESS ACHIEVED 
REVENUE GROWTH OF 14% 
DESPITE FY2015’S HIGH 
AVERAGE UNEMPLOYMENT 
RATE, DEMONSTRATING THE 
STRENGTH AND RESILIENCE 
OF OUR BUSINESS MODEL 
AND THAT WE ARE STARTING 
TO DERIVE SOME REVENUE 
BENEFITS FROM PRIOR 
PERIOD INVESTMENT INTO THE 
PLACEMENT STRATEGY

Share of AU placements (%) as at January 2015

Professional
networks
(LinkedIn)

Online
classifieds

(inc. Gumtree)

Aggregators
(inc. Indeed)

Offline
(inc. word 
of mouth)

3%

5%

2%

32%

36%
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SEEK International
SEEK International achieved “look-through”(8) Revenue of 
$333.1m and EBITDA of $108.0m, growth of 31% and 34% 
respectively on FY2014.  This was achieved as a result of 
very strong performance by Zhaopin, as it grew its customer 
base and local currency revenue by 25% on FY2014, and 
also assisted by SEEK Asia which benefited from the 
consolidation of JobStreet for 7 months post acquisition.  

Brasil Online delivered growth on a local currency basis, 
despite extremely weak local economic conditions.

We are very pleased with OCC Mundial’s results and 
operating performance from both its employment and 
education businesses, with the education business providing 
a positive contribution margin for the first time in Q4 FY2015.

SEEK International continues to grow in significance to the 
Group contributing 38% and 32% of “look-through” revenue 
and EBITDA respectively (FY2014: 35% and 27% respectively).

In addition to strong financial results we achieved some 
significant business accomplishments, including:

•	 Completion of the acquisition of JobStreet’s online 
employment assets and increased our ownership in SEEK 
Asia from 69.0% (June 2014) to 80.8% (June 2015).

•	 Increased our ownership in OCC Mundial (Mexico’s 
leading online employment marketplace) from 56.4% 
to 98.2%, and One Africa Media taking it from 24.4% to 
27.5%.

•	 Acquired a 46.2% interest in Babajobs, India’s largest 
job marketplace focused on “entry level” roles (e.g. data 
entry, BPO, drivers etc).

SEEK Education (SEEK Learning & Education 
Other)
SEEK’s education portfolio(9) achieved “look-through” 
Revenue of $275.5 million and EBITDA of $72.9 million, 
growth of 14% and EBITDA decline of 8% on FY2014.

Swinburne Online continued to deliver great results with 
strong growth in students educated. The high cash flow 
generation of this business has also led to it returning more 
cash in dividends than SEEK’s initial upfront capital invested. 

IDP performed well delivering 21% revenue growth across 
each of Student Placements and its IELTS tests, and has 
been a great financial investment for SEEK.  Subject to 
market conditions, an Initial Public Offering of this business 
is more likely in Calendar Year 2015.

SEEK Learning’s FY2015 result was impacted by one-off 
issues relating to an IT systems upgrade undertaken by TAFE 
NSW and increasingly competitive environment.  

FY2016 will be an equally challenging year for SEEK Learning 
as the impact of a number of regulatory reforms come 
into effect. Whilst there will be a one to two year transition 
period for SEEK Learning, we believe the regulatory changes 
will deliver better student outcomes. We also believe the 
regulatory changes will remove unscrupulous practices in 
the marketplace and result in SEEK Learning re-affirming 
its position as the leading online destination for course and 
career related services. 

SEEK is committed to the future success of SEEK Learning 
and we believe the business remains well positioned for 
growth over the medium to long-term.

 

8.	 The term “Look-through” Revenue and EBITDA refers to SEEK’s proportional interest in the underlying Revenue or EBITDA of its subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures based on 
SEEK’s proportionate interest at the end of the reporting period.

9.	 Think has been excluded from the Domestic – SEEK Education “look-through” revenue and EBITDA retrospectively for all periods as it was divested in November 2013.

SEEK INTERNATIONAL CONTINUES TO GROW IN SIGNIFICANCE TO 
THE GROUP CONTRIBUTING 38% AND 32% OF “LOOK-THROUGH”(8) 
REVENUE AND EBITDA RESPECTIVELY
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Opportunity, Diversity & Purpose
We recognize that our people and their diversity are 
critical to our success.  As an agile technology business 
with aggressive long term growth aspirations, employing 
and keeping the very best talent has only become more 
important.  

In recognition of this we redefined the Company’s purpose, 
culture and attributes in This is SEEK, codifying what it 
means to be a high performer at SEEK and encapsulating 
the key employee attributes which have made the business a 
success over the past 17 years.  The transparency of purpose 
and behaviors has been embraced by our teams with 
increased productivity and positivity, and will help continue to 
build an even better business.

I am proud of the wide range of initiatives in which we are 
involved to improve our people, culture and the broader 
community, including: staff wellbeing, professional 
development, diversity, the environment, and volunteering 
via SEEK’s internal volunteering program and SEEK 
Volunteer which celebrates 15 years in partnership with 
Volunteering Australia.

 

Thanks to those that make SEEK 
a success
Finally, I would like to thank our all our jobseekers, hirers, 
students, and shareholders for their continued support over 
the past year as we continue to evolve our suite of innovative 
products and technologies and deliver value over the coming 
years.  

I would especially like to thank our Board, the management 
team and over 6,000 talented employees and contractors 
across 19 countries whose commitment and contribution is 
the cornerstone of the success of this Company. 

Andrew Bassat
CEO

WE RECOGNISE THAT OUR 
PEOPLE AND THEIR DIVERSITY 
ARE CRITICAL TO OUR SUCCESS 
AS AN AGILE TECHNOLOGY 
BUSINESS WITH AGGRESSIVE 
LONG TERM GROWTH 
ASPIRATIONS
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Directors’ Report

Your directors present their report on the consolidated entity (referred to hereafter as the Group), consisting of SEEK Limited 
and the entities it controlled at the end of, or during, the year ended 30 June 2015.

Directors
The following persons were directors of the Company during the financial year and up to the date of this report:

Neil G Chatfield Chairman, Non-executive director

Andrew R Bassat Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer (CEO)

Colin B Carter Non-executive director

Denise I Bradley Non-executive director

Graham B Goldsmith Non-executive director

Julie A Fahey Non-executive director (appointed 23 July 2014)

Principal activities
During the year the principal continuing activities of the Group consisted of:

•	 matching of hirers and jobseekers with career opportunities and related services on the internet; 

•	 investing in early stage businesses and technologies which are adjacent to the core online employment marketplace; and

•	 distribution and provision of vocational training and higher education courses.

Dividends
Dividends paid to shareholders during the financial year were as follows:

Payment Amount per
Franked 

amount per Total dividend
date share share $m

Financial Year 2014
2013 final dividend 16 October 2013  12.0 cents  12.0 cents  $40.7 
2014 interim dividend 30 April 2014  14.0 cents  14.0 cents  $47.7 
Total dividends paid for the year ended 30 June 2014  $88.4 

Financial Year 2015

2014 final dividend 17 October 2014  16.0 cents  16.0 cents  $54.8 

2015 interim dividend 21 April 2015  19.0 cents  19.0 cents  $65.4 

Total dividends paid for the year ended 30 June 2015  $120.2 

Dividends paid or declared by the Company after year end (to be paid out of retained profits at 30 June 2015):

2015 final dividend 16 October 2015  17.0 cents  17.0 cents  $58.5 

The total dividend for the year is 36.0 cents (2014: 30.0 cents).
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Review of operations
A summary of consolidated revenues and results is set out below:

2015 2014
Notes $m $m

Sales revenue 3  858.4  713.3 
Dividend income 3  1.2  - 

Interest income 3  12.9  10.9 

Total revenue from continuing operations 3  872.5  724.2 

Segment EBITDA from continuing operations(1) 2  348.9  303.9 
Depreciation 2 (11.8) (8.8)
Amortisation 2 (31.4) (25.0)
Share of net profits of equity accounted investments 2  21.7  24.1 
Dilution of investments in associates 2  - (5.4)
Fair value gain on step acquisitions 2  100.3  - 
Transaction costs from investing activities 2 (14.0) (3.0)
Other investing activities 2  4.7  0.9 
Amortisation of share-based payments and other long-term incentive schemes 5 (18.7) (18.1)
Dividend income 3  1.2  - 
Interest income 3  12.9  10.9 

Interest expense 5 (29.9) (27.7)
Profit from continuing operations before income tax  383.9  251.8 

Income tax expense 7(a) (68.7) (53.4)

Profit from continuing operations after income tax  315.2  198.4 

Operational results from discontinued operation 22  -  1.1 

Gain on sale from discontinued operation 22  -  23.9 

Profit from discontinued operation  -  25.0 

Profit for the year  315.2  223.4 

Non-controlling interests (34.0) (27.8)

Profit for the year attributable to owners of SEEK Limited  281.2  195.6 

1. Segment EBITDA is earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation and excludes share of results of equity accounted investments, amortisation of share-based 
payments and long-term incentives, gains/losses on investing activities, and other non-operating gains/losses.

SEEK achieved another record result for the year ended 30 June 2015 (“FY2015”) with strong growth from continuing 
operations in both sales revenue (up 20%) and EBITDA (up 15%) compared to the year ended 30 June 2014 (“FY2014”) despite 
significant re-investment across the Group.

The Group’s strong FY2015 sales revenue and EBITDA result was driven by organic growth (SEEK Employment, Zhaopin), and 
the consolidation of JobStreet for seven months of the financial year.  With the exception of SEEK Learning, we saw strong 
underlying local currency results against a backdrop of relatively subdued economic conditions in most markets.

Profit attributable to the owners of SEEK Limited was $281.2m (2014: $195.6m), which was impacted by the following 
significant items: 

•	 In November 2014, SEEK Asia completed the acquisition of the online employment businesses of JobStreet Corporation 
Berhad. As a result, FY2015 benefited from a $100.3m accounting gain on the revaluation of its existing investment in 
JobStreet Corporation Berhad (JCB), offset by $10.6m of costs associated with the transaction(2);

•	 FY2015 was favourably impacted by a one-off foreign currency gain of $4.7m relating to SEEK’s acquisition of additional 
ownership interests in SEEK Asia and OCC in June 2015;

•	 FY2014 was also favourably impacted by a $23.9m gain on the divestment of THINK, partially offset by $8.0m one-off items 
relating to JobStreet and the write-off of borrowing cost on one of SEEK’s existing syndicated debt facilities following a 
refinancing in March 2014 to support merger and acquisition related activities. 

2. 	 $10.6m costs includes transaction costs incurred by SEEK Asia (post non-controlling interests) and SEEK’s share of transaction costs incurred by JobStreet Corporation Berhad.
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Review of operations continued
When adjusted for the significant items above, profit attributable to the owners of SEEK Limited would have been $186.8m in 
FY2015 (FY2014: $179.7m), reflecting growth of 4%.

From an operational perspective, the key highlights of FY2015 include:

•	 SEEK Asia’s acquisition of the online employment businesses of JobStreet Corporation Berhad on 20 November 2014, with 
pleasing progress made on the complex integration between Jobstreet and JobsDB;

•	 Zhaopin establishing itself as the clear market leading online employment marketplace in the People’s Republic of China 
in terms of unique visitors and unique customers;

•	 Strong sales revenue result by SEEK Employment against a backdrop of soft macro conditions; and 

•	 Achieving strong momentum in evolving the online employment business model and rolling out new products and services. 

Further information on results by segment is provided in the following pages.

Domestic – Core Employment
The Core Employment segment includes SEEK Employment, SEEK New Zealand and SEEK Commercial.

2015 2014 Growth

$m $m $m %

Sales revenue  273.2  240.3  32.9 14%

Segment EBITDA  154.2  145.7  8.5 6%

  Segment EBITDA margin (%) 56% 61%

The Australian economy continued to experience relatively subdued macroeconomic conditions with the unemployment 
rate averaging around 6.2% for the financial year, the highest level since SEEK’s listing in 2005.  Historically this economic 
environment would have presented a significant challenge in growing job ad volumes and sales revenue.  However, SEEK 
believe that the strength of the business model, market leadership and benefits of product technology re-investment 
contributed to delivering sales revenue and EBITDA growth of 14% and 6% respectively in FY2015.  The sales revenue growth 
of 14% was attributable to a yield benefit of 7% (mix shift and price increases) and a 7% growth in job ad volumes.

Core Employment’s EBITDA growth was less than sales revenue growth as the business re-invested in rolling out new 
products and technology to create efficiencies and deliver outcomes to jobseekers and hirers.  

SEEK is confident, in future periods, the re-investment will generate a strong return on investment and will also strengthen 
the business model.

Key highlights:

The continuation of strong progress in operating metrics, including:

•	 Over 100,000 customers now using SEEK’s new cloud based talent management tool (Advertiser Centre) which has 
significantly improved hiring efficiency;

•	 Growth in Core Employment’s portfolio of deep and rich candidate profiles from 4.2m in July 2014 to 6.1m in July 2015, an 
increase of 45%;

•	 Significant advancements in data and search analytics;

–– This progress has driven better search and matching functionality connecting even more highly relevant candidates with 
job opportunities;

–– Over 2.3m jobseekers now receive weekly “round up” emails, containing highly relevant job ads, market data & salary 
insights tailored to their jobseeker profile, and job search and application history; 

–– SEEK’s new Talent Search product has created new ways to access relevant talent, facilitating over 1 million additional 
connections between jobseekers and hirers in the last 12 months; and

•	 Enhanced mobile functionality has resulted in over 60% of traffic and 30% of applications now coming from mobile devices, 
up from 30% and 9% respectively in June 2012.

This investment is strengthening SEEK’s value proposition, with clear market leadership in placements (32% of Australian 
placements facilitated by SEEK) and unprompted brand awareness of 72%.
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Domestic - Early Stage Employment
The Early Stage Employment segment comprises a portfolio of small investments that provide products and services which 
sit ‘adjacent’ to the core online employment marketplace of SEEK Employment, including Jora (formerly known as JobSeeker) 
and share of profits/(losses) from other investments.

2015 2014 Growth

$m $m $m %

Sales revenue  2.7  0.9  1.8 200%

Segment EBITDA (0.6) (1.1)  0.5 45%

Total share of results of equity accounted investments (0.3) (0.2) (0.1) (13%)

During FY2015 the focus of these businesses was to evolve and grow their offerings to help jobseekers achieve career 
outcomes or assist hirers with talent acquisition and growing market share.

Domestic – SEEK Learning
The SEEK Learning segment represents the SEEK Learning business only.  

2015 2014 Growth

$m $m $m %

Sales revenue  81.2  87.7 (6.5) (7%)

Segment EBITDA  32.5  46.7 (14.2) (30%)

  Segment EBITDA margin (%) 40% 53%

 
During FY2015, SEEK Learning continued to expand its product and service offerings with 40 new course offerings and 
grew the linkages with the Core Employment business.  However, FY2015 financial results and student enrolments were 
unfavourably impacted by the following events:

•	 IT related enrolment issues with one of SEEK Learning’s more significant education partners (TAFE New South Wales) 
which resulted in lower than anticipated student enrolments;

•	 Increased competition for students from existing and new entrants to the market, which drove up student acquisition costs; 
and

•	 The FY2014 result included $8.0m of performance related sales revenue from Laureate Education Inc. whereas the FY2015 
result only included $4.0m (as anticipated). 

As a result of the factors above, FY2015 sales revenue and EBITDA declined by 7% and 30% respectively compared to FY2014.  

In regards to the outlook for SEEK Learning, specific Vocational Education and Training (“VET”) reforms have been announced 
and will be implemented by 1 January 2016.  These specific reforms will directly impact some of SEEK Learning’s education 
partners. The net impact of these reforms will be negative to SEEK Learning’s short-term financial results.  However, the 
broader VET reforms will assist in protecting student interests and improving the sustainability of the industry.  SEEK is 
confident that in the medium to long-term, SEEK Learning will continue to prosper. 

SEEK continues to assess the implications of these reforms on SEEK Learning and is working hard with education partners 
to ensure they are implemented efficiently. SEEK Learning is also implementing a number of operational initiatives to drive 
improved operational performance into FY2016.



6 SEEK Limited Annual Report 2015

Directors’ Report

Review of operations continued
Domestic - Education Other
The Education Other segment comprises other costs associated with driving SEEK’s international education expansion, as 
well as SEEK’s share of profits/(losses) from IDP and Swinburne Online. Swinburne Online is highly synergistic to SEEK’s 
online employment marketplace along with SEEK Learning.

2015 2014 Growth

$m $m $m %

Sales revenue  -  -  n/a n/a

Segment EBITDA (1.7) (0.7) (1.0) (143%)

Share of results of equity accounted investments
  IDP  15.7  14.0  1.7 12%

  Swinburne Online  10.0  6.4  3.6 56%

Total share of results of equity accounted investments  25.7  20.4  5.3 26%

Key highlights:

•	 Swinburne Online: Delivered another set of solid results with sales revenue and EBITDA growth of 47% and 48% 
respectively on FY2014. Swinburne Online continues to achieve strong growth in its student body, with close to 7,900 
students enrolled in the teaching period spanning March to June 2015 (growth of 38% on the prior year).  Strong cash flows 
and balance sheet allowed Swinburne Online to pay dividends of $13.2m in FY2015 (2014: $2.2m), SEEK’s share being 
$6.6m (2014: $1.1m).  SEEK’s share of NPAT was $10.0m in FY2015, up from $6.4m in FY2014.

•	 IDP: Achieved a record result, with revenue and EBITDA growth of 21% and 13% respectively on FY2014.  IDP’s financial 
performance and balance sheet allowed IDP to pay total dividends of A$39.0m (2014: A$33.0m), SEEK’s share being 
A$19.5m (2014: A$16.5m). Both Student Placements and English language testing (IELTS) sales revenue saw robust growth 
at 21% compared to FY2014. Student Placements revenue growth was driven by increased student placement volumes (up 
12% on FY2014), with multi-destination placements growing 69% on FY2014 and now representing 16% of total student 
placements.  IELTS growth of 21% was a result of strong test candidate volumes (up 17% on FY2014).  SEEK’s share of IDP 
NPAT was A$15.7m up 12% on FY2014.

SEEK International
SEEK International owns interests in leading online employment marketplaces that are exposed to favourable structural and 
macro trends. 

SEEK’s International division includes results from operations of JobsDB and JobStreet (collectively “SEEK Asia”), Zhaopin, 
Brasil Online and OCC, and equity interests in One Africa Media (“OAM”), Babajob and other smaller associates. It also 
includes equity acounted profits from JobStreet Corporation Berhad (“JCB”) for only five months in FY2015 (FY2014:  
12 months).  These results are offset by other operating costs associated with managing SEEK’s international investments. 

SEEK International’s financial contribution is a large and growing part of the SEEK Group, comprising 58% of SEEK Group 
sales revenue from continuing operations and 47% of EBITDA in FY2015. The progress and the overall performance of SEEK 
International is strong. The strategic focus remains: 

•	 Re-investing for the long-term across the SEEK International division to build large online employment marketplaces; and 

•	 Investing aggressively in early stage businesses (e.g. OAM and Babajob) to cement market positions and capture large 
growth opportunities in fast growing markets.

FY2015 has seen an exciting year for SEEK’s International division with the following key business accomplishments:

•	 Integration of JobStreet and JobsDB businesses leading to a consolidated Seek Asia business;

•	 Zhaopin maintained leadership in jobseekers traffic and for the first time achieved leadership in unique customers (hirers);

•	 Brasil Online and OCC both continued to make pleasing strategic progress and record solid financial results; and

•	 The acquisition of new minority investments (such as Babajob) and increasing stakes in existing investments (OAM) which 
provide exposure to new technologies and/or large fast growing early stage markets.
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SEEK International achieved sales revenue growth of 30% and EBITDA growth of 45% on FY2014 driven primarily by organic 
growth in Zhaopin and the consolidation of JobStreet for seven months of the financial year.  

2015 2014 Growth

$m $m $m %

Sales revenue  501.3  384.4  116.9 30%
    SEEK Asia  104.7  59.4  45.3 76%
    Zhaopin  252.8  183.9  68.9 37%
    Brasil Online  119.3  118.8  0.5 0%

    OCC  24.5  22.3  2.2 10%

Segment EBITDA  164.5  113.3  51.2 45%
    SEEK Asia  49.1  21.6  27.5 127%
    Zhaopin  67.0  52.4  14.6 28%
    Brasil Online  43.7  39.3  4.4 11%
    OCC  7.8  9.8 (2.0) (20%)

    Other operating costs (3.1) (9.8)  6.7 68%

Segment EBITDA (%) 33% 29%
    SEEK Asia 47% 36%
    Zhaopin 27% 28%
    Brasil Online 37% 33%

    OCC 32% 44%

Strong underlying results were achieved across the international portfolio reflecting strong market position of the businesses.
The results of each business are discussed below.

Key highlights:

•	 SEEK Asia: Sales revenue and EBITDA were favourably impacted by the consolidation of JobStreet from 20 November 
2014.  Strong underlying performance was delivered in Hong Kong, Philippines, Thailand and Malaysia mainly driven by 
growth in volumes.  Integration of the JobStreet business is progressing well with high engagement and overall employee 
satisfaction, and operational re-alignment (phased wind-down of JobsDB Malaysia, JobsDB Philippines and non-core 
offline activities) helping to deliver a more focussed business.

•	 Zhaopin: The continued focus on growing market share across jobseekers and employers has paid off. Based on results 
in Q3 FY2015, Zhaopin took the lead in unique customers for the first time as well as cementing its market leadership on 
jobseeker metrics (which has been sustained for over 24 months).   In local currency terms, sales revenue and EBITDA 
for FY2015 grew 25% and 17% respectively from the prior corresponding period driven by strong customer acquisition and 
growth in online sales revenue (up 28% on FY2014).

•	 Brasil Online: A 6.5% decline in the Brazilian Real against the Australian Dollar negatively impacted Brasil Online’s 
contribution to the  SEEK Group result.   In local currency terms, Brasil Online achieved sales revenue and EBITDA growth 
of 7% and 18% respectively, despite very challenging local economic conditions.  Strong cash flows and strong balance 
sheet allowed Brasil Online to pay SEEK total dividends of $12.7m in FY2015 (2014: $22m) as well as growing cash by 34%. 

•	 OCC: Headline growth rates in sales revenue and EBITDA were impacted by one-off favourable revenue recognition benefit 
in FY2014.  On an underlying local currency basis (after removing the one-off benefit from FY2014) OCC achieved sales 
revenue and EBITDA growth of 25% and 12%, delivering strong results across both the employment and its early stage 
education business.
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Review of operations continued
Share of results of International equity accounted investments

2015 2014 Growth

$m $m $m %

Share of net profits/(losses) of equity accounted 
investments
JCB(1) (0.9)  4.5 (5.4) (120%)
OAM (2.8) (0.7) (2.1) (335%)
Babajob (0.3)  -  n/a n/a

Other immaterial associates  0.3  0.1  0.2 330%
Total share of net profits/(losses) of equity accounted 
investments (3.7)  3.9 

Dilution of investment in equity accounted investments
JCB(2)  - (4.9)  4.9 n/a

OAM  - (0.5)  0.5 n/a

Total dilution of investment in equity accounted investments  - (5.4)

Total share of results of equity accounted investments (3.7) (1.5)

1. Equity accounted result for the period to 20 November 2014.
2. Prior period includes $4.1m relating to the dilution impact of share issuances to nominee shareholders as part of the JobStreet transaction.

Losses from SEEK’s share of International equity accounted investments were $3.7m (FY2014: profit of $3.9m), impacted by:

•	 The consolidation of JobStreet into the Group results from 20 November 2014, resulting in the recognition of equity 
accounted profits for only five months in FY2015 (FY2014: 12 months);

•	 Transaction costs associated with JCB’s sale of its online employment businesses to SEEK Asia which led to SEEK’s share 
of net losses from JCB of $0.9m. Excluding these transaction costs, SEEK’s share of net result would have been $1.5m in 
FY2015; and

•	 The focus of the other early stage investments (OAM, Babajob and other immaterial associates) is on building leading 
market positions with an aim of monetising their market leadership over time, not on maximising short-term financials.  
As a result of this strategy, SEEK’s share of losses (excluding JCB) was $2.8m in FY2015 compared to $0.6m in FY2014.

Analysis of other key items below EBITDA from continuing operations

2015 2014 Growth

$m $m $m %

Depreciation  11.8  8.8  3.0 34%
Amortisation  31.4  25.0  6.4 26%
Fair value gain on step acquisitions (100.3)  - (100.3) n/a
Transaction costs from investing activities  14.0  3.0  11.0 367%
Other investing activities (4.7) (0.9) (3.8) 422%
Amortisation of share-based payments and other long-term 
incentive schemes  18.7  18.1  0.6 3%
Dividend income(1) (1.2)  - (1.2) n/a
Interest income (12.9) (10.9) (2.0) 18%

Interest expense  29.9  27.7  2.2 8%

1. Dividend income relates to dividends received from the Group’s investment in JCB which is classified as a non-current financial asset.

Key highlights:
•	 Depreciation and amortisation expenses have grown in FY2015 by 34% and 26% respectively compared to the prior 

corresponding period, reflecting the increased levels of re-investment in product development across the Group (including 
the Placement Strategy) and the consolidation of JobStreet from November 2014; and 

•	 In FY2015 SEEK Asia completed the acquisition of the online employment businesses of JobStreet Corporation Berhad.  As 
a result of this, FY2015 benefited from a $100.3m gain on the revaluation of its existing investment in JCB, offset by $14.0m 
of costs (pre-tax and non-controlling interests) associated with the transaction.  
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Financial position
SEEK is a member of the S&P/ASX 50 with a market capitalisation of around $4.9 billion and 344.1 million shares on issue at 
30 June 2015.

At 30 June 2015, SEEK had total assets of $3,301.1m of which 73% related to long-life intangible assets (goodwill, brands and 
licences) arising from business combinations, and the remainder relating primarily to cash, equity accounted investments, 
trade and other receivables; and total liabilities of $1,500.2m of which 66% related to borrowings, with the remainder relating 
mainly to unearned income, tax, and trade and other payables.

SEEK’s total assets increased by 48% and total liabilities increased by 96% from 30 June 2014 to 30 June 2015, primarily as a 
result of:

•	 The acquisition of JobStreet by SEEKAsia Ltd, which resulted in the recognition of significant intangible assets, cash 
balances and other liabilities (including deferred income);

•	 Increased borrowings in SEEK Limited and SEEKAsia Ltd;

•	 Increased cash and cash equivalents balances in SEEK Limited and Zhaopin; and

•	 A weakening of the Australian Dollar, which has resulted in increased Australian Dollar conversion of foreign currency 
assets and liabilities from SEEK’s overseas businesses.

SEEK’s borrowings now comprise a combination of facilities across SEEK Limited, Zhaopin and SEEKAsia Ltd:

•	 SEEK Limited has an unsecured syndicated facility comprising two tranches of A$465.0m and US$273.0m respectively;

•	 Zhaopin has entrusted loan facilities with a limit of US$50.0m, and had a RMB85.0m facility that was fully repaid during the 
year; and

•	 SEEKAsia Ltd established a new syndicated multi-currency amortising debt facility during the year, comprising two 
facilities of SG$96.8m and HK$387.8m respectively.

At 30 June 2015, $991.0m of the total available facilities were drawn down, with $35.2m available in undrawn capacity. SEEK’s 
controlled entities had $449.6m of cash and cash equivalents at 30 June 2015 (2014: $323.0m)

Details relating to the extension of SEEK’s unsecured syndicated facility are discussed on page 11 in the ‘Matters subsequent 
to the end of the financial year’ section.

At 30 June 2015, the Group’s current assets exceed its current liabilities by $42.8m.

Business strategies and prospects
Core Employment
Core Employment’s market leadership makes it the primary beneficiary of any improvement from the current subdued labour 
market conditions in Australia and the structural migration of sales revenue from print to online.

Core Employment is currently investing heavily in its Placement Strategy. The business is refining and rolling out new 
products and services that will allow it to capture a greater share of employment placements which in turn will open up new 
revenue streams.

Early Stage Employment
SEEK’s Early Stage Employment portfolio holds investments in early stage businesses and technologies which are adjacent 
(complementary) to the core online employment marketplace. 

These early stage businesses are investing to build their business fundamentals.

SEEK Learning
The nexus between education and employment is strong.  In addition to adding new courses and partners, SEEK will continue 
to focus on growing the synergies between SEEK Learning and the Core Employment marketplace.

In the near term SEEK Learning’s operating and financial performance will be adversely impacted by changes to Vocational 
Education and Training (“VET”) FEE-HELP reforms.  SEEK Learning is working with education partners to assess the impact 
of VET FEE-HELP reform and action appropriate operational changes to minimise the impacts.

SEEK Learning is also executing initiatives across sales & marketing, product and technology to drive improved 
operating performance.

Education Other
Significant market opportunities exist for SEEK’s education portfolio across working adults in Australia, international students 
and the domestic for-profit sector.
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Business strategies and prospects continued
SEEK will continue to focus on rolling out or acquiring education business models like SEEK Learning into its international 
businesses. 

Swinburne Online is a successful joint venture between Swinburne University and SEEK. SEEK Learning will continue 
to support Swinburne Online in sales and marketing. Swinburne Online is also looking to extend its business model into 
vocational education and higher education in international markets.

SEEK has a long-standing relationship with IDP and will continue to work closely with their management team and Board to 
build the business. Subject to market conditions, an Initial Public Offering is likely in late calendar year 2015.

SEEK International
SEEK International provides the Group with exposure to rapidly expanding growth markets in South East Asia, India, China, 
Latin America and Africa.

Much like Core Employment, these businesses are impacted to some extent by cyclicality in their local economies and the 
favourable structural migration of print to online. 

From time to time these businesses will aggressively reinvest to capture underpenetrated areas of the market, grow overall 
market share, and position themselves for long-term growth.

SEEK will continue to leverage its domestic experience and work with local management teams to create market leading 
online employment marketplaces, endeavouring to capture the large macro opportunities in each respective market by 
adopting something similar to the domestic Placement Strategy.  

Significant changes in the state of affairs
Business combination - Online employment businesses of JobStreet Corporation Berhad
On 20 November 2014, the Group acquired 100% of the online employment businesses of JobStreet Corporation Berhad for 
MYR1,933.8m (A$665.4m at the exchange rate on the date of the transaction).

The acquired business (“JobStreet”) operates online employment markets in Malaysia, Singapore, Indonesia, the Philippines 
and Vietnam. This acquisition is a continuation of SEEK’s expansion in the strategic and high growth Asian Region.

The transaction was funded by SEEK (comprising cash and SEEK’s existing equity in JCB), SEEK Asia co-investors and debt 
funding in SEEK Asia and SEEK Limited.

JobStreet is considered a subsidiary of SEEK and has been consolidated into the Group from 20 November 2014. Refer to  
note 21 in the Financial Statements for further information in relation to the transaction.

Increased stake in One Africa Media (OAM)
On 15 April 2015, SEEK entered into a share subscription agreement to make an additional US$10.0m investment in OAM 
(in two tranches of US$5.0m each).  Tranche 1 of US$5.0m (A$6.4m at the exchange rate on the date of the transaction) was 
settled in April 2015 taking SEEK ownership of OAM to 27.5%. Tranche 2 of US$5.0m is subject to certain conditions which 
management expects to be fulfilled in the first half of FY2016. On settlement of Tranche 2, SEEK ownership of OAM will 
increase to 30.0%. 
 

Acquisition of a minority stake in Babajob.com (Babajob)
On 17 April 2015, SEEK acquired a fully diluted 38.0% equity interest in Babajob (46.2% undiluted) for US$10.0m (A$12.8m 
at the exchange rate on the date of the transaction). Babajob is India’s first web and mobile start-up dedicated to bringing 
better job opportunities to aspiring workers across the country.  India is a large addressable market with favourable structural 
trends such as the rise of internet penetration, urbanisation and a growing labour force.

Increased stake in SEEK Asia
On 2 June 2015, SEEK invested US$47.7m (A$61.4m at the exchange rate on the date of the transaction) in SEEK Asia and 
increased its ownership to 80.8%. The investment was funded by SEEK’s existing cash and debt facilities.

Increased stake in OCC Mundial
On 2 June 2015, SEEK invested US$77.0m (A$99.0m at the exchange rate on the date of the transaction) in OCC and increased 
its ownership to 98.2%. The investment was funded by SEEK’s existing cash and debt facilities.
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Appointment of new Group Chief Financial Officer
On 30 June 2015, SEEK announced the appointment of Geoff Roberts as SEEK Limited’s Group Chief Financial Officer, 
replacing current Chief Financial Officer, John Armstrong, who SEEK announced on 5 February 2015 would end his full time 
involvement with SEEK at the end of the calendar year. John Armstrong will remain employed by SEEK until 1 July 2016 in the 
role of Special Advisor assisting in the transition to the new CFO. In addition, John will continue as a director on the Board of 
Zhaopin Ltd.

Geoff will join the Company in November 2015 and will join the SEEK Executive Team when he starts. Geoff joins SEEK with 
more than 20 years of Finance experience, including as Managing Partner of Deloitte Victoria, and Group CFO of AXA Asia 
Pacific for seven years.

SEEK announced structural changes
Jason Lenga ceased his role as Managing Director - SEEK International on 1 July 2015.  Jason will remain employed until 
1 July 2016 in the role of Special Advisor, providing strategic services on international business and corporate issues. In 
addition, Jason will continue as a director on the Board of Zhaopin Ltd.

In March 2015, SEEK announced a realignment of portfolios within the Executive leadership team, effective from 1 July 2015:

•	 Michael Ilczynski is taking the role of MD SEEK Employment. He will lead SEEK Employment in Australia and New Zealand, 
including responsibility for Sales, Marketing, IT, Product, Strategy, Development and Delivery.

•	 Peter Everingham is taking the role of MD SEEK International. He will continue to lead the growth of SEEK Asia and now 
also take on oversight of all of SEEK’s employment businesses outside of Australia and New Zealand.

•	 Joe Powell is taking the role of MD SEEK Education and will have responsibility for the growing education portfolio 
including SEEK Learning, IDP, Swinburne Online and international expansion opportunities.

In addition, three new Executives were appointed, effective from March 2015 - Ronnie Fink (Corporate Development Director, 
driving SEEK’s acquisition activity), Simon Lusted (Group Strategy Director, driving the employment strategy across all 
markets) and Isar Mazer (MD International Operations, driving operational cooperation with the international business as well 
retaining specific responsibility for the Latin American businesses). 

As a consequence of the above changes, and considering the high degree of integration that has been achieved between the 
JobStreet and JobsDB businesses, leading to consolidated SEEK Asia reporting, segment reporting has been rearranged 
for FY2015.

Appointment of new Board member
SEEK appointed Julie Fahey to the Board as a non-executive director on 23 July 2014.  Julie has over 30 years of experience in 
technology, including in major organisations such as Western Mining, Exxon, Roy Morgan, General Motors and SAP, covering 
consulting, software vendor and Chief Information Officer roles. 

In her addition to her industry experience, Julie spent ten years at KPMG as a partner with the firm, during which time she 
held roles as National Lead Partner Telecommunications, Media and Technology, and National Managing Partner - Markets.  
She was also a member of the KPMG National Executive Committee.

Matters subsequent to the end of the financial year 
Extension of syndicated debt facility
On 20 August 2015, the Group extended its syndicated debt facility by 18 months.  Updated key features of the revolving, 
unsecured, syndicated senior debt facility are as follows:

•	 Tranche A:  A$183m, expiring August 2017

•	 Tranche B:  A$335m, expiring August 2018

•	 Tranche C:  US$273m, expiring August 2019

This extension was strongly supported by the existing members of the syndicate, being National Australia Bank, Westpac 
Banking Corporation, ANZ, Commonwealth Bank, HSBC, United Overseas Bank, Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation and 
Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ.  Reflecting SEEK’s business model strength and improving funding conditions there has been a 
significant improvement in term and conditions of the facility.  
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Likely developments and expected results of operations
The following are key opportunities that may benefit SEEK’s financial and operating result in future periods:

•	 Favourable structural and macro-economic factors leading to higher job ad volumes and cash flows across SEEK’s online 
employment marketplaces;

•	 A material increase in SEEK’s share of employment placements as a result of the successful execution of the Group’s 
Placement Strategy; and

•	 The launch of other adjacent products and technologies which provide value-adding employment and education services to 
jobseekers, hirers and students.

The following are key risks that may impact SEEK’s financial and operating result in future periods:

•	 A prolonged decline in job ad volumes, as a result of a downturn in the employment markets in which the Group operates;

•	 New disruptive business models entering the market and/or existing competitors increasing their market share;

•	 A prolonged interruption to SEEK’s IT operations as a result of a natural disaster or other unforeseen event;

•	 Failure to protect data privacy, resulting in significant legal action, damage to SEEK’s reputation and loss of 
significant customers;

•	 Changes in regulations which adversely impact: the provision of education; government supported student funding; or 
adversely impact the supply of students in the markets in which SEEK’s education businesses operate; and

•	 Exposure to political and macro-economic risks operating in international markets.
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Sustainability
SEEK is focused on continually enhancing its organisational culture, through its investment in the wellbeing and professional 
development of SEEK employees and promotion of a wide range of employee engagement and diversity initiatives.

SEEK’s values support its culture of ethical corporate conduct. This is evident in SEEK’s firm stance on Group governance 
issues such as anti-bribery.  SEEK contributes to the wider community through its commitment to SEEK Volunteer, and by 
providing opportunities to employees to volunteer and/or donate to charitable organisations. The Company is also committed 
to reducing its carbon footprint, which has been achieved through the implementation of a number of environmental 
sustainability programs.

People and Community

This is SEEK
Since SEEK began 17 years ago the Company has grown to a workforce of more than 6,000 across 19 international markets. 
As a dynamic technology company with aggressive growth ambitions, employing and keeping the very best talent has only 
become more important.

In recognition that its people are critical to helping the Company continue to grow, the Executive reviewed the common traits 
of the best SEEK employees, past and present, to develop an evolved view of what it means to be a high performer at SEEK.

Building upon its existing ‘values’, in August 2014, the Company introduced This is SEEK which encapsulates how it creates a 
culture to harness talent.  

This is SEEK aligns the Company’s Purpose and Vision with a newly created set of Beliefs and Attributes which codify what 
it means to be a high performer at SEEK. This provides the right platform for the Company to recruit, reward and manage 
performance, with ongoing honest conversations about performance a key feature.

Throughout FY2015, every domestic employee participated in This is SEEK full-day workshops to explore the concepts and 
understand what This is SEEK means in each employee’s every day role and relationships, resulting in all employees knowing 
exactly what is required to be a high performer.

This is SEEK includes the following things that support and help employees succeed at SEEK, and if everyone uses them every 
day, it will continue to build a better business.

Purpose
We help people live more fulfilling and productive working lives and help organisations succeed.

Vision
Being the best in the world in online employment by:

•	 Matching more people with job opportunities than any other organisation in each market in which we operate

•	 Being the most trusted partner for advice on, and access to, relevant career related education

Beliefs
At SEEK we believe in…

1.	 Having a positive impact on society

2.	 Focusing on business fundamentals and customer outcomes rather than short term financials

3.	 Always striving, challenging and remaining paranoid

4.	 Doing the right thing for SEEK, not what is popular or easy

5.	 Doing the thinking upfront

6.	 Persevering through obstacles to get it done

7.	 Creating a community where individuals are valued

Attributes
Our best people…

1.	 Are passionate about SEEK and our customers

2.	 Show great judgement and decision making ability

3.	 Know their stuff 

As FY2015 progressed, the Company began to see the benefits of This is SEEK with increased productivity and positivity, and a 
clearer view of high performance across the workplace.
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People and Community continued

Employee Engagement
Understanding that winning the hearts and minds of its people leads to strong business performance, employee engagement 
continued to be a major focus for SEEK in FY2015, with the Company named amongst the best employers in Australia and 
New Zealand. 

Aon Hewitt named SEEK a 2015 Aon Hewitt Best Employer, recognising the Company as a business with one of the highest 
levels of employee engagement and outstanding people practices.

SEEK’s accreditation as a Best Employer for the seventh time underlines the Company’s strong reputation as a high 
performing and great place to work, and reflects its ongoing efforts to review and define its culture, most recently by 
embedding This is SEEK across the business.

In addition, SEEK’s six monthly internal employee engagement survey showed growth in employee engagement across the 
business as This is SEEK continued to be rolled out. Moving from a 75% engagement rate in November 2014 to 80% in June 
2015, the survey clearly identified that the business continued to be a positive place to work where its people feel valued, well 
supported and inspired to perform at their best.  

SEEK Inclusion Council
SEEK’s drive to nurture a culture of inclusivity and diversity, and its approach to managing talent is a core focus of the 
business.  SEEK believes all of its employees have the ability to feel valued and perform to their best within its working 
environment irrespective of their gender, race, sexuality, disability or any other characteristic.

In August 2014, SEEK’s Inclusion Council was formed.  Consisting of 20 employees across all levels and departments, their 
primary objective is to ensure SEEK remains an industry leader in providing an inclusive environment, where individuals feel 
valued for their talent and free to reach their full potential.

Key areas of focus for the Inclusion Council are Gender Equality, Pride and Mental Health. To date the Inclusion Council has 
developed two key strategies:

1.	 Supporting employees who have been on a leave of absence through a flexible and rewarding return to work program.

2.	 A new approach to providing support to employees’ mental health outside of the traditional Employee Assistance 
Program model.

EMPOWER Sessions
SEEK continued to help identify and dismantle the barriers women face in growing their careers by continuing with EMPOWER 
sessions during FY2015.

Open to all employees, each EMPOWER session featured key note speakers who shared their insights and practical 
advice about a variety of topics including ‘Closing the confidence gap’, ‘Self protection and how dangerous men think’ and 
‘Embracing failure’.

Parent Coaching Program

Recognising the big adjustments employees go through as they become new parents, SEEK introduced a transition program 
designed to help them prioritise work, career, and family objectives, and to gain greater control over choices and management 
of their time.  Inclusive of same-sex parents and their partners, this program is offered to both primary and secondary carers.

Mental Illness in the Workplace
As part of its commitment to supporting people with mental illness, SEEK entered into a partnership with Melbourne 
Business School and Social Firms of Australia to conduct a 12 month study focussing on mental illness in the workplace.  
From this study, SEEK is aiming to help shape the tools and training that employers can use to facilitate a greater aptitude for 
hiring and supporting people in their businesses.

Pride
SEEK is committed to ensuring its workplace is inclusive for all employees from the Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Trans, Intersex 
and Queer (LGBTIQ) community. SEEK continued to be a proud partner of Victoria’s Midsumma festival, and Pride in Diversity, 
Australia’s first and only not-for-profit workplace program designed specifically to assist Australian employers with the 
inclusion of LGBTIQ employees.

#queeranda
#queeranda was an initiative lead by SEEK during Midsumma Festival, Melbourne’s largest event celebrating the LGBTIQ 
community. This live Twitter chat brought together some of Australia’s largest organisations, including SEEK, NAB, Telstra, 
Australia Post and Hobsons Bay City Council to discuss diversity in the workplace. This activity generated 370 conversations, 
with an estimated reach of 3.3 million people.
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Accessibility
SEEK is committed to being at the forefront of change, especially in website user accessibility by practicing what they preach 
and employing people with disability.

SEEK continued its partnership with the National Disability Recruitment Coordinator (NDRC), a division of Work Focus 
Australia to help increase employment rates of people living with disability.

In this capacity, SEEK worked with NDRC to achieve access to employment opportunities at SEEK through the Australian 
Disability employment network.  

Collaboration with Indigenous Australians
In May 2015, SEEK hosted a group of 16 Indigenous students participating in the Cathy Freeman Foundation Horizons 
Program, where a range of SEEK employees facilitated sessions focussing on interview skills, resume writing, career 
progression and technology. SEEK also hosted a dinner for Horizons Program participants together with a range of Cathy 
Freeman Foundation supporters from the corporate community.

SEEK Hackathon 
SEEK increased the frequency of its Hackathons by running two events this year to increase the opportunity for employees to 
come together and work collaboratively to develop ideas and create innovative products of potential value to SEEK. With each 
event running over two days, ideas that were ‘hacked’ were developed into prototypes that were showcased at the conclusion 
of each event for potential implementation as SEEK products in the future.

Both Hackathons in FY15 were highly successful, and provided employees with an opportunity to share their imagination, 
passion, and work on ideas and concepts outside of their day-to-day roles. As with previous Hackathons, ideas have 
progressed for further development. 

Hackathons have proven to be a powerful way of building employee engagement, as they clearly demonstrate SEEK’s 
commitment to innovation and empowering its employees. 

SEEK Employee Retention
SEEK recognises the value talented and high performing employees who are aligned to SEEK’s culture, values and This is 
SEEK bring to the company.  In FY2015, SEEK retained 92% of high performing employees.

SEEK Workplace health and safety
SEEK continues its commitment to ensuring the health and safety of its employees, contractors and visitors at work by 
conducting its business in accordance with all workplace health and safety (WHS) laws, standards and codes of practice.

Through the promotion and support of a wide range of health and safety initiatives, SEEK maintains a strong safety record 
with low lost time injury frequency rates.

Safety performance 2015 2014

Lost time injury frequency rate* (per million hours worked) 3.3 3.9

Lost time injury incident rate (per 100 employees) 0.5 0.9

Number of Near Misses 0 0

Number of Work Cover Claims 1 0

*	 Where the following day could not be worked due to injury 

SEEK’s health and safety programs include complimentary flu vaccinations, healthy snacks, onsite yoga and group personal 
training, as well as ergonomic support including the introduction of stand up desks.

Community

SEEK’s belief to have a positive impact on society sees the Company recognise its responsibility to make a positive 
contribution to the communities in which it operates.

This commitment is demonstrated in a number of ways including matching employees’ pre-tax donations to charity 
(Workplace Giving), the SEEK Volunteer sites in Australia and New Zealand, and annual employee volunteering days.

SEEK’s focus on balancing social, environmental and financial responsibilities is fully supported by the Board, Executive and 
employees with internal Insight surveys showing 90% of employees value the Company’s community program.  Including 
charitable donations and direct contributions to the operation of SEEK Volunteer, SEEK contributed over $650,000 to 
community initiatives in FY2015.

Workplace Giving 
SEEK partners with the Australian Charities Fund for its Workplace Giving Program, Small Change, and is part of the Fund’s 
Employee Leadership Group.

Small Change has been operating for 12 months, with employee participation at 57%. The combination of employee donations 
and SEEK matching of employee contributions has resulted in over $134,000 being donated to SEEK’s ten partner charities 
since the program was launched in June 2014. 
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Stakeholder engagement
SEEK uses independent agencies to perform a wide range of stakeholder perception surveys with the purpose of assessing 
the impacts of our products, services, community involvement and other initiatives on key stakeholders. Surveys are also 
conducted with the purpose of providing enhanced products to better assist candidates in their careers, students in their 
learning needs, and to measure other usage, for example, by potential volunteers when using the SEEK Volunteer site.

Perception surveys undertaken in FY2015 included the following:

•	 Candidate surveys on career planning and development requirements;

•	 Student surveys to understanding more deeply the relationship between career-related education and our existing and 
potential customer base;

•	 Consumer surveys to assess the impact of, and engagement with, SEEK’s brand;

•	 Client satisfaction surveys; and

•	 Surveys to research the role volunteering can play to support employment opportunities for candidates.

SEEK Volunteer - Celebrating 15 years!
This year SEEK celebrates 15 years of SEEK Volunteer in Australia, a milestone of which the Company is very proud. 

SEEK Volunteer brings SEEK’s Purpose to life delivering on its commitment to help people lead more fulfilling and productive 
working lives and help organisations succeed and SEEK’s Belief of creating a positive impact on society. Along with SEEK’s 
Employment and Learning businesses, SEEK Volunteer helps deliver a holistic set of enabling capabilities for organisations 
and talent in the ANZ region to achieve their true potential.

SEEK Volunteer is run in partnership with Volunteering Australia and creates an online meeting place in Australia and  
New Zealand for connecting volunteers to opportunities. In the past year alone SEEK has connected 145,983 potential 
volunteers in Australia and 4,688 in New Zealand to organisations that need their help. 

In addition to the 15 year anniversary in Australia, in June 2015, SEEK officially launched SEEK Volunteer in New Zealand, 
coinciding with National Volunteer Week. The launch was a result of over two years of planning and development working 
closely with the volunteering sector in New Zealand, including Volunteering New Zealand, regional Volunteer Centres and not-
for-profit organisations.

Building on the National Volunteer Week theme ‘There is a place for you to volunteer’, SEEK developed an authentic Kiwi 
campaign to officially launch the site and create awareness, including a newly commissioned film demonstrating the breadth 
and depth of volunteering roles available in New Zealand. The film is available for viewing at https://www.youtube.com/
watch?v=wO8YinSWIpo and has already been viewed 262,000 times online(1) and has reached 588,300 New Zealanders via TV 
coverage. The official launch celebration was held at Te Papa Museum in Wellington and was opened by the Hon Jo Goodhew, 
Minister for the Community & Voluntary Sector.

Bringing SEEK’s Purpose to life
SEEK’s commitment to help people lead more fulfilling and productive working lives is brought to life by SEEK Volunteer and 
the outcomes achieved for volunteers, the volunteer organisations and the end recipients. 

In addition, SEEK’s internal volunteering program enables each SEEK employee to volunteer with a not-for-profit organisation 
one day per year. 

To gain a better perspective on the social impact of volunteer contributions to the community and the positive impact on the 
volunteer, SEEK conducted a survey amongst two sets of target respondents: those who, in the past 12 months, had found an 
opportunity through SEEK Volunteer, and SEEK employees who had volunteered through the Company volunteering program. 
In addition, SEEK surveyed a number of recipient volunteer organisations in the employment and education space about their 
experience partnering with SEEK Volunteer(2).  

The results of these surveys unequivocally demonstrate that SEEK Volunteer continues to deliver a positive impact on the 
community and that SEEK also actively enables its employees to give back to the community. 

1.	 177,000 views on Facebook and 85,000 views on YouTube.

2.	 Survey of 60 respondents who volunteered during FY15 either through SEEK Volunteer placement or the SEEK employee volunteering program, and four volunteer organisations 
which leveraged SEEK Volunteer for placements (The Cathy Freeman Foundation, The Big Issue, The Asylum Seeker Resource Centre and The Smith Family).
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Survey respondents reported that:

•	 95% found their volunteering experience personally satisfying;

•	 86% experienced a strong sense of personal development through volunteering;

•	 61% felt they developed professionally through volunteering; and

•	 78% felt that the recipient organisations and the end-recipients gained a lot more than mere material gain through their 
volunteering effort.

Surveyed volunteer organisations also reported tangible value from their partnership with SEEK Volunteer, including:

•	 Access to talent (both quantity and quality) that they would normally not have access to, through SEEK Volunteer’s 
widespread scale and reach;

•	 Potential recruitment cost savings; and

•	 Benefits from word-of-mouth marketing by volunteers (a theme reinforced by the volunteer survey where 100% of 
respondents said they would recommend volunteering to others, and 82% would happily volunteer again with the same 
organisation). This is a particular advantage for organisations that rely heavily on volunteer talent to operate on a day-to-
day basis (e.g. The Smith Family and The Cathy Freeman Foundation).

Finally SEEK Volunteer provides significant value for SEEK itself through:

•	 Enhanced usage, with people aware of SEEK Volunteer being 76% more likely to say they will definitely use SEEK for 
employment and / or learning purposes(1);

•	 Improved brand equity for SEEK and therefore retention and attraction of customers. According to a recent study, 75% of 
consumers are willing to recommend companies perceived as socially responsible (whereas only 31% would recommend 
companies that aren’t)(2); and

•	 Employee motivation and retention, particularly amongst the Gen Y workforce which is increasingly looking for employers 
to play more meaningful roles in society, and to give them opportunities to do so as well. Another recent study shows that 
67% of employees prefer to work for socially responsible companies(3).

SEEK Volunteer continues to be an important strategic pillar to drive community engagement and sustainable social 
advantage, including for volunteer organisations, the talent pool of recruits and volunteers, and SEEK’s own employee 
workforce in Australia and New Zealand.

VOLUNTEER CASE STUDIES
 
SEEK VOLUNTEER

Volunteer Organisation: The Smith Family

The Smith Family is a national children’s charity that helps disadvantaged young Australians to succeed at school, so they 
can create better futures for themselves. Without the contribution provided by our large volunteer workforce (nearly 8,000 
volunteers contributed 463,853 hours of service last year) we could not continue our work.

Without SEEK Volunteer we would really struggle to get the number of fantastic volunteers we do to support programs 
like Learning Clubs, iTrack mentoring, our student2student reading buddies and wide range of literacy and numeracy 
programs as well as our crucial ‘back of house’ volunteers in areas such as administration and research.

I consider SEEK Volunteer and Go Volunteer to be two of our key strategic volunteer recruitment avenues and without 
them, recruitment for many of our roles would be far more difficult. It sits alongside our own website as the bulkhead of 
our online recruitment. SEEK is extremely useful for The Smith Family in recruiting volunteers for our programs nationally, 
especially in metropolitan areas. We find it to be a useful source for volunteers with diverse or specialised skills as well as 
those who might not be as aware of The Smith Family’s impact in their local community.

Patrick Murray, Volunteer Co-ordination Unit Manager, The Smith Family

1.	 Brand Engager SKR March 2014

2.	 The Reputation Institute

3.	 2014 Nielsen Report
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SEEK Volunteer - Celebrating 15 years! continued

Volunteer: “A smile is the same in any language”

I have been involved in The Smith Family’s Home Tutor scheme since June 2014. It was very easy and useful to find a 
volunteer role through SEEK Volunteer. This is not the first time I have used SEEK to find a volunteer role. I wanted to 
volunteer for many reasons, but most of all, I wanted to help a refugee family feel welcome and wanted in my city.

My volunteer experience has been, and still is, absolutely wonderful. My student tells me home tutoring is the closest thing 
to formal education she has ever undertaken, and as she learns to read and write in English, her family are also helping 
her to read and write in her mother tongue. It is amazing to help someone become literate for the first time in their life.

Volunteering means to me, putting words into action. By building friendships, communities eliminate negative attitudes 
such as racism and xenophobia. I am now studying to become a social worker, and I feel the experience of meeting my 
student and her family is helping me to understand social support and multiculturalism much better.

I hope my impact is to make my student feel important and welcomed, and less alone in her new country. I hope she can 
feel empowered and independent – not having to rely on her family members to translate for her in everyday life. If nothing 
else, I can at least make her laugh with phrases like “cook chicken in the kitchen!”

The impact volunteering has had on my own life has been really eye-opening. My student and her family are lovely people 
with a wealth of amazing stories about their life back in Afghanistan. They have helped me gain perspective and be thankful 
for the peaceful and safe country I live in. If you are considering volunteering for the Home Tutor Scheme, just go for it.  
A smile is the same in any language.

Jessica Murray, Home Tutor Scheme volunteer, The Smith Family

Recipient

Jessica has taught me so much. I am illiterate in my own language so it is very hard for me to learn English, but Jessica 
has been patient with me and has made the lessons simple enough for me to understand. She teaches me useful things for 
daily life such as learning body parts, calling the doctor to make appointments, calling my children’s school to tell them if 
my child is sick and lots of other things.  

I feel very comfortable with Jessica; she is a great tutor and has helped me a lot. My short term goal is to get my Learner’s 
driving licence. Jessica has been teaching me things about the RTA and what I need to do to pass the test. Eventually, I 
would like to live independently and be able to do things on my own. 

Jessica’s student, Nooria, Home Tutor Scheme, The Smith Family

Governance

Ethical conduct
SEEK’s culture embeds a requirement for honest and ethical conduct by its people. 

SEEK is committed to conducting its businesses in a manner consistent with the laws of the countries in which it operates. 
Conduct associated with bribery and corruption is inconsistent with SEEK’s values and culture. SEEK has developed a policy 
which prohibits its personnel from engaging in activity which constitutes bribery or corruption.

SEEK’s Code of Conduct sets out the tenets of ethical and respectful conduct against which all employees are required to 
comply when dealing with each other, SEEK’s suppliers, customers, shareholders and external stakeholders, and the broader 
community.  These include acting honestly, in good faith and in the best interests of the Company, without conflict of interest 
or improperly taking advantage of position or confidential information, and at all times within the law.

SEEK’s Whistleblower Policy protects employees from detrimental action where employees disclose, in good faith and with 
reasonable grounds, any unethical or improper conduct, financial impropriety or fraud, contravention of legal provisions or 
evidence of auditing non-disclosure within the organisation.  

Corporate governance policies
SEEK is committed to strong and effective governance frameworks.  SEEK’s Corporate Governance Statement, in addition to 
its corporate governance policies are available in the Investor Centre - Corporate Governance section of the Company website, 
at http://ir.seek.com.au/Investors/?page=Corporate-Governance. 
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Environment
Environmental policy
SEEK is an online business which does not extract resources and is not involved in the manufacture or transport of products. 
The Group’s operational model comprises office based employees. Accordingly, SEEK’s environmental footprint is small and 
arises primarily from the energy used and materials consumed in its offices. 

Nevertheless, SEEK has a commitment to minimising its environmental impact which is supported by the Board.  SEEK’s 
approach to environmental impact reduction includes, where practicable, a commitment to:

•	 Continually improving SEEK’s sustainability practices, and to partnering with suppliers with high quality 
sustainability practices;

•	 Minimising the environmental impact of SEEK’s activities, including minimising waste, consumption of materials, energy 
and water;

•	 The use of recycled materials; and

•	 Supporting awareness of environmental issues.

SEEK environmental programs
SEEK’s extensive range of sustainability programs, under the internal umbrella SEEK Green, includes:

Sustainable cleaning, waste and recycling practices
•	 Commitment to use best practice sustainable cleaning systems and products at SEEK head office. For example, a 

commitment to environmentally low impact cleaning products (phosphate, petroleum and sulphate free);

•	 Waste paper bins, binding documents and toner cartridges are recycled; and

•	 Offices use crockery and steel cutlery to reduce disposable consumables.

Energy
•	 Investment in video conferencing facilities to connect SEEK sites and reduce the need to travel;

•	 Installation of lighting using low wattage, low energy, power efficient globes;

•	 Lighting sensors to ensure lights are turned off when not in use;

•	 Air conditioning zoned to reduce power or switch off outside office hours;

•	 Promotion of battery and mobile phone recycling to reduce landfill; and

•	 Improvement in the way data services are delivered through green IT and cloud computing. 

Water
•	 Reduction of bottled water consumables by installing filtered water taps;

•	 Water efficient dishwashers service 80% of SEEK employees; and

•	 Water efficient bathrooms at head office save over 100,000 gallons of water per unit per annum.

SEEK is compliant with environmental legislative requirements
As a result of SEEK’s low greenhouse gas emissions, energy consumption and waste management program, the Company is 
compliant with current environmental legislative requirements as set out in the National Greenhouse and Energy Reporting 
(NGER) and Energy Efficiency Opportunities (EEO) Acts, as well as waste legislation.  Due to SEEK’s current level of scope 1 
greenhouse emissions, SEEK is not liable under the Clean Energy Act 2011.
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Neil G Chatfield
Chairman
(Independent non-executive director)
Age 61

Andrew R Bassat
Chief Executive Officer and Co-founder
(Executive director)
Age 49

Colin B Carter

(Independent non-executive director)
Age 72

Denise I Bradley

(Independent non-executive director)
Age 73

Graham B Goldsmith

(Independent non-executive director)
Age 55

Julie A Fahey

(Independent non-executive director)
Age 58

Appointed June 2005
Skills, Experience and Qualifications

Neil Chatfield is an established Executive 
and non-executive director with extensive 
experience across all facets of company 
management, and with specific expertise 
in financial management, capital markets, 
mergers and acquisitions, and risk 
management.
In addition to SEEK, Neil also holds non-
executive roles across a range of industries 
and is currently the Chairman of Costa Group 
Holdings, and a non-executive director of 
Transurban Group and Recall Holdings, all  
ASX listed companies.
Neil was, until 2009, an Executive Director 
and Chief Financial Officer of ASX listed Toll 
Holdings Ltd, Australia’s largest transport and 
logistics company; a position he held for over 
10 years.
Neil has a Masters of Business in Finance and 
Accounting, and is a Fellow of CPA Australia 
(FCPA) and Fellow of the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors (FAICD).
Other Directorships (current and recent)

Costa Group Holdings Limited (non-executive) 
since October 2011 and Chairman since July 
2015.
Virgin Australia Holdings Limited (non-
executive) from May 2006 to May 2015 and 
Chairman from June 2007 to May 2015.
Transurban Group (non-executive) since 
February 2009.
Recall Holdings Limited (non-executive) since 
October 2013.
Grange Resources Limited (non-executive) 
until April 2014.
Special Responsibilities

Chairman of the Board.
Member of the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee.
Member of the Remuneration Committee.
Chairman of the Nomination Committee.
Interests in shares and options

46,656 shares in SEEK Limited.

Appointed September 1997
Skills, Experience and Qualifications

Andrew Bassat is the CEO of SEEK Limited, 
and an Executive Director. He has been 
involved in all stages of the development of the 
business since he co-founded the Company in 
1997. In particular, Andrew has driven, since 
inception, the strategy of the Group and led the 
creation and development of the international 
and education businesses. 
Prior to co-founding SEEK, Andrew was a 
management consultant with Booz Allen & 
Hamilton and prior to that, he worked as a 
solicitor at Corrs Chamber Westgarth. Andrew 
holds a Bachelor of Science (Computer 
Science) degree from the University of 
Melbourne, a Bachelor of Laws (Honours) 
degree from Monash University and a Master 
of Business Administration degree from 
Melbourne Business School.
Other Directorships (current and recent)

The Shane Warne Foundation (non-executive) 
since January 2009.
Special Responsibilities

Chief Executive Officer.
Managing Director. 
Interests in shares and options

14,039,729 shares in SEEK Limited, 2,272,160 
options over SEEK Limited shares and 60,000 
ADSs in Zhaopin Limited.

Appointed March 2005
Skills, Experience and Qualifications

Colin Carter has a consulting background in 
organisational and business strategy. He is a 
former Senior Partner of, and a current Senior 
Adviser to, The Boston Consulting Group. His 
interests include corporate governance issues 
and Colin has carried out board performance 
reviews for a number of companies as well 
as co-authoring a top-selling book on boards, 
Back To The Drawing Board.
Colin is a non-executive director of ASX 
listed Lend Lease Corporation Limited, 
and a Director of World Vision Australia. 
He is President of the Geelong Football 
Club. In 2014, Colin was appointed by the 
Prime Minister’s Office as Special Advisor 
to the Empowered Indigenous Communities 
Taskforce.
Colin has a Bachelor of Commerce degree 
from the University of Melbourne and an 
MBA from Harvard Business School where 
he graduated with Distinction and as a Baker 
Scholar.
Other Directorships (current and recent)

Wesfarmers Limited (non-executive) from 
October 2002 to November 2014.
Lend Lease Limited (non-executive) since  
April 2012.
World Vision Australia (non-executive) since 
April 2008.
Ladder (non-executive) from March 2008 to 
August 2015.
Special Responsibilities

Chairman of the Remuneration Committee.
Member of the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee (until November 2014).
Member of the Nomination Committee. 
Interests in shares and options

64,458 shares in SEEK Limited and 4,250 ADSs 
in Zhaopin Limited.

Appointed February 2010
Skills, Experience and Qualifications

Emeritus Professor Denise Bradley AC has 
been extensively involved in national education 
policy groups for more than two decades. She 
was a member of the Commonwealth Tertiary 
Education Commission (CTEC) and later of the 
National Board of Employment, Education and 
Training (NBEET) and was deputy chair of the 
Higher Education Council of NBEET.
In 2008 Professor Bradley chaired the Expert 
Panel which undertook the National Review of 
Higher Education. Professor Bradley has also 
had significant roles on other government and 
educational boards and committees involved in 
higher education and training.
Professor Bradley is also a former President 
and Chair of IDP Education Australia Pty 
Ltd in which SEEK has a 50% investment in 
partnership with Australian Universities.
Professor Bradley is currently a member of 
the NSW Skills Board, a member of the NSW 
National Partnerships Evaluation Committee, 
and Chair of VERNet.
On Australia Day 2008 Professor Bradley was 
made a Companion of the Order of Australia, 
Australia’s highest honour, in recognition of 
her service to higher education.
Professor Bradley has a Bachelor of Arts 
degree from Sydney University, a Diploma of 
Education from Adelaide University, a Diploma 
of Librarianship from the University of NSW, 
and a Masters degree in Social Administration 
from Flinders University. Professor Bradley 
also holds Honorary Doctorates from 
Pukyong University (Korea), University of 
South Australia, Royal Melbourne Institute 
of Technology and the University of Western 
Sydney.
Other Directorships (current and recent)

VERNet (Chair and non-executive director) 
since May 2007.
Special Responsibilities

Member of the Remuneration Committee.
Member of the Nomination Committee.
Interests in shares and options

10,056 shares in SEEK Limited.

Appointed October 2012
Skills, Experience and Qualifications

Graham Goldsmith brings to the Board 
high calibre financial services and banking 
experience acquired from over 25 years of 
working in the sector.
Graham retired in 2012 as Vice-Chairman 
and a Managing Director of Goldman Sachs 
Australia after 25 years with the firm. Graham 
held a number of senior roles during his 
career with Goldman Sachs, predominantly 
advising listed company management 
teams and boards, and governments, on 
capital market and financing conditions 
and transactions. He also held a number of 
governance related roles, specifically focused 
on risk management and reputational issues. 
Graham was also Chair of the Goldman Sachs 
Australia Foundation, the not-for-profit entity 
through which the firm conducts charitable 
works in Australia.
Graham was educated at Swinburne Institute 
of Technology and graduated with a Bachelor 
of Business (Accounting). He completed the 
Advanced Management Program at Harvard 
University in Boston in 2007. He is a Fellow 
of CPA Australia (FCPA), a Fellow of the 
Australian Institute of Company Directors 
(FAICD), and a Fellow of the Financial Services 
Institute of Australia (FFin).
Graham is a non-executive Director of SEEK’s 
separately listed subsidiary Zhaopin Ltd, of 
Djerriwarrh Investments Ltd, and is Chancellor 
of Swinburne University of Technology. 
Other Directorships (current and recent)

Djerriwarrh Investments Ltd (non-executive) 
since April 2013.
Zhaopin Ltd (independent non-executive 
director) since June 2014.
Special Responsibilities

Chairman of the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee.
Member of the Nomination Committee.
Interests in shares and options

45,000 shares in SEEK Limited and 18,000 
ADSs in Zhaopin Limited.

Appointed July 2014
Skills, Experience and Qualifications

Julie has over 30 years of experience in 
technology, including in major organisations 
such as Western Mining, Exxon, Roy Morgan, 
General Motors and SAP, covering consulting, 
software vendor and Chief Information Officer 
roles.
In addition to her industry experience, Julie 
spent 10 years at KPMG as a partner with 
the firm, during which time she held roles as 
National Lead Partner Telecommunications, 
Media and Technology, and National Managing 
Partner – Markets.
Julie was also a member of the KPMG 
National Executive Committee. Julie has a 
Bachelor’s degree in Applied Science.
Other Directorships (current and recent)

Yooralla (non-executive) since April 2015.
Special Responsibilities

Member of the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee (since November 2014).
Member of the Nomination Committee.
Interests in shares and options

2,288 shares in SEEK Limited.
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Neil G Chatfield
Chairman
(Independent non-executive director)
Age 61

Andrew R Bassat
Chief Executive Officer and Co-founder
(Executive director)
Age 49

Colin B Carter

(Independent non-executive director)
Age 72

Denise I Bradley

(Independent non-executive director)
Age 73

Graham B Goldsmith

(Independent non-executive director)
Age 55

Julie A Fahey

(Independent non-executive director)
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Appointed June 2005
Skills, Experience and Qualifications

Neil Chatfield is an established Executive 
and non-executive director with extensive 
experience across all facets of company 
management, and with specific expertise 
in financial management, capital markets, 
mergers and acquisitions, and risk 
management.
In addition to SEEK, Neil also holds non-
executive roles across a range of industries 
and is currently the Chairman of Costa Group 
Holdings, and a non-executive director of 
Transurban Group and Recall Holdings, all  
ASX listed companies.
Neil was, until 2009, an Executive Director 
and Chief Financial Officer of ASX listed Toll 
Holdings Ltd, Australia’s largest transport and 
logistics company; a position he held for over 
10 years.
Neil has a Masters of Business in Finance and 
Accounting, and is a Fellow of CPA Australia 
(FCPA) and Fellow of the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors (FAICD).
Other Directorships (current and recent)

Costa Group Holdings Limited (non-executive) 
since October 2011 and Chairman since July 
2015.
Virgin Australia Holdings Limited (non-
executive) from May 2006 to May 2015 and 
Chairman from June 2007 to May 2015.
Transurban Group (non-executive) since 
February 2009.
Recall Holdings Limited (non-executive) since 
October 2013.
Grange Resources Limited (non-executive) 
until April 2014.
Special Responsibilities

Chairman of the Board.
Member of the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee.
Member of the Remuneration Committee.
Chairman of the Nomination Committee.
Interests in shares and options

46,656 shares in SEEK Limited.

Appointed September 1997
Skills, Experience and Qualifications

Andrew Bassat is the CEO of SEEK Limited, 
and an Executive Director. He has been 
involved in all stages of the development of the 
business since he co-founded the Company in 
1997. In particular, Andrew has driven, since 
inception, the strategy of the Group and led the 
creation and development of the international 
and education businesses. 
Prior to co-founding SEEK, Andrew was a 
management consultant with Booz Allen & 
Hamilton and prior to that, he worked as a 
solicitor at Corrs Chamber Westgarth. Andrew 
holds a Bachelor of Science (Computer 
Science) degree from the University of 
Melbourne, a Bachelor of Laws (Honours) 
degree from Monash University and a Master 
of Business Administration degree from 
Melbourne Business School.
Other Directorships (current and recent)

The Shane Warne Foundation (non-executive) 
since January 2009.
Special Responsibilities

Chief Executive Officer.
Managing Director. 
Interests in shares and options

14,039,729 shares in SEEK Limited, 2,272,160 
options over SEEK Limited shares and 60,000 
ADSs in Zhaopin Limited.

Appointed March 2005
Skills, Experience and Qualifications

Colin Carter has a consulting background in 
organisational and business strategy. He is a 
former Senior Partner of, and a current Senior 
Adviser to, The Boston Consulting Group. His 
interests include corporate governance issues 
and Colin has carried out board performance 
reviews for a number of companies as well 
as co-authoring a top-selling book on boards, 
Back To The Drawing Board.
Colin is a non-executive director of ASX 
listed Lend Lease Corporation Limited, 
and a Director of World Vision Australia. 
He is President of the Geelong Football 
Club. In 2014, Colin was appointed by the 
Prime Minister’s Office as Special Advisor 
to the Empowered Indigenous Communities 
Taskforce.
Colin has a Bachelor of Commerce degree 
from the University of Melbourne and an 
MBA from Harvard Business School where 
he graduated with Distinction and as a Baker 
Scholar.
Other Directorships (current and recent)

Wesfarmers Limited (non-executive) from 
October 2002 to November 2014.
Lend Lease Limited (non-executive) since  
April 2012.
World Vision Australia (non-executive) since 
April 2008.
Ladder (non-executive) from March 2008 to 
August 2015.
Special Responsibilities

Chairman of the Remuneration Committee.
Member of the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee (until November 2014).
Member of the Nomination Committee. 
Interests in shares and options

64,458 shares in SEEK Limited and 4,250 ADSs 
in Zhaopin Limited.

Appointed February 2010
Skills, Experience and Qualifications

Emeritus Professor Denise Bradley AC has 
been extensively involved in national education 
policy groups for more than two decades. She 
was a member of the Commonwealth Tertiary 
Education Commission (CTEC) and later of the 
National Board of Employment, Education and 
Training (NBEET) and was deputy chair of the 
Higher Education Council of NBEET.
In 2008 Professor Bradley chaired the Expert 
Panel which undertook the National Review of 
Higher Education. Professor Bradley has also 
had significant roles on other government and 
educational boards and committees involved in 
higher education and training.
Professor Bradley is also a former President 
and Chair of IDP Education Australia Pty 
Ltd in which SEEK has a 50% investment in 
partnership with Australian Universities.
Professor Bradley is currently a member of 
the NSW Skills Board, a member of the NSW 
National Partnerships Evaluation Committee, 
and Chair of VERNet.
On Australia Day 2008 Professor Bradley was 
made a Companion of the Order of Australia, 
Australia’s highest honour, in recognition of 
her service to higher education.
Professor Bradley has a Bachelor of Arts 
degree from Sydney University, a Diploma of 
Education from Adelaide University, a Diploma 
of Librarianship from the University of NSW, 
and a Masters degree in Social Administration 
from Flinders University. Professor Bradley 
also holds Honorary Doctorates from 
Pukyong University (Korea), University of 
South Australia, Royal Melbourne Institute 
of Technology and the University of Western 
Sydney.
Other Directorships (current and recent)

VERNet (Chair and non-executive director) 
since May 2007.
Special Responsibilities

Member of the Remuneration Committee.
Member of the Nomination Committee.
Interests in shares and options

10,056 shares in SEEK Limited.

Appointed October 2012
Skills, Experience and Qualifications

Graham Goldsmith brings to the Board 
high calibre financial services and banking 
experience acquired from over 25 years of 
working in the sector.
Graham retired in 2012 as Vice-Chairman 
and a Managing Director of Goldman Sachs 
Australia after 25 years with the firm. Graham 
held a number of senior roles during his 
career with Goldman Sachs, predominantly 
advising listed company management 
teams and boards, and governments, on 
capital market and financing conditions 
and transactions. He also held a number of 
governance related roles, specifically focused 
on risk management and reputational issues. 
Graham was also Chair of the Goldman Sachs 
Australia Foundation, the not-for-profit entity 
through which the firm conducts charitable 
works in Australia.
Graham was educated at Swinburne Institute 
of Technology and graduated with a Bachelor 
of Business (Accounting). He completed the 
Advanced Management Program at Harvard 
University in Boston in 2007. He is a Fellow 
of CPA Australia (FCPA), a Fellow of the 
Australian Institute of Company Directors 
(FAICD), and a Fellow of the Financial Services 
Institute of Australia (FFin).
Graham is a non-executive Director of SEEK’s 
separately listed subsidiary Zhaopin Ltd, of 
Djerriwarrh Investments Ltd, and is Chancellor 
of Swinburne University of Technology. 
Other Directorships (current and recent)

Djerriwarrh Investments Ltd (non-executive) 
since April 2013.
Zhaopin Ltd (independent non-executive 
director) since June 2014.
Special Responsibilities

Chairman of the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee.
Member of the Nomination Committee.
Interests in shares and options

45,000 shares in SEEK Limited and 18,000 
ADSs in Zhaopin Limited.

Appointed July 2014
Skills, Experience and Qualifications

Julie has over 30 years of experience in 
technology, including in major organisations 
such as Western Mining, Exxon, Roy Morgan, 
General Motors and SAP, covering consulting, 
software vendor and Chief Information Officer 
roles.
In addition to her industry experience, Julie 
spent 10 years at KPMG as a partner with 
the firm, during which time she held roles as 
National Lead Partner Telecommunications, 
Media and Technology, and National Managing 
Partner – Markets.
Julie was also a member of the KPMG 
National Executive Committee. Julie has a 
Bachelor’s degree in Applied Science.
Other Directorships (current and recent)

Yooralla (non-executive) since April 2015.
Special Responsibilities

Member of the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee (since November 2014).
Member of the Nomination Committee.
Interests in shares and options

2,288 shares in SEEK Limited.
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Information on directors continued
Company secretary
The Company Secretary is Moana Weir.  Moana was appointed General Counsel and Company Secretary of SEEK in December 
2010.  Moana has 15 years senior management experience in listed online companies, having previously been the Company 
Secretary and General Counsel at both REA Group Ltd (realestate.com.au) and Melbourne IT Ltd.  Moana was previously a 
non-executive director of VLine Corporation.  Her term as a VLine director ended in October 2013. Moana was appointed to the 
Board of the Victorian Equal Opportunity and Human Rights Commission in March 2015 and is the Chair of the Commission 
Remuneration Committee. Moana is also a director on the board of a not-for-profit school foundation. Moana holds a BA, LLB 
(Hons) and is a Graduate member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors (GAICD).

Meetings of directors

*	 Where Directors are not members of various Board Committee, they attend by invitation of the Committee Chair.

1.	 Colin Carter resigned as a member of the Audit and Risk Management Committee in November 2014.

2.	 Julie Fahey was appointed as a member of the Audit and Risk Management Committee in November 2014.

Retirement, election and continuation in office of directors
Under the SEEK Limited constitution, the following directors will seek re-election at the 2015 Annual General Meeting (AGM):

•	 Colin Carter, being eligible, will seek re-election at the next AGM

•	 Graham Goldsmith, being eligible, will seek re-election at the next AGM

Under the SEEK Limited constitution, directors cannot serve beyond three years or the third AGM after their appointment, 
whichever is longer. They may, however, stand for re-election at that time.

If no director is in a position requiring them to stand for re-election in the normal rotation, then one director must stand for 
re-election at the AGM, as selected under the rules of the constitution.

Andrew Bassat, who is Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer, is not required to be re-elected while he holds the 
position of Managing Director.

Insurance of officers
SEEK Limited has entered into Deeds of Indemnity with all SEEK Limited directors in accordance with the SEEK constitution. 
During the financial year, SEEK Limited paid a premium to insure the directors, officers and managers of the Company and its 
controlled entities. The insurance contract requires the amount of the premium paid to be confidential.

Proceedings on behalf of the Company
No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring proceedings on behalf of 
the Company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the Company is a party, for the purpose of taking responsibility on 
behalf of the Company for all or part of those proceedings.

No proceedings have been brought or intervened in on behalf of the Company with leave of the Court under section 237 of the 
Corporations Act 2001.

Non-audit services
It is the Group’s policy to employ PricewaterhouseCoopers on assignments additional to their statutory audit duties where 
PricewaterhouseCoopers’ expertise and experience with the Group are important. These assignments are principally tax 
advice and due diligence reporting on acquisitions, and where PricewaterhouseCoopers is awarded assignments on a 
competitive basis. It is the Group’s policy to seek competitive tenders for all major consulting projects.

Details of the amounts paid to the auditor (PricewaterhouseCoopers) for non-audit services provided during the year are set 
out in note 32.

 Board
Audit and Risk 

Management Committee
Remuneration 

Committee
Nomination  
Committee

Attended Held Attended Held Attended Held Attended Held

N G Chatfield 8 8 5 5 5 5 2 2
A R Bassat 8 8 5* 5 5* 5 2* 2
C B Carter(1) 7 8 2* 5 4 5 2 2 
D I Bradley 7 8 3* 5 5 5 2 2 
G B Goldsmith 8 8 5 5 4* 5 2 2
J A Fahey(2) 8 8 4* 5 4* 5 2 2
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The Board of Directors has considered the position and, in accordance with the advice received from the Audit and Risk 
Management Committee, is satisfied that the provision of the non-audit services is compatible with the general standard of 
independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. The directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit 
services by the auditor, as set out below, did not compromise the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 
2001 for the following reasons:

•	 all non-audit services have been reviewed by the Audit and Risk Management Committee to ensure they do not impact the 
integrity and objectivity of the auditor; and

•	 none of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in APES 110 Code of 
Ethics for Professional Accountants.

A copy of the Auditor’s Independence Declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out on 
page 45.

During the financial year the following fees were paid or payable for non-audit services provided by the auditor of the parent 
entity and, its related practices. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Fees paid to PricewaterhouseCoopers for audit and review of financial statements in FY2015 were $2,484,535 (2014: 
$4,190,879). 

Rounding of amounts
The Company is of a kind referred to in Class Order 98/100, issued by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission, 
relating to the “rounding off” of amounts in the Directors’ Report. Amounts in the Directors’ Report and Financial Report have 
been rounded off in accordance with that Class Order to the nearest hundred thousand dollars, or in certain cases, to the 
nearest dollar.

Auditor
PricewaterhouseCoopers continues in office in accordance with section 327 of the Corporations Act 2001.

2015 2014
$ $

Other assurance services
PricewaterhouseCoopers Australian firm:
Due diligence services  162,625  773,500 
Bank covenant, acquisition & statutory reporting  110,000  - 

Related practices of PricewaterhouseCoopers Australian firm:

Other non-audit services  456,390  765,870 

Total remuneration for other assurance services  729,015  1,539,370 

Taxation services
PricewaterhouseCoopers Australian firm:
Tax consulting - international  96,020  459,740 
Tax consulting - domestic  45,040  295,482 
Tax compliance  32,000  62,226 

Related practices of PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia
Tax compliance services, including review of company income tax returns  23,180  101,834 

Tax consulting  17,098  - 

Total remuneration for taxation services  213,338  919,282 

Total remuneration for non-audit services  942,353  2,458,652 



24 SEEK Limited Annual Report 2015

Directors’ Report

•	 A fixed payment that represents the amount that a well-
performing executive in SEEK’s business should be paid to 
come to work and do a good job in all market conditions 
and at all points of the business cycle

•	 The potential to build wealth - to share in any 
substantial wealth created in the business but only if the 
shareholders also do very well.

Modifications to SEEK’s remuneration 
framework
SEEK’s remuneration philosophy and core structure remains 
in place. 

In order to continue to deliver on our remuneration 
objectives, the Board has decided to make some 
modifications to SEEK’s remuneration framework from 1 July 
2015. 

Details of these modifications are set out in the 
Remuneration Report (see section 3.3).  A summary of the 
changes is as follows:

•	 CEO’s remuneration mix to align with remuneration mix of 
other executives;

•	 Disposal restriction period on the performance right (part 
of an executive’s annual fixed payment) changes to 12 
months, from 18 months;

•	 Executives to be provided choice at grant of receiving their 
LTI in options or rights; and

•	 Introduction of minimum shareholding requirement for 
executives (including the CEO).

The Board believes that these modifications will strengthen 
SEEK’s ability to attract and retain key talent and continue 
to maintain the alignment of executive interests with 
shareholders by emphasising building shareholder wealth. 

SEEK’s ability to attract and retain key talent is a critical 
objective as the business is investing aggressively to drive 
the next stage of long-term earnings growth. The Board 
believes that SEEK’s remuneration philosophy and innovative 
structure is an important component of SEEK’s future 
success.

SEEK is a global business that competes in very fast moving 
product markets and geographies. Our remuneration 
levels are benchmarked against Australian publicly listed 
companies of similar market capitalisation with additional 
benchmarking against global competitors for those SEEK 
roles that drive our global competitiveness. Our assessment 
is that SEEK’s remuneration levels – starting with the CEO 
and his direct reports – are very reasonable on Australian 
and international standards.

As SEEK continues to evolve its business to tackle new 
challenges and attack new growth opportunities, the 
business will need to evolve and adapt accordingly. SEEK’s 
remuneration structure reflects this mentality of continuing 
to remain agile, and to “evolve and adapt” to meet the 
requirements of the business.  We seek your support in 
strengthening our remuneration framework in order to drive 
growth in the business and ultimately continue to contribute 
to strong returns to shareholders.

Colin Carter
Chair of the Remuneration Committee

Letter from Remuneration Committee 
Chairman

Dear Shareholder,

As Chairman of SEEK’s Remuneration Committee, I am 
pleased to present our Remuneration Report for FY2015.

SEEK’s current remuneration framework has been in place 
since 2012 and is underpinned by two key principles, namely:

1.	 Having a fair, simple and transparent remuneration 
structure; and

2.	 Ensuring executive remuneration is adequate to attract 
and retain a strong management team who will achieve 
SEEK’s long term strategic objectives.

These principles are then translated into a structure where 
SEEK’s executives receive:
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1.  Contents
The Remuneration Report contains the following sections:

1. Contents
2. About this report
3. Executive remuneration strategy and framework
4. Relationship between remuneration and company performance
5. Composition of remuneration in FY2015
6. Remuneration governance
7. Executive contract terms
8. Executive statutory remuneration for FY2015 and FY2014
9. Equity instruments held by KMP
10. Equity plans
11. Non-executive director fees
12. LTI options granted to KMP in overseas subsidiaries
13. Loans to KMP
14. Other transactions with KMP

2.  About this report
2.1  Key Management Personnel (“KMP”)

Name Position

Non-executive directors N G Chatfield Chairman, non-executive director

C B Carter Non-executive director

D I Bradley Non-executive director

G B Goldsmith Non-executive director

J A Fahey Non-executive director

Executive director A R Bassat Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer (CEO)

Other key management personnel J A Armstrong Chief Financial Officer (CFO)

M F Callaghan Group Human Resources Director (Group HR Director)

P D Everingham Managing Director - SEEK International (from 1 July 2015)

Previous position: CEO – SEEK Asia

M J Ilczynski Managing Director - SEEK Employment (appointed 12 March 2015)

Previous position: Managing Director - Product Development & 
Strategy

J S Lenga Managing Director- SEEK International - (until 1 July 2015)

J S Powell Managing Director - SEEK Education (appointed 12 March 2015)

Previous position: Managing Director - SEEK Employment & 
Learning (AUS & NZ) 

Changes since the end of the reporting period
As announced on 12 March 2015, John Armstrong (CFO) and Jason Lenga (Managing Director - SEEK International) will 
transition their respective roles during 2016.

John Armstrong will remain with SEEK as CFO until 31 December 2015, and remain employed until 1 July 2016 in the role of 
Special Advisor assisting in the transition to a new CFO. On 30 June 2015, SEEK announced the appointment of Geoff Roberts 
as Group CFO, he will join SEEK in November 2015.

Jason Lenga ceased his role as Managing Director - SEEK International on 1 July 2015, and will remain employed until  
1 July 2016 in the role of Special Advisor, providing strategic services on international business and corporate issues. In 
addition, both John Armstrong and Jason Lenga will continue as directors on the Board of Zhaopin Ltd. 

The performance rights and LTI options for John Armstrong and Jason Lenga will be dealt with in accordance with the 
relevant plan rules.
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Remuneration Report continued 
2.1  Key Management Personnel (“KMP”) continued
Three new Executives were appointed in March 2015 - Ronnie Fink (Corporate Development Director, driving SEEK’s 
acquisition activity), Simon Lusted (Group Strategy Director, driving the employment strategy across all markets) and Isar 
Mazer (MD International Operations, driving operational cooperation with the international business as well as the Latin 
American businesses). These three Executives have operational duties and report to an Executive that is not the CEO, and 
therefore do not constitute KMP for FY2015.

From FY2016 onwards, KMP will include the CEO, CFO and the Managing Directors of SEEK Employment, SEEK International 
and SEEK Education.  

2.2  Basis of preparation
This Remuneration Report sets out remuneration information for the KMP of SEEK. All references to executives in this 
Remuneration Report will be to executives that are KMP executives. The information in this report has been prepared based 
on the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and the applicable accounting standards. 

The Remuneration Report is designed to provide shareholders with an understanding of SEEK’s remuneration policies, and 
the link between the Group’s remuneration philosophy, strategy and performance. Individual outcomes are provided for 
SEEK’s KMP. 

The Remuneration Report has been audited.

2.3  Description of terms
Throughout this Remuneration Report, references will be made to a number of elements of the SEEK remuneration 
framework. The reference guide below outlines where details and explanations can be found for each element

Term Description Reference 

Total remuneration (TR) Total remuneration in FY2015 comprises the executive’s package of base 
salary, superannuation, performance rights and LTI options.

3.1

Performance right (PR) Executives are issued one performance right, valued at a fixed % of TR, which 
converts to a number of shares, according to calculations outlined in  
section 5.3.  

3.2

5.3

Long-term incentive (LTI) options Executives are issued with a number of LTI options – each option gives 
the executive the right to purchase one SEEK share at a future date at a 
predetermined price, if all performance hurdles are met. Performance 
hurdles for the FY2015 LTI options are set using the concept of an Indexed 
option (see below). 

3.2

5.4

Compound annual growth rate 
(CAGR)

The year-on-year growth rate of an investment over a specified period of time. 5.4

Indexed Option The exercise and strike price of the option is determined by grossing up the 
share price at the effective date by the 15 year CAGR returns of the All Ords 
Index cumulatively over the three year plan.  

5.4

Relative Total Shareholder Return 
(RTSR)

The level of total return of SEEK’s shares to shareholders (capital gain plus 
dividends), over a predetermined period of time, in comparison to other 
companies in SEEK’s comparator group.

4.3

Earnings Per Share (EPS) The portion of a company's profit allocated to each outstanding ordinary 
share. EPS is calculated as:

Net Profit after tax attributable to SEEK

  Weighted average number of shares on issue

4.1

4.2

“Look-through” revenue Revenue based on ownership as at each reporting date and calculated 
as follows:

•	 SEEK’s proportional ownership interest at the end of each reporting period 
multiplied by underlying 100% revenue of the entity or associate/joint 
venture (“JV”)

As a number of the entities (Associates /JVs) included in the “look-through” 
results are not controlled and therefore not consolidated by SEEK, the  
“look-through” revenue and EBITDA does not reconcile to SEEK’s 
consolidated reported revenue.

4.2
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3.  Executive remuneration strategy and framework
3.1  SEEK’s executive remuneration strategy
The SEEK Board is committed to a remuneration framework that is focused on creating sustainable shareholder value.

SEEK’s remuneration scheme has the following attributes:

•	 Alignment to shareholder interests;

•	 Alignment to achievement of Company vision and strategy;

•	 Reasonableness, transparency and simplicity; and

•	 Attraction and retention of high calibre executives.

The principles which underpin the SEEK remuneration strategy are set out below.  

1.  Establish a more appropriate peer group for benchmarking Total Remuneration

Very few Australian companies have established strong market positions domestically and overseas in rapidly developing                
markets as SEEK has done, and so the Board considers the use of benchmarks which focus mostly on Australian domestic 
companies to be problematic. For FY2015 remuneration the Board selected a comparator group based on local Australian 
market capitalisation which is relevant for many positions in SEEK. SEEK is one of the few Australian companies to build a 
strong global position in some of the world’s fastest growing and yet challenging markets and so we expect our numbers 
to be at the higher end of local benchmarks. The Board has also carefully considered how to benchmark SEEK’s executives 
who are driving the global business. Factors of increasing relevance in this area includes SEEK’s increasing exposure to 
offshore markets, as well as the number of global players competing for talent within the markets in which SEEK operates. 
To this end, the Board obtained additional benchmark data from global IT sector companies in other markets in which 
SEEK competes for executive talent, primarily in the US, to improve and widen the scope of its benchmarking data.  

2.  No Short-term Incentives (STI) - for SEEK’s executives to ensure focus on long-term growth

Instead of a cash-based STI, one third of the base payment has been paid in performance rights which convert to shares 
after a performance period of one year. The payment in shares means that the value is at risk - as it is for shareholders. In 
addition, the 18 month disposal restriction period after vesting further locks up the value to executives for a total of  
30 months. 

3.  Long-term Incentive (LTI) only generates value for executives if shareholders are doing well

SEEK’s executives receive indexed options to the value of one-third of their fixed package. The strike price for the options 
is determined by grossing up the SEEK share price at issue date by the rolling CAGR returns of the ASX All Ordinaries 
Index over 15 years, for each year of the three year performance period.  On vesting, an additional one year share disposal 
restriction period applies, resulting in the executive’s ability to derive value from the LTI Options being restricted for a 
total period of four years. The Board believes that this element of the SEEK remuneration scheme is highly aligned to the 
shareholder’s long term interest as it only pays out when SEEK’s share price has risen materially. 

In implementing this remuneration framework, the Board has achieved its intention to set a level of total remuneration 
that is fair and reasonable in its structure and quantum. The Board considers that its strategy appropriately rewards strong 
performance by the Company in all market conditions and at all points in the economic cycle. 

With performance rights, the value to the executive replicates the value created for the shareholder. The long-term incentive 
component for executives also has a direct correlation to shareholder value, as growth in share price generates wealth for 
both executives and shareholders.

SEEK executives are focused on the long-term success of the Group rather than short-term outcomes. This has been 
reflected in the high level of investment activity across the Group in FY2015, such as:

•	 SEEK Asia Limited’s 100% acquisition of Jobstreet Corporation Berhad;

•	 SEEK’s increased ownership in SEEK Asia Limited, and. 

•	 SEEK’s increased ownership in OCC Mundial.

In FY2015, the SEEK Group performance has remained strong and continues to drive long-term shareholder value. SEEK has 
a number of opportunities both within the domestic market and, through its subsidiaries, across its international markets to 
pursue continued future growth and to continue to enhance shareholder value over the long term. 
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Remuneration Report continued 

3.  Executive remuneration strategy and framework continued
3.2  Structure of remuneration packages
For FY2015, executive and CEO remuneration was structured as set out below:

Base pay Performance rights LTI options Non-monetary benefits (1)

Base salary plus 
superannuation

Annual issue of one 
performance right

Grant of share options 
with performance linked 
to “indexed share price”

Salary continuance 
insurance cover

Salary sacrificed  
benefits and related 
Fringe Benefits Tax

12 month qualification 
period; shares “accrued” 
each month

Three year performance 
period 

Car parking

Share trading restriction 
period of 18 months 
following qualification 
period

Share trading restriction 
period of 12 months 
following vesting 

CEO 50% of TR (incl. super) 20% of TR 30% of TR

Executive 50% of TR (incl. super) 25% of TR 25% of TR

1.	 Non-monetary benefits are minor amounts paid by SEEK in addition to Total Remuneration package.

3.3  Changes from FY2016
From 1 July 2015, a number of changes to the executive remuneration framework will take effect.  These changes will 
strengthen SEEK’s ability to attract and retain key talent, and maintain the focus on aligning executive interests with 
shareholders by providing executives the opportunity to share in SEEK’s wealth creation when shareholders do well. 

Details of the changes, and rationale as to why the changes are being made, are set out below:

CEO remuneration mix

Detail Rationale and explanation

The CEO’s remuneration structure will change 
to 25% of TR for each of the performance right 
and LTI components.

The Board has determined that the CEO pay mix should align with the 
other executives (as outlined above in section 3.2).

The Board believes that aligning the remuneration mix across all 
executives (including the CEO) is appropriate as it removes any potential 
or perceived misalignment of interests that could arise from having 
differences in remuneration composition. 

Previous remuneration mix:

Salary 50% / Performance right  20% / LTI 30%

Proposed remuneration mix:

Salary 50% / Performance right  25% / LTI 25%

Performance right

Detail Rationale and explanation

The disposal restriction period on the shares 
that result after vesting of the performance 
right (as described above in section 3.1 (2)) will 
change from 18 months to 12 months.

The value of the performance right is locked up for executives for a total of 
24 months, rather than 30 months previously.

This change supports the Board’s objective of attraction and retention of 
executives and is consistent with the equity lock up periods of many other 
large Australian companies.

It is important to re-iterate the advantages of  the performance right: 

•	 Paid in equity so aligned with shareholders;

•	 Reward is not received for 24 months, which offers protection to 
shareholders that executives are not being rewarded for short-term 
decisions; and

•	 It is not awarded on the basis of short-term financial outcomes. 
Therefore executives are incentivised to do the “right thing”, not what is 
right for their remuneration.
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Choice of LTI instrument

Detail Rationale and explanation

Executives will have the choice of receiving 
their LTI in options (“LTI Options”) or rights (“LTI 
Rights”) with the same performance hurdle. 

Executives may choose between:

•	 100% LTI Options;

•	 100% LTI Rights; or 

•	 50% of LTI Options and 50% of LTI Rights.

The Board believes that providing executives with this flexibility further 
supports the Board’s objective of attraction and retention of executives, 
while maintaining an emphasis on shareholder wealth creation.

This change provides flexibility for executives to determine which LTI 
instrument is most appropriate based on their personal circumstances.  
The same performance hurdle applies to both instruments.

It is important to re-iterate that the following  key principles underpin both 
LTI Options and LTI Rights:

•	 Both instruments are still subject to the same challenging hurdle  (refer 
section 5.4 for further discussion);

•	 The hurdle is based on a transparent and simple metric  being share 
price growth, whereby executives will only receive additional wealth if 
market returns are exceeded; and

•	 There is the same lock up period across both instruments.

The additional terms for the grant of LTI Options and LTI Rights that will be made in FY2016 are set out below. These terms 
are consistent with prior year grants.

Detail Additional information

Objectives Align the reward for executives with  
shareholder wealth and Group performance  
over a period of time

Effective date 1 July 2015

Test date 30 June 2018

Vesting period Awards vest on 1 July 2018 and are subject to a 12 
month exercise restriction period ending 1 July 2019

Expiry date 1 July 2020

Allocation 
methodology

The number of LTI Rights and/or LTI Options offered 
to an executive will be determined by dividing the 
executive’s LTI value by the  fair value of each 
instrument, as determined by an independent 
consultant (Ernst & Young). 

The estimated fair value will be based on the closing 
share price as at the effective date. 

The fair value is calculated using a binomial option 
pricing model, which takes into consideration factors 
such as the performance hurdles, probability of 
those hurdles being achieved, share price volatility, 
expected life of the award, dividend yield and risk 
free rate.  

The choice of instrument will not result in any 
change in an executive’s LTI value (i.e., the LTI 
proportion opportunity of an executive’s Total 
Remuneration) or Total Remuneration opportunity.  

 
 
The allocation methodology used to determine the 
number of LTI Options and LTI Rights an executive 
receives is consistent across both instruments and 
with prior years’ methodology.

The fair value of LTI instruments as at 1 July 2015 is 
as follows:

•	 LTI Options  $1.92

•	 LTI Rights    $5.75

The fair value for the LTI Rights of $5.75 represents 
c60% discount from face value when considering all 
factors listed above.  Fifty percent (50%) discount 
from face value (i.e., the majority, or 84% of the 
discount) is attributable solely to the difficulty of 
the share price hurdle. By way of comparison, the 
Board has been advised by its external valuer that 
the typical discount for LTI rights plans using a 
relative TSR is 30-40%, indicating that the SEEK 
performance hurdle is more difficult. 

The Board’s view on the share price hurdle is that it 
is challenging, particularly with reference to other 
LTI plans in the ASX.

For the purpose of comparison, in relation to the  
CEO’s remuneration mix, the fair value of the LTI 
grant is 50% of base salary.  Should the CEO elect to 
take 100% LTI options, the grant would be equivalent 
to 380% face value of base salary. Should the CEO 
elect to take 100% LTI Rights, the grant would be 
equivalent to 127% face value of base salary given 
that each LTI Right is valued at 3 times an LTI Option, 
as the Right has a zero exercise price.
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3.3  Changes from FY2016 continued

Detail Additional information

Performance 
conditions 

Both LTI Options and LTI Rights will be subject to the 
same performance hurdle (outlined above in section 
3.1 (3)).  

The indexed share price hurdle for FY2016 is $16.68, 
calculated on the basis of achieving compounding 
annual growth in the SEEK share price of 4.5% per 
annum, using $14.62 as the starting price (10 day 
volume weighted share price (VWAP) at 1 July 2015).  
This compounding annual growth rate has been 
determined by grossing up the SEEK share price at 
the effective date by the rolling CAGR returns of the 
ASX All Ordinaries Index over 15 years for each year 
of the three year performance period.  

The methodology is consistent with prior years’ 
VWAP calculation, with the strike price of $16.68 
(FY15: $19.04) reflecting the starting price of $14.62 
(FY15: $16.40) and prior 15 year rolling compound 
annual growth rate for the ASX All Ordinaries Index 
of 4.5% (FY15: 5.1%).

The change is consistent with the Board’s 
fundamental philosophy that executives will only be 
delivered value when shareholders have done well 
(i.e. the indexed share price hurdle is met).  

The indexed share price hurdle was determined in 
accordance with the methodology applied in previous 
years.

The Board is of the view that the share price hurdle 
of $16.68, calculated on the same 10 day VWAP, is 
challenging.  No value is realised by LTI participants 
until the share price growth is greater than 4.5% 
per annum, excluding any dividends paid to 
shareholders.  

The share price hurdle is challenging in the current 
low growth environment and relative to the volatile 
equity market conditions and SEEK’s share price.

The Board continues to believe that this indexed 
share price hurdle is the most aligned measure of 
absolute shareholder value creation as the LTI will 
only vest if absolute (rather than relative) value is 
created for shareholders.

Vesting 
schedule

If the EEP (outlined in section 5.4 below):

=1 or above, 100% of LTI Options/LTI Rights will vest

=Less than 1, 0% of LTI Options/LTI Rights will vest

Exercise price LTI Options:   $16.68 

LTI Rights:     Nil

There is no exercise price associated with LTI Rights.

Minimum shareholding requirement

Detail Rationale and explanation

Executives will be required to hold SEEK shares 
equivalent to one year of base salary (including 
superannuation).

The CEO will be required to hold SEEK shares 
equivalent to two years of base salary (including 
superannuation). 

New executive members will be permitted to 
reach the minimum requirement over a period 
of 3 years.

As at the date of this report, all executives 
comply with the requirements of this policy.

This change ensures that at any point in time, SEEK’s executives and CEO 
have a significant portion of their total salary tied up in equity. 

This encourages greater alignment between executive and shareholder 
interests, in addition to the equity alignment created by the current 
structures, namely – the extended lock up periods and 50% of TR being 
linked to medium to long-term share price performance.

The minimum shareholding requirement, combined with executives 
receiving 50% of their annual total remuneration in equity with a lock up 
period, further consolidates the alignment between shareholders and 
executives. 

4.  Relationship between remuneration and company performance

4.1  SEEK’s performance
The table below sets out information about the Group’s earnings and movements in shareholders’ wealth for the past five 
years up to and including the current financial year.

 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

NPAT (excluding significant items) attributable to 
SEEK ($'m)(1) 186.8 179.7 141.1 130.5 104.6

Share price at year end ($) 14.06 15.85 9.07 6.34 6.44

Weighted average share price ($) 16.61 13.64 8.58 6.11 6.86

Basic EPS (excluding significant items) (cents)(1) 54.5 53.0 41.8 38.6 31.1

Total dividend (cents per share) 36.0 30.0 22.0 17.3 14.3

1.	 Excludes the impact of one-off significant items in each year; refer to the Review of Operations on page 4. 
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The SEEK executive remuneration strategy focuses on continuing to drive long-term growth in shareholder value.   

The graph below shows SEEK’s relative total shareholder return for the ten years to 30 June 2015 in comparison to the ASX 
200 excluding real estate, metals, mining, and energy and SEEK’s current benchmark peer group of companies with market 
capitalisation ranking of 10 above and 10 below SEEK at 31 March 2015. These results highlight the strong performance 
of SEEK against its peers in the past ten years which illustrates the creation of long term shareholder value under the 
leadership of the SEEK CEO and Executive team. 
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4.2  Total remuneration compared to key financial measures
The graph below highlights the growth in look-through revenue of the SEEK Group in the last five years. While look-through 
revenue is not recognised under Australian Accounting Standards, it is used as a key financial measure of the SEEK Group as 
it incorporates revenues of all subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures across the Group (refer to section 2.3 for definition 
of “look-through” revenue). The results clearly reflect that SEEK’s International business has grown significantly to become a 
key part of the Group, as part of the wider strategic direction. 
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4.  Relationship between remuneration and company performance continued
4.2  Total remuneration compared to key financial measures continued
The graphs below show the growth of the SEEK Group in the last five years across three key financial measures. Consistent 
growth in dividend pay-outs and EPS results reflect the financial success of the SEEK Group*.    

Total dividend (cents per share) Basic EPS (excluding significant items) (cents) NPAT (excluding significant items) 
attributable to SEEK ($m)
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*	 Graphs reflect normalised results which exclude the impact of one-off items in each year, as disclosed in respective Annual Reports. 

4.3  Historical performance outcomes

LTI options
Legacy LTI plans are option plans which were designed to align executive rewards with shareholder value through the use of 
RTSR and EPS hurdles.  

The LTI plans with a vest date in FY2015  are shown in the following table: 

Grant date Members Performance hurdle Test date Vest date % Vested

1. 21 November 2011 CEO RTSR 31 August 2014 1 September 2014 100%
2. 1 September 2011 All executives RTSR 31 August 2014 1 September 2014 100%

3. 1 September 2011 Managing Director - 
SEEK International

ROI of SEEK 
International

31 August 2014 1 September 2014 100%

2011 Options Grant - CEO and all executives
This is a three year plan with a performance period covering financial years ended 30 June 2012, 2013 and 2014. The hurdles 
were tested at 31 August 2014 (Test Date) and the plan vested on 1 September 2014 (Vest Date). 

100% of options issued under the RTSR hurdle vested because SEEK ranked at or above the 75th percentile in the comparator 
group (i.e. at 99.1%).

This plan is the final legacy plan with an RTSR hurdle.

2011 Options Grant - Managing Director (SEEK International)
This is a three year plan with a performance period covering financial years ended 30 June 2012, 2013 and 2014. The ROI 
hurdles were tested at 31 August 2014 (Test Date) and the plan vested on 1 September 2014 (Vest Date). 

Entitlement to vest options under the ROI hurdle is:

•	 growth rate of 22%:  50% vest

•	 growth rate between 22% and 30%: additional 6.25% vesting per 1% of additional growth

•	 growth rate of 30% and above:  100% vest

100% of these options vested because SEEK’s actual ROI growth rate exceeded the maximum ROI target (i.e. 30%).
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Performance Rights
Under the executive remuneration strategy, KMP received one performance right with an effective date of 1 July 2013; the 
performance right vested on 1 July 2014 and converted to a number of shares. The table below details the number of shares 
allocated to KMP during FY2015. Shares are deferred under a trading lock for 18 months until 1 January 2016. 

The value of deferred shares for executives has a direct correlation to shareholder value, as growth in share price generates 
wealth for both executives and shareholders.

Effective date
Date of exercise of 
performance right

Number of 
ordinary shares 

issued on exercise

Executive directors
A R Bassat 1 July 2013 1 July 2014 67,556 

Other key management personnel
J A Armstrong 1 July 2013 1 July 2014 19,833 
M F Callaghan 1 July 2013 1 July 2014 13,073 
P D Everingham 1 July 2013 1 July 2014 22,174 
M J Ilczynski 1 July 2013 1 July 2014 23,405
J S Lenga 1 July 2013 1 July 2014 28,010 
J S Powell 1 July 2013 1 July 2014 27,009 

4.4  Shares provided on exercise of remuneration options
A number of KMP have exercised options during the year under plans granted and vested in previous financial years. Details 
of ordinary shares in the Company provided as a result of these exercises during the year are set out below.

Date of exercise

Number of 
ordinary shares 

issued on exercise Exercise price
Value at exercise 

date *

Executive directors
A R Bassat 17 March 2015  964,065 $5.36 $11,829,078

A R Bassat 17 March 2015  416,660 $7.39 $4,266,598

Other key management personnel
J A Armstrong 2 September 2014  176,000 $5.36 $2,110,240
M F Callaghan 18 September 2014  143,411 $5.36 $1,659,265
P D Everingham 28 November 2014  232,520 $5.36 $2,839,069
P D Everingham 4 December 2014  35,275 $7.39 $349,223
M J Ilczynski 2 September 2014  212,375 $5.36 $2,546,376
J S Lenga 27 August 2014  94,413 $7.39 $899,756
J S Lenga 2 September 2014  327,439 $5.36 $3,925,994
J S Lenga 15 September 2014  327,439 $5.36 $3,925,994
J S Powell 2 September 2014  269,970 $5.36 $3,236,940

*	 Value at exercise date is calculated as share price (5 day VWAP) on exercise date less exercise price paid, multiplied by number of options exercised 

4.5  Statutory remuneration disclosures
The statutory remuneration disclosures for the year ended 30 June 2015 are detailed in Section 8 and are prepared in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards. These statutory disclosures differ from the FY2015 remuneration decisions 
and outcomes outlined in the SEEK remuneration strategy, discussed in Section 3. 

These differences arise mainly due to the accounting treatment of share-based payments (such as the performance right and 
LTI options). The statutory disclosures include an accounting remuneration value for both current year performance rights 
and all unvested LTI options plans.  Accounting standards require remuneration in the form of performance rights and LTI 
options to be expensed (and therefore included as remuneration) over the performance period of the option or right.  



34 SEEK Limited Annual Report 2015

Directors’ Report

Remuneration Report continued 

5.  Composition of remuneration in FY2015
5.1  Base Pay
Base pay is set at a market competitive rate and is reviewed annually by the Remuneration Committee, using peer group data 
updated annually by external remuneration consultants. 

TR for executives is targeted between the 50th and 80th percentiles of a comparator group comprising of companies 
with similar market capitalisations. The comparator group is +/-‐10 companies either side, compared to SEEK’s market 
capitalisation as at 31 March each year. SEEK’s Board recognises that market capitalisation is not the perfect measure for 
SEEK as it does not take into account the complexity of SEEK’s operations or its global reach; however the Board considers 
that it is currently the best available measure which is relevant for many positions in SEEK. The level of an individual 
executive’s pay is determined by considering performance of the incumbent, relative importance of the role and supply 
of talent in the market. SEEK competes on the global stage for talent, particularly for its key differentiating roles, and the 
Board recognises that its remuneration framework must reflect this.  During FY2015, remuneration consultants Aon Hewitt 
were requested to provide additional benchmark data from global companies in other markets in which SEEK competes for 
executive talent, primarily in the US, to improve and widen the scope of benchmarking data. International benchmarks have 
become increasingly relevant in SEEK’s remuneration strategy.

Base pay may be delivered as a combination of cash and benefits at the executive’s discretion. There is no guaranteed annual 
increase in executive remuneration. 

5.2  Benefits
Executives receive salary continuance cover, which is also provided to all employees of the Company, as well as on-site 
car parking.

Retirement benefits are delivered under the Superannuation Guarantee Charge. Under current legislation, SEEK permits the 
choice of superannuation funds to all employees. The SEEK default fund is the SEEK Limited Superannuation Plan, which is 
provided by MLC Limited Group and is an accumulation fund. Other retirement benefits for directors and executives may be 
provided directly by SEEK if the benefit is within statutory limits or is approved by shareholders.

5.3  Performance rights
The performance right component of the remuneration framework operates as outlined below.

Quantum
The value of the performance right to executives in FY2015 is as follows:

•	 CEO receives 20% of TR as a performance right; and

•	 All other executives receive 25% of TR as a performance right.

Terms and Duration
The performance right converts to shares following the expiry of a qualification period of one year (the “Qualification Period”). 
Following this period, shares are held in Trust on behalf of individuals, and are subject to trading restrictions under which the 
CEO and executives cannot transfer or otherwise deal in the shares for 18 months (the “Restriction Period”)

During the Restriction Period, the CEO and all executives will receive the benefit of any dividends and other shareholder 
benefits (including voting rights) but will not be able to access or trade in the shares. Should the CEO or an executive no 
longer be employed by the SEEK Group within the respective Restriction Period, they will be entitled to the full rights of the 
shares, but remain bound by the restrictions associated with them.

Calculation
Share entitlement for each of the executives is determined each month during the one year Qualification Period.  SEEK will 
calculate the notional value of shares that could be delivered in respect of that month following the end of the Qualification 
Period as follows:

Monthly Number =
V

AP

Where: 	

•	 Monthly Number = the notional number of shares in respect of a relevant month (rounded up to the nearest 
whole number);

•	 V = 1/12th of the allocated value of the performance right;

•	 AP = the volume weighted average price at which shares were traded on the ASX during that month.
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Following the end of the Qualification Period, SEEK will calculate the total number of shares to be provided on exercise of the 
performance right by aggregating the sum of the 12 monthly numbers.

The terms for the grants of performance rights made in FY2015 are set out below:

Executive Performance Rights Issue CEO Performance Rights Issue

Objectives Align the reward for Executives with  
shareholder wealth and Group performance  
over a period of time

Align the reward for CEO with  
shareholder wealth and Group performance  
over a period of time 

Grant date 6 August 2014 12 December 2014

Effective date 1 July 2014 1 July 2014

Vehicle Performance right Performance right

Vesting period and vest date Performance right vests on 1 July 2015  
and is subject to an 18 month disposal  
restriction period ending 1 January 2017

Performance right vests on 1 July 2015  
and is subject to an 18 month disposal  
restriction period ending 1 January 2017

Share price at effective date $15.90 at 1 July 2014 $15.90 at 1 July 2014

Performance conditions Employment with the SEEK Group for entire 
Qualification Period 

Employment with the SEEK Group for entire 
Qualification Period 

Exercise price Nil Nil

5.4  LTI options
The LTI options component of the remuneration framework operates as outlined below.

Quantum
The value of LTI options to executives in FY2015 is as follows:

•	 CEO receives 30% of TR as LTI options; and

•	 All other executives receive 25% of TR as LTI options.

The option entitlement for FY2015 for each executive is determined by dividing the allocated percentage of TR by $2.38, being 
the fair value of one option as valued by an independent external consultant at 1 July 2014. The fair value is reviewed at the 
effective date and grant date of each award. 

Terms and Duration
The FY2015 hurdle is set using the concept of an indexed option. The strike price (and exercise price) is determined by 
grossing up the SEEK share price at effective date by the rolling CAGR returns of the ASX All Ordinaries Index over 15 years, 
for each year of the three year performance period. The Board’s view is that currently the preferred measure for appropriate 
returns is the 15 year CAGR for All Ordinaries. 

If required performance hurdles are met, LTI options vest after the three-year vesting period has passed.

In the event that LTI Options vest at the end of the three year vesting period, an additional one year share disposal restriction 
period applies. As a result, the executive’s ability to derive value from the LTI options is restricted for a total period of four 
years. 

Calculation
The FY2015 grant of options were granted at no cost but each option has an exercise price of $19.04. The exercise price is 
calculated as follows:

•  Issue date price: 10 day volume weighted average price (VWAP) at 30 June 2014 was $16.40;

•  Prior 15 year rolling CAGR returns for the ASX All Ordinaries Index was 5.1% for FY2015;

•  Exercise price for each LTI option is $16.40 x (1.051 ^ 3) = $19.04
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5.  Composition of remuneration in FY2015
5.4  LTI options continued
The LTI options are subject to an “Exercise Entitlement Percentage” (EEP) performance condition measured over a three 
year testing period (1 July 2014 to 30 June 2017). The EEP is tested once on 30 June 2017 (the “Testing Date”) by dividing the 
volume weighted average price of shares for the 10 trading days before the Testing Date (the “Testing Date Price”), by the 
target premium option strike price of $19.04 (the “TOSP”) as follows:

EEP =
Testing Date Price

TOSP

The percentage of LTI Options that will vest depends on SEEK’s performance against the EEP condition over the three year 
testing period:

•	 If EEP = 1 or above, then 100% of LTI options will vest;

•	 If EEP = less than 1, then none of the LTI options will vest and options lapse immediately.

Options will also lapse immediately if an executive ceases employment before the Testing Date unless, subject to applicable 
law, the Board determines otherwise.

The terms for the grants of options made in FY2015 are set out below:

Executives LTI Options Issue CEO LTI Options Issue

Objectives Align the reward for Executives with  
shareholder wealth and Group performance  
over a period of time

Align the reward for CEO with  
shareholder wealth and Group performance  
over a period of time

Grant date 6 August 2014 12 December 2014

Effective date 1 July 2014 1 July 2014

Vehicle Indexed options Indexed options 

Test date 30 June 2017 30 June 2017

Vesting period and vest date Options vest  on 1 July 2017 and are subject to a 
12 month disposal restriction period ending  
1 July 2018

Options vest on 1 July 2017 and are subject to a 
12 month disposal restriction period ending  
1 July 2018

Expiry date 1 July 2019 1 July 2019

Share price at grant date $16.45 at 6 August 2014 $16.17 at 12 December 2014

Performance conditions Dependent on achieving compounding annual 
growth in the SEEK share price of 5.1% per 
annum, using $16.40 as the starting price (10 day 
volume weighted share price at 1 July 2014)

Dependent on achieving compounding annual 
growth in the SEEK share price of 5.1% per 
annum, using $16.40 as the starting price (10 day 
volume weighted share price at 1 July 2014)

Vesting schedule If the EEP (outlined above):

= 1 or above, 100% of options will vest

= Less than 1, 0% of options will vest

If the EEP (outlined above):

= 1 or above, 100% of options will vest

= Less than 1, 0% of options will vest

Exercise price $19.04 $19.04

Fair value at grant date $2.84 $2.39
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6.  Remuneration governance
6.1  Remuneration Committee function
The Remuneration Committee reviews and makes recommendations to the Board on the appropriate remuneration structure 
for the CEO and executives, as well as for non-executive directors. The Remuneration Committee is responsible for ensuring 
that the remuneration framework reflects the SEEK Board’s focus on driving a performance culture that is aligned to the 
achievement of SEEK’s business strategy and objectives and the creation of sustainable shareholder value. Full details of the 
SEEK executive remuneration framework are set out in section 3.  

6.2  Use of remuneration advisors
The Remuneration Committee engaged external remuneration consultants to provide independent market benchmarking 
data and information on market practice and trends, regulatory developments and the views of various shareholder groups 
and proxy advisors. The Remuneration Committee and the Board consider this input along with other factors, in making its 
remuneration decisions.

In FY2014, the Remuneration Committee approved the engagement of Aon Hewitt to provide FY2015 market benchmarking 
data. This enables SEEK to ensure the Total Remuneration for the CEO and executives is appropriately positioned relative to 
equivalent roles among the Australian core comparator group comprising companies with similar market capitalisation.  The 
consultants were also requested to provide additional benchmarks among global companies in other markets in which SEEK 
competes for executive talent.  Aon Hewitt has been further engaged to provide market benchmarking data for non-executive 
directors fees for the Company to ensure payments are appropriate relative to the core comparator group and in line with 
market trends. The Remuneration Committee is satisfied that no remuneration recommendations were provided. 

7.  Executive contract terms
7.1  Summary of CEO Remuneration for FY2015
The CEO’s remuneration package for FY2015 comprises the amounts outlined below, as approved at the SEEK Limited AGM in 
November 2014. 

Remuneration element Value
Proportion of 
package

Nature of 
remuneration Details

Base pay, including 
superannuation

$2,040,000 50% Fixed pay

Performance right $816,000 20% Variable CEO was granted one performance right as approved by 
shareholders at the November 2014 AGM. The performance 
right has been granted under the terms outlined in  
section 5.3 (CEO Performance Rights Issue)

LTI options $1,224,000 30% At risk Using an external fair value of $2.38 calculated as at  
1 July 2014, the CEO was granted 514,285 options on  
12 December 2014 under an LTI Plan approved by 
shareholders at the November 2014 AGM. The options have 
been granted under the terms outlined in section 5.4 (CEO 
LTI Options Issue)

Benefits $6,263 Benefits received include income protection insurance and 
car parking

Details of all outstanding option plans in which the CEO has participated can be found in section 10.

7.2  Executive Service agreements
Remuneration and other terms of employment for the CEO and other KMP are formalised in service agreements. Each of 
these agreements provides for base salary, performance rights and LTI and are reviewed annually by the Remuneration 
Committee. 

All executives (excluding CEO) have termination notice periods of three months by employee and three months by employer. 
The CEO has a termination notice period of six months by employee and six months by employer. In addition, all executives 
have non-competition periods of 12 months across all markets in which SEEK operates from the termination date. The 
Company can terminate employment with a payment in lieu of notice. 
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9.  Equity instruments held by KMP
9.1  Options and Performance Rights holdings
The number of options and performance rights over ordinary shares in the Company held during the financial year by KMP, 
including their personally related parties, are set out below. The tables include one performance right granted to KMP each 
financial year. Performance rights with an effective date of 1 July 2013 vested on 1 July 2014 and converted to a number of 
ordinary shares. The performance rights with an effective date of 1 July 2014, vested on 1 July 2015. Refer to section 4.3 for 
further details.

2015

Balance at the 
start of the 

year

Granted during 
the year as 

compensation

Exercised 
during the 

year

Forfeited 
during the 

year

Balance at 
the end of 

the year

Vested and 
exercisable at 
the end of the 

year

Unvested 
options at the 

end of the year

Executive directors

A R Bassat  3,138,600  514,286 (1,380,726)  -  2,272,160  -  2,272,160 

Other key management 
personnel
J A Armstrong  662,818  140,757 (176,001)  -  627,574  -  627,574 
M F Callaghan  464,268  87,185 (143,412)  -  408,041  -  408,041 
P D Everingham  812,146  163,866 (267,796)  -  708,216  -  708,216 
M J Ilczynski  766,338  179,622 (212,376)  -  733,584  -  733,584 
J S Lenga  1,412,229  189,076 (749,292)  -  852,013  -  852,013 

J S Powell  922,954  176,471 (269,971)  -  829,454  -  829,454 

2014

Balance at the 
start of the 

year

Granted during 
the year as 

compensation

Exercised 
during the 

year

Forfeited 
during the 

year

Balance at 
the end of 

the year

Vested and 
exercisable at 
the end of the 

year

Unvested 
options at the 

end of the year

Executive directors
A R Bassat  4,178,672  672,349 (1,627,081) (85,340)  3,138,600  416,660  2,721,940 

Other key management 
personnel
J A Armstrong  539,005  197,344 (61,031) (12,500)  662,818  -  662,818 
M F Callaghan  394,201  130,068 (49,801) (10,200)  464,268  -  464,268 
P D Everingham  598,705  220,667 (1) (7,225)  812,146  35,275  776,871 
D Gibbons  304,611  - (1) (304,610)  -  -  - 
M J Ilczynski  573,929  232,910 (33,616) (6,885)  766,338  -  766,338 
J S Lenga  1,152,840  278,728 (1) (19,338)  1,412,229  94,412  1,317,817 
J S Powell  783,620  268,773 (107,435) (22,004)  922,954  -  922,954 
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9.  Equity instruments held by KMP continued
9.2  Share holdings - SEEK
The number of ordinary shares in the Company held during the financial year by each KMP, including their personally related 
parties, are set out below. No shares were granted during the reporting period as compensation. 

2015 - SEEK Limited 
shares

Balance at the 
start of the 

year

Received during the 
year on exercise of 

options

Received during the 
year on exercise of 

perf rights
Purchase 
of shares

Sale of 
shares

Other 
changes 

during the 
year (1)

Balance at 
the end of 

the year

Non-executive directors
N G Chatfield(2)  43,157  -  -  4,000 (401)  (100)  46,656 
C B Carter  94,458  -  -  - (30,000)  -  64,458 
D I Bradley  5,000  -  -  3,456  -  -  8,456 

G B Goldsmith 35,000  -  - 10,000 - - 45,000

J A Fahey  -  -  -  2,288  -  -  2,288 

Executive directors

A R Bassat  13,942,506  1,380,725  67,556  - (1,400,000)  -  13,990,787 

Other key management 
personnel
J A Armstrong  28,298  176,000  19,833  - (204,298)  -  19,833 
M F Callaghan  35,556  143,411  13,073  - (63,024)  58,540  187,556 
P D Everingham  31,641  267,795  22,174  - (299,436)  -  22,174 
M J Ilczynski  46,762  212,375  23,405  - (227,152)  -  55,390 
J S Lenga  94,481  749,291  28,010  - (725,000)  -  146,782 

J S Powell  37,557  269,970  27,009  - (307,527)  -  27,009 

2014 - SEEK Limited 
shares

Balance at the 
start of the 

year

Received during the 
year on exercise of 

options

Received during the 
year on exercise of 

perf rights
Purchase 
of shares

Sale of 
shares

Other 
changes 

during the 
year

Balance at 
the end of 

the year

Non-executive directors
N G Chatfield  43,157  -  -  -  -  -  43,157 
C B Carter  94,458  -  -  -  -  -  94,458 
D I Bradley  5,000  -  -  -  -  -  5,000 
G B Goldsmith  35,000  -  -  -  -  -  35,000 

Executive directors
A R Bassat  13,309,325  1,627,080  106,101  - (1,100,000)  -  13,942,506 

Other key management 
personnel
J A Armstrong  89,146  61,030  28,298  - (150,176)  -  28,298 
M F Callaghan  117,034  49,800  18,652  - (149,930)  -  35,556 
P D Everingham  -  -  31,641  -  -  -  31,641 
D Gibbons  -  -  18,652  -  - (18,652)  - 
M J Ilczynski  14,777  33,615  31,385  - (33,015)  -  46,762 
J S Lenga  174,044  -  37,557  - (117,120)  -  94,481 
J S Powell  -  107,434  37,557  - (107,434)  -  37,557 

1. Adjustment to correct balance at the start of the year.
2. Neil Chatfield's sale of shares relates to 401 shares previously held by a related party.
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9.3  American Depository Shares (ADSs) holdings - Zhaopin Ltd
During 2015, a number of KMP held ADSs in SEEK’s subsidiary Zhaopin Ltd. The table below details the number of ADSs held 
during FY2015 for each member of SEEK’s KMP. 

2015 - Zhaopin Ltd ADSs
Balance at the start 

of the year Purchase of ADSs
Balance at the end 

of the year (1)

Non-executive directors
N G Chatfield  -  -  - 
C B Carter  - 4,250  4,250 
D I Bradley  -  -  - 
G B Goldsmith 18,000 - 18,000

J A Fahey -  -  - 

Executive directors

A R Bassat  60,000  -  60,000 

Other key management personnel
J A Armstrong  -  -  - 
M F Callaghan  3,600  -  3,600 
P D Everingham 10,000  -  10,000 
M J Ilczynski 2,500  -  2,500 
J S Lenga 8,000  -  8,000 

J S Powell 18,000  -  18,000 

1. 	 The balance at the date of the report is the same as the balance at the end of the year.

2014 - Zhaopin Ltd ADSs
Balance at the start 

of the year Purchase of ADSs
Balance at the end 

of the year

Non-executive directors
N G Chatfield  -  -  - 
C B Carter  -  -  - 
D I Bradley  -  -  - 
G B Goldsmith  -  18,000  18,000 

Executive directors
A R Bassat  -  60,000  60,000 

Other key management personnel
J A Armstrong  -  -  - 
M F Callaghan  -  3,600  3,600 
P D Everingham  -  10,000  10,000 
D Gibbons  -  -  - 
M J Ilczynski  -  2,500  2,500 
J S Lenga  -  8,000  8,000 
J S Powell  -  18,000  18,000 
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10.  Equity plans
10.1  Equity grants - vested during the year and outstanding at year end
The following table outlines the details of the equity grants that vested during the year and that are outstanding at the end of 
the year. No options will vest if the performance conditions are not satisfied, hence the minimum value of the options yet to 
vest is nil. Fair value is calculated in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy as discussed in note 30. There were no 
amounts paid and there were no amounts outstanding or due from KMP in relation to the grant of options during the year. 

 Grant date

 # of 
options 

and rights 
granted Vest date

Exercise 
price

Value of 
options/ 
rights at 

grant date(1)
Vested 

%  Vested # 
Forfeited / 

lapsed %

Value of 
lapsed 

awards at
lapse date 

A R Bassat 21 Nov 2011  964,065 1 Sep 2014 $5.36 $1,359,332  100% 964,065 0%  - 

3 Dec 2012  1,085,526 1 Jul 2015 (2) $7.43 $1,139,802  -  -  -  - 
4 Dec 2013  1 1 Jul 2014 $0.00 $887,500  100%  1 0%  - 
4 Dec 2013 672,348 1 Jul 2016 $10.38 $2,783,521 - - - -

12 Dec 2014 1 1 Jul 2015 (2) $0.00 $816,000 - - - -
12 Dec 2014  514,285 1 Jul 2017 $19.04 $1,229,141  -  -  -  - 

J A Armstrong 1 Sep 2011  176,000 1 Sep 2014 $5.36 $216,480  100% 176,000 0%  - 
7 Sep 2012  289,474 1 Jul 2015 (2) $7.43 $272,106  -  -  -  - 
6 Sep2013  1 1 Jul 2014 $0.00 $260,494  100%  1  0%  - 

6 Sep 2013 197,343 1 Jul 2016 $10.38 $550,587 - - - -
6 Aug 2014 1 1 Jul 2015 (2) $0.00 $335,000 - - - -
6 Aug 2014  140,756 1 Jul 2017 $19.04 $399,747  -  -  -  - 

M F Callaghan 1 Sep 2011  143,411 1 Sep 2014 $5.36 $176,396  100% 143,411 0%  - 
 7 Sep 2012  190,789 1 Jul 2015 (2) $7.43 $179,342  -  -  -  - 

6 Sep 2013  1 1 Jul 2014 $0.00 $171,689  100%  1 0%  - 
6 Sep 2013 130,067 1 Jul 2016 $10.38 $362,887 - - - -
6 Aug 2014 1 1 Jul 2015 (2) $0.00 $207,500 - - - -
6 Aug 2014  87,184 1 Jul 2017 $19.04 $247,603  -  -  -  - 

P D Everingham 1 Sep 2011  232,520 1 Sep 2014 $5.36 $286,000  100% 232,520 0%  - 
 7 Sep 2012  323,684 1 Jul 2015 (2) $7.43 $304,263  -  -  -  - 

6 Sep 2013  1 1 Jul 2014 $0.00 $291,279  100%  1 0%  - 
6 Sep 2013 220,666 1 Jul 2016 $10.38 $615,658 - - - -
6 Aug 2014 1 1 Jul 2015 (2) $0.00 $390,000 - - - -
6 Aug 2014 163,865 1 Jul 2017 $19.04 $465,377  -  -  -  - 

M J Ilczynski 1 Sep 2011  212,375 1 Sep 2014 $5.36 $261,221  100% 212,375 0%  - 
 7 Sep 2012  321,053 1 Jul 2015 (2) $7.43 $301,790  -  -  -  - 

6 Sep 2013  1 1 Jul 2014 $0.00 $307,440  100%  1 0%  - 
6 Sep 2013 232,909 1 Jul 2016 $10.38 $649,816 - - - -
6 Aug 2014 1 1 Jul 2015 (2) $0.00 $427,500 - - - -
6 Aug 2014  179,621 1 Jul 2017 $19.04 $510,124  -  -  -  - 

J S Lenga 1 Sep 2011  254,878 1 Sep 2014 $5.36 $313,500  100% 254,878 0%  - 
 1 Sep 2011  400,000 1 Sep 2014 $5.36 $292,000  100% 400,000 0%  - 

7 Sep 2012  384,211 1 Jul 2015 (2) $7.43 $361,158  -  -  -  - 
6 Sep 2013  1 1 Jul 2014 $0.00 $367,920  100%  1 0%  - 
6 Sep 2013  278,727 1 Jul 2016 $10.38 $777,648  -  -  -  - 
2 Jun 2014 750,000 (3) 1 Jul 2017 US$6.75 US$2,158,618 - - - -
6 Aug 2014 1 1 Jul 2015 (2) $0.00 $450,000 - - - -
6 Aug 2014  189,075 1 Jul 2017 $19.04 $536,973  -  -  -  - 

J S Powell 1 Sep 2011  269,970 1 Sep 2014 $5.36 $332,063  100% 269,970 0%  - 
 7 Sep 2012  384,211 1 Jul 2015 (2) $7.43 $361,158  -  -  -  - 

6 Sep 2013  1 1 Jul 2014 $0.00 $354,780 100% 1 0%  - 
6 Sep 2013 268,772 1 Jul 2016 $10.38 $749,874 - - - -
6 Aug 2014 1 1 Jul 2015 (2) $0.00 $420,000 - - - -
6 Aug 2014  176,470 1 Jul 2017 $19.04 $501,175  -  -  -  - 

1.	 For options, value is the fair value at grant. For performance rights, value is the allocated value of the performance right.

2.	 100% vested on 1 July 2015.

3.	 Jason Lenga received a grant of 750,000 options in SEEK’s subsidiary Zhaopin Ltd - more details of the grant are outlined in section 12 of 2014 Annual Report.
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10.2  Shares under option 
Unissued ordinary shares of SEEK under option at the date of this report are as follows:

Date granted Expiry date Exercise price of options Number of options

Executive Director Options
3 December 2012 1 July 2017 $ 7.43 1,085,526
4 December 2013 1 July 2018 $ 10.38 672,348
12 December 2014 1 July 2019 $ 19.04 514,285

Options plans
7 September 2012 1 July 2017 $ 7.43 2,129,277
6 September 2013 1 July 2018 $ 10.38 1,489,248
6 August 2014 1 July 2019 $19.04 1,033,160

Total shares under option 6,923,844

11.  Non-executive director fees

11.1  Fee policy
The following table outlines the non-executive director fee policy:

Aggregate non-executive 
director fee pool

Non-executive directors’ fees are determined within an aggregate directors’ fee pool limit. 

The fee pool currently stands at $1,500,000 per annum, covering all non-executive directors. The current fee 
pool was approved by shareholders at the 2013 AGM.  

Non-executive director 
fees and fee reviews

Fees and payments to non-executive directors are determined on an individual basis in accordance with 
demands that are made on, and the responsibilities of, the directors.

Non-executive directors’ fees and payments are reviewed annually by the Remuneration Committee, and 
approved by the Board, to ensure fees are appropriately positioned against the market to attract and retain high 
calibre non-executive directors talent. 

In July 2014, independent remuneration consultants provided the Board with a comparative benchmarking 
analysis on director fees. The Board has determined that the appropriate benchmark for directors’ fees is the 
50th percentile. As a result, effective 1 July 2014, the following fee structure applied.

There has been no change in fees since July 2014.

Non-executive directors $150,000
Additional fees are paid for the following roles:

Chairman of the Audit and Risk Management Committee $27,250
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee $10,000

The Chairman’s fees are determined as a separate exercise to those of other non-executive directors. The 
Chairman is not present at any discussions relating to determination of his own remuneration.

Chairman of the Board $390,000

Superannuation Included in the fees set out above, non-executive directors receive superannuation payments in accordance with 
statutory requirements, calculated as 9.5% from 1 July 2014. Superannuation is paid up to the maximum legal 
threshold, with the remainder paid in cash.  

Non-executive director 
minimum shareholding 
requirement 

All non-executive directors are required to acquire over time a SEEK shareholding equivalent to one year of 
directors’ fees (after tax). Non-executive directors are expected to hold 20% of their after tax annual fee in SEEK 
shares for each year of their directorship until the minimum shareholding requirement is achieved.

Performance-based 
remuneration

Non-executive directors do not receive share options or any performance-based remuneration.

Non-executive director 
fees for international 
subsidiaries

Zhaopin Ltd is a subsidiary entity based in China which listed on the New York Stock Exchange in June 2014. 
Consistent with international practice, Zhaopin’s independent directors are paid director fees. The Zhaopin 
director fees paid in FY2015 in relation to SEEK’s director are disclosed in the table of director fees in  
Section 11.2.
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Directors’ Report

Remuneration Report continued

11.  Non-executive director fees continued
11.2  Fees for 2015 and 2014
Details of the nature and amount of each element of the remuneration of each non-executive director of the parent entity and 
the Group for the year ended 30 June 2015 and 2014 are set out in the following table:

Short term benefits

Post-
employment 

benefits

SEEK Ltd 
Director fees

Zhaopin Ltd 
Director fees

Non-monetary 
benefits Superannuation Total

$ $ $ $ $

N G Chatfield 2015  371,217  -  4,967  18,783  394,967 
2014  320,366  -  -  29,634  350,000 

C B Carter 2015  146,119  -  -  13,881  160,000 
2014  132,723  -  -  12,277  145,000 

D I Bradley 2015  136,986  -  -  13,014  150,000 
2014  123,570  -  -  11,430  135,000 

G B Goldsmith 2015  161,872  119,940  4,967  15,378  302,157 
2014  148,513  4,449  -  13,737  166,699 

J A Fahey (1) 2015  129,259  -  -  12,280  141,539 
2014  -  -  -  -  - 

Total 2015  945,453  119,940  9,934  73,336  1,148,663 
2014  725,172  4,449  -  67,078  796,699 

1. 	 Julie Fahey was appointed as non-executive director on 23 July 2014.  

12.  LTI options granted to KMP in overseas subsidiaries
During FY2015, no options over ordinary shares in Zhaopin Ltd were issued. 

Details on options issued in FY2014 to the Chairman of the Board of Zhaopin Ltd, were disclosed in the 2014 Annual Report.

13.  Loans to KMP
There have been no loans to directors or executives during the financial year (2014: nil).

14.  Other transactions with KMP
During the year there were no other transactions with key management personnel, apart from related party transactions 
disclosed in note 31.

This Directors’ Report is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

Neil Chatfield 
Chairman 
Melbourne

29 September 2015
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Auditor’s Independence Report

PricewaterhouseCoopers, ABN 52 780 433 757
Freshwater Place, 2 Southbank Boulevard, SOUTHBANK VIC 3006, GPO Box 1331, MELBOURNE VIC 3001
T: 61 3 8603 1000, F: 61 3 8603 1999, www.pwc.com.au

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.

Auditor’s Independence Declaration

As lead auditor for the audit of SEEK Limited for the year ended 30 June 2015, I declare that to the
best of my knowledge and belief, there have been:

a) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in
relation to the audit; and

b) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

This declaration is in respect of SEEK Limited and the entities it controlled during the period.

John Yeoman Melbourne
Partner
PricewaterhouseCoopers

29 September 2015



46 SEEK Limited Annual Report 2015

Financial Report

Contents	
Page

Financial Statements
47 Consolidated income statement
48 Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
49 Consolidated balance sheet
50 Consolidated statement of changes in equity
51 Consolidated statement of cash flows

Notes to the Financial Statements
52 Note 1 Basis of preparation

Performance
52 Note 2 Segment information
59 Note 3 Revenue
60 Note 4 Other income
60 Note 5 Expenses
61 Note 6 Earnings per share
62 Note 7 Income tax

Cash
66 Note 8 Cash and cash equivalents
66 Note 9 Reconciliation of profit for the year to net cash inflow from operating activities
67 Note 10 Financial risk management

Assets
76 Note 11 Trade and other receivables
77 Note 12 Other financial assets
79 Note 13 Intangible assets

82 Note 14 Net tangible asset backing
Liabilities

83 Note 15 Borrowings
84 Note 16 Other financial liabilities
85 Note 17 Provisions

Equity
88 Note 18 Contributed equity
89 Note 19 Equity
92 Note 20 Dividends

Group structure
93 Note 21 Business combinations
95 Note 22 Discontinued operation
96 Note 23 Interests in controlled entities
100 Note 24 Interests in equity accounted investments
104 Note 25 Deed of cross guarantee
107 Note 26 Parent entity financial information

Unrecognised items
108 Note 27 Contingent liabilities
108 Note 28 Commitments for expenditure

109 Note 29 Events occurring after the balance sheet date
Others

109 Note 30 Share-based payments
113 Note 31 Related party transactions
114 Note 32 Remuneration of auditors
115 Note 33 Other significant accounting policies 

118 Directors’ declaration
119 Independent auditor’s report to the members of SEEK Limited



47SEEK Limited Annual Report 2015

Consolidated income statement 
for the year ended 30 June 2015

2015 2014
Notes $m $m

Revenue from continuing operations 3  872.5  724.2 
Other income 4  100.3  - 

Operating expenses
Direct cost of services (29.2) (29.2)
Sales and marketing (288.0) (230.9)
Business development (71.9) (55.3)
Operations and administration (190.8) (144.9)

Finance costs 5 (30.7) (30.8)

Total operating expenses (610.6) (491.1)

Share of results of equity accounted investments 24(b)  21.7  18.7 

Profit before income tax expense from continuing operations  383.9  251.8 

Income tax expense 7(a) (68.7) (53.4)

Profit from continuing operations  315.2  198.4 

Profit from discontinued operation  -  25.0 

Profit for the year  315.2  223.4 

Profit is attributable to: 
Owners of SEEK Limited  281.2  195.6 

Non-controlling interests  19  34.0  27.8 

 315.2  223.4 

Earnings per share for profit from continuing operations attributable to 

the ordinary equity holders of the Company:

Cents Cents

Basic earnings per share 6  82.1  50.4 

Diluted earnings per share 6  79.9  49.6 

Earnings per share for total Group profit attributable to the ordinary equity 

holders of the Company:

Cents Cents

Basic earnings per share 6  82.1  57.7 

Diluted earnings per share 6  79.9  56.8 

The above consolidated income statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
for the year ended 30 June 2015

2015 2014
Notes $m $m

Profit for the year  315.2  223.4 

Other comprehensive income

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translation of foreign controlled operations  19  206.0 (43.8)
Exchange differences on translation of foreign associates  19  2.1 (4.6)
(Losses)/gains on hedge contracts of controlled entities  19 (62.0)  6.8 
Gains/(losses) on hedge contracts of associates (net of tax)  19  1.6 (1.0)
Recycled foreign currency translation reserve on step acquisition  19  0.5  - 
Income tax recognised in other comprehensive income 7(b)  2.9  15.3 

Items that will never be reclassified to profit or loss:

Change in fair value of financial assets 12(b)  4.9  - 

Other comprehensive income for the year  156.0 (27.3)

Total comprehensive income for the year for SEEK Limited  471.2  196.1 

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to:
Owners of SEEK Limited  368.3  177.3 

Non-controlling interests  19  102.9  18.8 

 471.2  196.1 

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to owners of

SEEK Limited arises from:
Continuing operations  368.3  152.6 

Discontinued operation  -  24.7 

 368.3  177.3 

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.



49SEEK Limited Annual Report 2015

Consolidated balance sheet 
as at 30 June 2015

2015 2014
Notes $m $m

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents  8  449.6  323.0 
Trade and other receivables  11  120.2  96.5 
Other current financial assets  12(a)  63.1  26.6 

Current tax assets  9.3  - 

Total current assets  642.2  446.1 

Non-current assets

Investments accounted for using the equity method  24  132.4  153.1 
Plant and equipment  28.1  20.7 
Intangible assets  13  2,409.6  1,513.9 
Other non-current financial assets  12(b)  64.6  62.7 

Deferred tax assets  7(c)  24.2  35.7 

Total non-current assets  2,658.9  1,786.1 

Total assets  3,301.1  2,232.2 

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables  116.9  84.9 
Current borrowings  15(a)  214.9  22.2 
Unearned income  204.3  128.2 
Other financial liabilities  16  10.0  8.2 
Current tax liabilities  17.1  18.2 

Current provisions  17(a)  36.2  23.1 

Total current liabilities  599.4  284.8 

Non-current liabilities

Non-current borrowings  15(b)  769.3  379.8 
Deferred tax liabilities  7(c)  105.2  75.6 

Non-current provisions  17(b)  26.3  23.4 

Total non-current liabilities  900.8  478.8 

Total liabilities  1,500.2  763.6 

Net assets  1,800.9  1,468.6 

Equity

Contributed equity  18  222.9  203.7 
Reserves  19  114.9  73.8 
Retained profits  19  796.5  624.9 

Non-controlling interests  19  666.6  566.2 

Total equity  1,800.9  1,468.6 

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity 
for the year ended 30 June 2015

Contributed Retained
Non-

controlling
equity Reserves profits Total interests Total

Notes $m $m $m $m $m $m

Balance at 1 July 2013  188.5  75.0  513.5  777.0  519.6  1,296.6 

Profit for the year  -  -  195.6  195.6  27.8  223.4 
Other comprehensive income  - (18.3)  - (18.3) (9.0) (27.3)

Total comprehensive income for the year  - (18.3)  195.6  177.3  18.8  196.1 

Transactions with owners in their 
capacity as owners:

Contributions of equity, net of transaction 
costs and tax 18(b)  14.2  -  -  14.2  -  14.2 
Dividends provided for or paid  -  - (88.4) (88.4) (29.7) (118.1)
Employee share option scheme of parent  -  8.1  -  8.1  -  8.1 
Employee share option scheme of 
subsidiary  -  5.8  -  5.8  -  5.8 
Tax associated with employee share 
schemes 7(b)  - (4.2)  4.2  -  -  - 
Exercise of share options in subsidiary  -  1.1  -  1.1  0.3  1.4 
Transfer of non wholly-owned subsidiary 
under common control  - (1.0)  - (1.0)  - (1.0)
Initial public offering of Zhaopin  -  9.6  -  9.6  75.6  85.2 
Disposal of THINK  -  -  -  - (18.2) (18.2)
Transfer of reserves  1.0 (0.8)  -  0.2 (0.2)  - 
Share of reserve movement of associates  - (1.5)  - (1.5)  - (1.5)

Balance at 30 June 2014  203.7  73.8  624.9  902.4  566.2  1,468.6 

Profit for the year  -  -  281.2  281.2  34.0  315.2 

Other comprehensive income  -  87.1  -  87.1  68.9  156.0 

Total comprehensive income for the year  -  87.1  281.2  368.3  102.9  471.2 

Transactions with owners in their 
capacity as owners:

Contributions of equity, net of transaction 
costs and tax 18(b)  19.2  -  -  19.2  -  19.2 
Dividends provided for or paid  -  - (120.2) (120.2) (24.7) (144.9)
Employee share option scheme of parent  -  10.3  -  10.3  -  10.3 
Employee share option scheme of 
subsidiary  -  2.7  -  2.7  1.8  4.5 
Exercise of share options in subsidiary  - (8.6)  - (8.6)  40.3  31.7 
Tax associated with employee share 
schemes 7(b)  - (10.6)  10.6  -  -  - 
Change in ownership of subsidiaries 19(a)  - (37.5)  - (37.5) (22.8) (60.3)
Transfer of reserves  - (2.9)  - (2.9)  2.9  - 

Share of reserve movement of associates  -  0.6  -  0.6  -  0.6 

Balance at 30 June 2015  222.9  114.9  796.5  1,134.3  666.6  1,800.9 

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated statement of cash flows 
for the year ended 30 June 2015

2015 2014
Notes $m $m

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts from customers (inclusive of goods and services tax)  924.7  748.2 

Payments to suppliers and employees (inclusive of goods and services tax) (534.8) (438.0)

 389.9  310.2 

Interest received  12.9  10.9 

Interest paid (23.1) (19.4)

Transaction costs (16.2) (2.4)

Income taxes paid (82.1) (73.1)

Tax refund received  -  4.1 

Cash inflow from operating activities attributable to discontinued operation  -  4.5 

Net cash inflow from operating activities 9  281.4  234.8 

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from disposal of discontinued operation, net of cash disposed  -  92.4 

Payments for acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired (512.9) (5.0)

Dividends and distributions received from associates 24(b)  29.0  20.1 

Dividends received from financial assets  0.9  - 

Payment for additional interest in associate (6.4) (9.4)

Payment for investment in associates and joint ventures (17.7)  - 

Payments for intangible assets (40.1) (29.8)

Payments for plant and equipment (16.6) (11.8)

Cash outflow from investing activities attributable to discontinued operation  - (3.3)

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from investing activities (563.8)  53.2 

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from borrowings  628.8  131.0 

Repayment of borrowings (119.7) (211.9)

Transaction costs on establishment of debt facilities (6.0) (2.7)

Proceeds from Zhaopin IPO  -  93.0 

Exercise of Zhaopin underwriter's option  11.9  - 

Transaction costs relating to Zhaopin IPO  - (9.5)

Cash released from deposits to support entrusted loan facilities  27.2  25.5 

Cash placed on deposit to support entrusted loan facilities (15.3) (29.0)

Proceeds from issues of shares 18  19.2  14.2 

Proceeds from share options in subsidiaries  18.2  1.4 

Dividends paid to members of the parent 20 (120.2) (88.4)

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 23(b) (24.7) (29.7)

Payment for additional interest in subsidiary (157.7) (36.1)

Contributions from non-controlling interests  100.1  - 

Payment for other financing arrangements (16.7) (0.8)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing activities  345.1  (143.0)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  62.7  145.0 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year  323.0  184.8 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  63.9 (6.8)

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 8  449.6  323.0 
 
 
The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2015

1.  Basis of preparation
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board and the Corporations Act 2001. SEEK Limited is a  
for-profit entity for the purpose of preparing the financial statements.

The financial statements are for the consolidated entity consisting of SEEK Limited and its subsidiaries. 

(i)  Compliance with IFRS
The consolidated financial statements of SEEK Limited Group comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

(ii)  Historical cost convention
These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of 
financial assets and liabilities (including derivative instruments) at fair value through profit or loss.

(iii)  Critical accounting estimates and judgements
The preparation of financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management 
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of 
judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed 
in the relevant notes. 

(iv)  Significant accounting policies
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out in the 
relevant notes. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 

(v)  Rounding of amounts
The Company is of a kind referred to in Class Order 98/100, issued by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission, 
relating to the “rounding off” of amounts in the financial statements. Amounts in the financial statements have been rounded 
off in accordance with that Class Order to the nearest hundred thousand dollars, or in certain cases, the nearest dollar.

2.  Segment information

(a)  Description of segments
In March 2015, SEEK’s CEO announced a realignment of portfolios within the Executive leadership team:

•	 Michael Ilczynski is taking the role of MD SEEK Employment. He will lead SEEK Employment in Australia and New Zealand, 
including responsibility for Sales, Marketing, IT, Product, Strategy, Development and Delivery.

•	 Joe Powell is taking the role of MD SEEK Education and will have responsibility for the growing education portfolio 
including SEEK Learning, IDP, Swinburne Online and international expansion opportunities.

Accounting Policy
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision maker 
(CODM). The CODM, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been 
identified as the Chief Executive Officer.

Segment EBITDA is the measure utilised by the CODM to measure the businesses’ profitability. Segment EBITDA is earnings before 
interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation and excludes share of results of equity accounted investments, amortisation of share-based 
payments and long-term incentives, gains/losses on investing activities, and other non-operating gains/losses.

Segment revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities are those that are directly attributable to a segment and the relevant portion that 
can be allocated to the segment on a reasonable basis. Segment assets include all assets used by a segment and consist primarily of 
operating cash, receivables, other financial assets, plant and equipment, goodwill and other intangible assets, net of related provisions. 
While most of these assets can be directly attributed to individual segments, the carrying amounts of certain assets used jointly by 
segments are allocated based on reasonable estimates and usage. Segment liabilities consist primarily of trade and other creditors, 
other financial liabilities and employee entitlements.

Segment revenues, expenses and results include transfers between segments. Such transfers are priced on an “arm’s length” basis and 
are eliminated on consolidation. The amounts provided to the CODM with respect to total assets and total liabilities are measured in a 
manner consistent with that of the financial statements. Assets and liabilities are allocated based on the operations of the segment.
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In addition, three new Executives were appointed, effective from March 2015 - Ronnie Fink (Corporate Development Director, 
driving SEEK’s acquisition activity), Simon Lusted (Group Strategy Director, driving the employment strategy across all 
markets) and Isar Mazer (MD International Operations, driving operational cooperation with the international business as well 
as the Latin American businesses). 

As a consequence of the above changes, and considering the high degree of integration that has been achieved between the 
JobStreet and JobsDB businesses, leading to consolidated SEEK Asia reporting, segment reporting has been rearranged for 
FY2015.  Comparative information has been restated to be presented on the same basis.

The Group reports its business through two business divisions: Domestic and International.

•	 The Domestic business now comprises four operating segments:

–– Core Employment; operates online employment marketplace services through the SEEK website. It sells these services 
in Australia and New Zealand;  

–– Early Stage Employment; comprises a portfolio of small investments that provide products and services which sit 
‘adjacent’ to the core online employment marketplace of SEEK Employment, including Jora (formerly known as 
JobSeeker) and share of profits/(losses) from other immaterial investments;

–– SEEK Learning; markets, sells and distributes (predominantly through online channels) education courses in Australia. 
These courses are developed and delivered by outside providers;

–– Education Other; comprises other costs associated with managing and setting the strategic direction of SEEK’s 
Education businesses, as well as SEEK’s share of profits/(losses) from IDP and Swinburne Online.

•	 The International business comprises the following operating segments being controlling interests in:

–– SEEK Asia (operating in seven countries across South East Asia and includes the consolidated results of JobStreet 
and JobsDB);

–– Zhaopin (operating in China);

–– Brasil Online (operating in Brazil); and

–– OCC (operating in Mexico).

as well as “International other”, which comprises other operating costs associated with managing the international 
businesses, including interests in International associates One Africa Media (based in seven countries across Africa), Babajob 
(based in India) and other immaterial investments. International other also included the equity accounted investment JCB 
(based in Malaysia) until the cessation of equity accounting described in note 21.
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2015
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2.  Segment information continued 
(d)  Geographical information
In presenting information on the basis of geographical segments, segment revenue from continuing operations is based on 
the geographical location of the customers. Segment assets are based on the geographical location of the assets.

2015 2014 - Restated*

Revenue(1)
Non-current 

assets(2) Revenue(1)
Non-current 

assets(2)

$m $m $m $m

Australia  329.6  156.9  304.7  129.8 
New Zealand  27.1  5.5  23.9  5.7 
Brazil  119.3  342.8  118.8  392.8 
Mexico  24.5  169.5  22.3  168.3 
China  252.8  753.2  192.5  641.4 
Hong Kong  36.3  2.1  28.4  1.7 
Malaysia  22.1  20.1  0.6  46.1 
Singapore  16.8  1.4  7.2  0.2 
Thailand  10.3  0.3  8.5  0.2 
Philippines  13.7  0.6  2.9  0.1 
South East Asia Unallocated(3)  -  1,135.2  -  340.5 
Africa  -  23.1  -  17.5 
India  -  13.0  -  - 

Rest of the world  5.9  11.0  3.5  6.1 

Total allocated  858.4  2,634.7  713.3  1,750.4 

Unallocated:
Dividend income  1.2  - 
Interest income  12.9  10.9 

Deferred tax assets  24.2  35.7 

Total   872.5  2,658.9  724.2  1,786.1 

1. Amounts allocated represent sales revenue from external customers.
2. Amounts allocated represent all non-current assets excluding deferred tax assets.
3. Non-current assets presented as South East Asia Unallocated represents goodwill and other intangible assets assumed as part of the JobsDB and JobStreet acquisitions, which is 

consistent with the approach for impairment testing (refer to note 13).
* 2014 results have been restated to reflect changes to 2015 geographical segments following the completion of the JobStreet acquisition.
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3.  Revenue

* 	 2014 results have been restated to reflect changes to the Group’s operating segments which occurred during 2015, refer to note 2 for details.

2015
2014 - 

Restated*
Notes $m $m

Sales revenue

Employment - job and banner advertising  273.2  240.3 
Early stage employment - job and banner advertising  2.7  0.9 
International - job, banner advertising and CV online  501.3  384.4 
Learning - commission revenue  81.2  84.7 

Learning - classroom-based training  -  3.0 

Total sales revenue from continuing operations  858.4  713.3 

Other revenue

Dividend income  1.2  - 

Interest income  12.9  10.9 

Total revenue from continuing operations  872.5  724.2 

Accounting Policy
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Amounts disclosed as revenue are net of returns, trade 
allowances, rebates, taxes and amounts collected on behalf of third parties. 

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that future economic benefits will 
flow to the entity and specific criteria have been met for each of the Group’s activities as described below. The Group bases its estimates 
on historical results, taking into consideration the type of customer, the type of transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.

Revenue is recognised for the major business activities as follows:

(i)  Job advertisements
Revenues from the provision of job advertisements are recognised in the period over which the advertisements are placed.

(ii)  Banner advertising
Revenues from banner advertising on the Group’s websites are generated based on a fixed price which is based on the impressions each 
banner receives. These revenues are recognised in the period that the impressions occur. 

(iii)  CV online revenue
Revenue from services provided to jobseekers through CV online is recognised over the service period.

(iv) Offline employment services 
Revenue from offline employment services (such as campus recruitment services, assessment services and other human resources 
related services) is recognised upon delivery of the completion report or when the service performance is complete.

(v)  Education: commission revenue
Commission revenue is recognised when the customer obtains unconditional access to the course material or when revenue can be 
reliably estimated. Revenue that relates to agency relationships is recognised on a net basis. 

(vi)  Education: classroom-based training
Revenues from classroom-based training are recognised from course commencement and brought to account on a pro-rata basis over 
the duration of the relevant teaching period. 

(vii)  Dividend income
Dividends are recognised as revenue when the right to receive payment is established. Dividend income from subsidiaries is eliminated 
on consolidation.  Dividend income from equity accounted investments is shown as a reduction in the carrying amount of the investment.  
Dividend income from investments that are neither consolidated nor equity accounted are included in revenue in the income statement.

(viii)  Interest income
Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis using the effective interest method (EIR), which is the rate that exactly 
discounts the estimated future cash payments or receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, 
where appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or liability. When a receivable is impaired, the Group reduces the 
carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being the estimated future cash flow discounted at the original effective interest rate of the 
instrument, and continues unwinding the discount as interest income. 

(ix) Royalty income
Royalty income relates to intercompany charges for the use of intellectual property. It is recognised on an accruals basis and is reviewed 
annually.
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4.  Other income

2015 2014

Notes $m $m

Fair value gain on step acquisitions 21(c)  100.3  - 

5.  Expenses
Profit before income tax expense from continuing operations includes the following specific net losses and expenses:

2015 2014
Notes $m $m

Specific costs included within 'operations and administration' 

Depreciation of plant and equipment 2(b)  11.8  8.8 
Amortisation of intangible assets 2(b)  31.4  25.0 
Rental expenses relating to operating leases:

Minimum lease payments  20.5  18.6 
Net foreign exchange (gains)/losses recognised in profit before income tax expense (8.8)  3.0 

Transaction costs from investing activities  14.0  3.0 

Finance costs

Interest expense  29.9  27.6 

Interest unwound on put option  -  0.1 
Total interest expense  29.9  27.7 

Other finance charges paid/payable  0.8  3.1 

Total finance costs  30.7  30.8 

Employee benefits

Salary costs  262.0  186.2 
Share-based payments and other long-term incentives  18.7  18.1 

Superannuation costs and other pension related costs  22.4  19.3 

Total employee benefits  303.1  223.6 
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6.  Earnings per share 

 
 

2015 2014
Cents per share Cents per share

Basic Diluted Basic Diluted

EPS attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Company:

  From continuing operations  82.1  79.9  50.4  49.6 

  From discontinued operation  -  -  7.3  7.2 

Earnings per share from profit for the year  82.1  79.9  57.7  56.8 

 
(i) Weighted average number of shares used as the denominator

2015 2014
number number

Weighted average number of shares used as denominator in calculating basic EPS  342,571,482  339,348,510 
Weighted average of potential dilutive ordinary shares:

 - options  3,565,118  4,304,618 

 - performance rights  405,731  714,570 

Weighted average number of shares used as the denominator in calculating diluted EPS  346,542,331  344,367,698 

 
 
 
 
 
 
The weighted average of potential dilutive ordinary shares excludes 1,217,614 options (2014: nil) which are considered 
antidilutive.

(ii) Reconciliation of earnings used in calculating earnings per share

2015 2014

Basic Diluted Basic Diluted
$m $m $m $m

Profit attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the company:

  From continuing operations  281.2  281.2  170.9  170.9 

    Potential dilutive adjustment for subsidiary option plans  - (4.3)  -  - 

 Adjusted profit from continuing operations  281.2  276.9  170.9  170.9 

 From discontinued operation  -  -  24.7  24.7 

Adjusted profit for the year  281.2  276.9  195.6  195.6 

Accounting Policy
(i)  Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to owners of the Company, excluding any costs of servicing 
equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for 
bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the year and including treasury shares.

(ii)  Diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into account:

•	 the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares;

•	 the weighted average number of shares assumed to have been issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive potential ordinary 
shares; and

•	 the after income tax effect of subsidiary option plans which would dilute SEEK’s ownership in controlled subsidiaries.
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7.  Income tax

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
The Group is subject to income taxes (and other similar taxes) in Australia and in a number of overseas jurisdictions. Judgement is 
required in determining the Group provision for income taxes.

Uncertain tax positions
There are certain transactions and calculations undertaken during the ordinary course of business for which the ultimate tax 
determination is uncertain. The Group estimates its tax liabilities based on its current understanding of the tax law. Where the final 
tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the current and 
deferred income tax assets and liabilities in the future period in which such determination is made.

Research and development claim
The research and development claim available to the Company is estimated in the accounts because a full assessment of the position 
cannot be made by the year end. It is the policy of the Company to only bring to account that preliminary portion of expenses that is 
reasonably expected to be claimable at period end.

Tax rate applicable to Group’s People’s Republic of China (PRC) entities
The PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law (the “EIT Law”) applies an income tax rate of 25% to all enterprises but grants preferential tax 
treatment to High and New Technology Enterprises (HNTEs). Under this preferential tax treatment, HNTEs can enjoy a preferential 
income tax rate of 15% for three years, but need to reapply after the end of the three-year period. 

Except for Beijing Wangpin (a PRC entity controlled by Zhaopin Ltd), all of the Group’s PRC entities are subject to EIT at a rate of 25%. 
Beijing Wangpin qualifies as an HNTE and therefore is entitled to enjoy a preferential income tax rate of 15% from 1 January 2014 to 
31 December 2016. Deferred tax as of 30 June 2015 and EIT expense for the twelve months then ended were calculated at a rate of 15% 
accordingly.

(a)  Income tax expense

Accounting policy
The income tax expense or benefit for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income based on the applicable tax 
rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to unused 
tax losses.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting 
period in the countries where the Company’s subsidiaries and associates operate and generate taxable income. Management 
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to 
interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they 
arise from the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not accounted for if it arises from the initial recognition of an 
asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor 
taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by 
the end of the reporting period and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income 
tax liability is settled.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive 
income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

Tax benefits acquired as part of a business combination, but not satisfying the criteria for separate recognition at that date, would be 
recognised subsequently if new information about facts and circumstances changed. The adjustment would either be treated as a 
reduction to goodwill (as long as it does not exceed goodwill) if it was incurred during the measurement period or in profit or loss.

Australian income tax consolidation legislation
SEEK Limited and its wholly-owned Australian entities elected to form an income tax consolidated group as of 1 July 2004. On adoption 
of the income tax consolidation legislation, the entities in the income tax consolidated group entered into a tax sharing agreement which, 
in the opinion of the directors, limits the entities’ joint and several liability in the case of an income tax payment default by the head 
entity, SEEK Limited.

The entities have also entered into a tax funding agreement under which the entities fully compensate SEEK Limited for any current 
income tax payable assumed and are compensated by SEEK Limited for any current tax receivable and deferred tax assets relating to 
unused tax losses or unused tax credits that are transferred to SEEK Limited under the income tax consolidation legislation. The funding 
amounts are determined by reference to the amounts recognised in the entities’ financial statements.

The amounts receivable/payable under the tax funding agreement are due upon receipt of the funding advice from the head entity, 
which is issued as soon as practicable after the end of each financial year. The head entity may also require payment of interim funding 
amounts to assist with its obligations to pay income tax instalments. The funding amounts are recognised as current intercompany 
receivables or payables. 
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2015 2014
Notes $m $m

Current tax  69.9  63.3 
Deferred tax (1.9) (3.1)
Tax refund from prior years  - (3.9)

Under/(over) provision in prior years  0.7 (0.6)

Income tax expense  68.7  55.7 

Deferred income tax expense included in income tax expense comprises:

Decrease/(increase) in deferred tax assets  0.9 (0.1)

(Decrease) in deferred tax liability (2.8) (3.0)

(1.9) (3.1)

2015 2014
Notes $m $m

Income tax expense is attributable to:
Continuing operations  68.7  53.4 

Discontinued operation  -  2.3 

Total income tax expense  68.7  55.7 

Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax payable
2015 2014

$m $m

Profit from ordinary activities before income tax expense
Continuing operations  383.9  251.8 

Discontinued operation  -  27.3 

 383.9  279.1 

Income tax calculated @ 30% (2014: 30%)  115.2  83.7 

Tax effect of amounts that are not deductible/(taxable) in calculating income tax:

Fair value gains on step acquisitions (30.1)  - 
Adjustment to acquisition tax provisions (0.4) (4.5)
Foreign subsidiary losses not recognised in the Group  1.1  0.9 
Research and development claim (4.4) (2.3)
Non-taxable gain on disposal of subsidiary  - (6.3)
Interest on equity deduction (0.1) (0.5)
Tax effect on share of net profits of associates and joint ventures (6.5) (5.6)
Tax deductible goodwill (3.8) (2.2)
Taxable unfranked dividend  2.0  - 
Non-deductible/(non-assessable) items:

  Legal fees and acquisition costs  5.5  1.3 
  Share-based payments  0.9  1.1 
  Financing activities (0.6)  - 

    Other  0.6  0.4 

 79.4  66.0 

Income tax adjusted for permanent differences:
Effect of movements in foreign exchange (0.6) (0.1)
Effect of different rates of tax on overseas income (10.8) (5.7)
Tax refund from prior years  - (3.9)

Under/(over) provision in prior year  0.7 (0.6)

Income tax expense attributable to profit from ordinary activities  68.7  55.7 
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7.  Income tax continued
(b)  Amounts recognised directly in equity
Tax expense relating to items of other comprehensive income:

2015 2014
Notes $m $m

Deferred tax debited directly to hedge reserve (2.6)  - 

Deferred tax credit in relation to share-based payment schemes 19  2.9  15.3 

 0.3  15.3 

Aggregate current and deferred tax arising in the reporting period and not recognised in net profit or loss or other 
comprehensive income but directly debited or credited to equity:

2015 2014
Notes $m $m

Current tax credited directly to retained profits

  New issue of shares  10.6  4.2 

19  10.6  4.2 

(c)  Deferred taxes

Accounting policy
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that future taxable 
amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax bases of 
investments in foreign operations where the Company is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is 
probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that 
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are 
reassessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits will allow the 
deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and when 
the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. 

Potential deferred tax liability on undistributed profits of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures
When the Group does not recognise deferred tax liabilities in relation to undistributed profits of its subsidiaries, associates or joint 
ventures, this is on the basis that either the distribution of those profits would not give rise to a tax liability or the directors consider they 
have the ability to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences.

(i) Deferred tax assets

2015 2014
Notes $m $m

Movements:
Opening balance at 1 July  35.7  30.4 
(Debited)/credited to the consolidated income statement (0.9)  0.1 
(Debited)/credited to equity (10.3)  11.1 
Exchange differences (0.1) (0.4)
Acquisition of subsidiary 21  2.2  - 
Disposal of subsidiary 22  - (4.7)

(Over) provision in prior year (2.4) (0.8)

Closing balance at 30 June  24.2  35.7 

Deferred tax assets to be recovered within 12 months  13.7  11.6 

Deferred tax assets to be recovered after more than 12 months  10.5  24.1 

Closing balance at 30 June  24.2  35.7 
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The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:

2015 2014
$m $m

Amounts recognised in profit or loss:
Provision for impairment of trade receivables  0.6  0.8 
Unearned income  4.8  2.1 
Employee benefits  6.0  4.3 
Provision for credit notes  0.2  0.2 
Fringe benefits tax  -  0.1 
Share-based payments  5.3  6.6 
Other provisions  7.5  5.7 
Plant and equipment and intangible assets  3.3  4.0 
Goodwill  3.2  2.2 
Foreign exchange gains  0.2  1.1 
Legal and acquisition costs  0.2  0.5 

Research and development tax offset (10.4) (5.4)

 20.9  22.2 
Amounts recognised directly in equity:

Share-based payments  5.9  13.5 

Cash flow hedge reserve (2.6)  - 

Net deferred tax assets  24.2  35.7 

(ii) Deferred tax liabilities

2015 2014
Notes $m $m

Movements:
Opening balance at 1 July  75.6  85.5 
Credited to the consolidated income statement (2.8) (3.0)
Acquisition of subsidiaries(1) 21  23.7  1.1 
Disposal of subsidiaries  - (5.4)

Exchange differences  8.7 (2.6)

Closing balance at 30 June  105.2  75.6 

Deferred tax liabilities expected to be settled within 12 months  3.2  1.2 

Deferred tax liabilities expected to be settled after more than 12 months  102.0  74.4 

Closing balance at 30 June  105.2  75.6 

The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:

Intangible assets  101.3 73.6
Withholding tax on undistributed profits  3.5  1.8 

Other items  0.4  0.2 

Net deferred tax liabilities  105.2  75.6 

1. Acquisition of subsidiaries in 2015 relates to JobStreet (2014: Jora).
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8.  Cash and cash equivalents

Accounting policy
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, and other short-term, highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject 
to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

2015 2014
$m $m

Cash at bank and on hand  423.3  288.8 

Short-term investments  26.3  34.2 

 449.6  323.0 

(a)  Restricted cash in the People’s Republic of China
Cash and bank balance as at 30 June 2015 includes restricted cash of RMB 43.5m (A$9.2m) held by some subsidiaries in the 
People’s Republic of China (2014: A$7.9m) which can be used in the People’s Republic of China, but is not freely convertible 
into other currencies for transfer around the Group.

(b)  Short‑term investments
Short‑term investments comprise mainly bank deposits, debentures and fixed income funds held by subsidiaries of SEEK’s 
controlled entities Brasil Online and OCC. These highly liquid deposits and investments are readily convertible into known 
cash amounts and are subject to insignificant risk of changes of value.

9. � Reconciliation of profit for the year to net cash inflow from operating activities
2015 2014

Notes $m $m

Profit for the year  315.2  223.4 

Non-cash items
Depreciation and amortisation  43.2  36.8 
Amortisation of share-based payments  13.0  13.9 
Unrealised exchange (gains)/losses (4.0)  0.7 
Amortisation of debt transaction costs  1.7  3.5 
Amortisation of other financing arrangements  0.9  1.8 
Aggregated tax amounts arising in the reporting period recognised directly in equity  7.7 (11.1)
Share of results of equity accounted investments (21.7) (18.7)

Items relating to step acquisitions
Fair value (gains) on step acquisitions 21 (100.3)  - 

Classified as financing and investing activities
Transaction costs expensed relating to financing activities  -  1.0 
Settlement of non-operating hedge  14.9  - 

Change in operating assets and liabilities:
(Increase) in trade and other receivables (19.0) (22.8)
(Increase) in other financial assets (24.2) (2.1)
Decrease/(increase) in deferred tax assets  13.7 (10.1)
(Increase)/decrease in current tax assets (9.3)  0.1 
Increase in trade and other payables  28.0  14.8 
Increase in deferred income  57.9  9.9 
(Decrease) in current tax liability (2.9) (3.8)
Increase/(decrease) in provisions  7.2 (6.5)
Increase/(decrease) in deferred tax liability  5.9 (4.9)
Increase in other financial liabilities  4.5  0.1 

Exchange (gain)/loss on translation of foreign operations (51.0)  8.8 

Net cash inflow from operating activities  281.4  234.8 
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10.  Financial risk management
This note explains the Group’s exposure to financial risk and how these risks could affect the Group’s future financial 
performance.  Current year profit and loss information has been included where relevant to add further context.

Risk Exposure arising from Measurement Management

Market risk – foreign exchange Recognised financial assets and 
liabilities not denominated in AUD

Sensitivity analysis Forward foreign exchange 
contracts 
Foreign currency debt

Future commercial transactions Cash flow forecasting
Market risk – price risk Investment in a security listed on 

the Malaysian Stock Exchange 
(Bursa Malaysia)

Sensitivity analysis N/A

Market risk – interest rate Long-term borrowings at variable 
interest rates

Sensitivity analysis Interest rate swaps

Credit risk Cash and cash equivalents, trade 
receivables, derivative financial 
instruments and available-for-
sale debt instruments

Ageing analysis 
Credit ratings

Credit limits

Liquidity risk Borrowings and other liabilities Ageing analysis 
Credit ratings

Availability of committed 
borrowing facilities

The Group’s risk management is carried out by a central treasury department (Group Treasury) under policies approved by 
the Board of Directors. Group Treasury identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks in close co-operation with the Group’s 
operating units. The Board provides written principles for overall risk management, as well as policies covering specific 
areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, use of derivative financial instruments and non-derivative 
financial instruments, and investment of excess liquidity.

The Group holds the following financial instruments:

2015 2014
Notes $m $m

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 8  449.6  323.0 
Trade and other receivables(1)  98.7  78.8 

Other financial assets 12(a)(b)  127.7  89.3 

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables  116.9  84.9 
Other financial liabilities 16  10.0  8.2 

Borrowings (principal)  991.1  404.9 

1. Trade and other receivables in the table excludes prepayments which are not classified as financial instruments.

The carrying value of the assets and liabilities disclosed in the table above closely approximates or equals their fair value.

Borrowings are issued at variable interest rates (for details of the maturity of borrowings, refer to note 15).  Cash and cash 
equivalents (refer to note 8) and funds on deposit for entrusted loan facilities (note 12) attract interest at variable interest 
rates. All other financial assets and liabilities are non-interest bearing.
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10. Financial risk management continued 
(a)  Market risk

(i) Derivatives

Accounting policy
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured to their 
fair value at each reporting period. The accounting for subsequent changes in fair value depends on whether the derivative is designated 
as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged. The Group designates certain derivatives as either:

•	 hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities or a firm commitment (fair value hedge);

•	 hedges of a particular risk associated with the cash flows of recognised assets and liabilities and highly probable forecast 
transactions (cash flow hedges);or

•	 hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation (net investment hedges).

Hedge effectiveness is determined at the inception of the hedge relationship, and through periodic prospective effectiveness 
assessments to ensure that an economic relationship exists between the hedged item and hedging instrument.  The Group enters into 
hedge relationships where the critical terms of the hedging instrument exactly match the terms of the hedged item, and so a qualitative 
assessment is performed. If changes in circumstances affect the terms of the hedged item such that the critical terms no longer match 
exactly with the critical terms of the hedging instrument, the Group uses the hypothetical derivative method to assess effectiveness.

Movements in the hedging reserve in shareholders’ equity are shown in note 19. The full fair value of a hedging derivative is classified 
as a non-current asset or liability when the remaining maturity of the hedged item is more than 12 months; it is classified as a current 
asset or liability when the remaining maturity of the hedged item is less than 12 months.

(i)  Fair value hedge
Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in profit or loss, together with 
any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the hedged risk. The gain or loss relating to the 
effective portion of interest rate swaps hedging fixed rate borrowings is recognised in profit or loss within “finance costs”, together 
with the changes in the fair value of the hedge fixed rate borrowings attributable to interest rate risk. The gain or loss relating to the 
ineffective portion is recognised in profit or loss within “operations and administration expenses”.

If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, the adjustment to the carrying amount of a hedged item for which the 
effective interest method is used is amortised to profit or loss over the period to maturity using a recalculated effective interest rate.

(ii)  Cash flow hedge
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges are recognised in 
other comprehensive income and accumulated in reserves in equity. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss within “operating and administration expenses”.

Amounts accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit or loss in the periods when the hedged item affects profit or loss. The gain 
or loss relating to the effective portion of interest rate swaps hedging variable rate borrowings is recognised in profit or loss within 
“finance costs”.

The gain or loss relating to the effective portion of other derivative instruments, where the underlying exposure is not related to funding 
the Company, is recognised within profit or loss within “operations and administration expenses”.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold or terminated, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any 
cumulative gain or loss existing in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised when the forecast transaction is ultimately 
recognised in profit or loss. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in 
equity is immediately reclassified to profit or loss.

(iii)  Net investment hedges

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations are accounted for similarly to cash flow hedges.

Any gain or loss on the hedging instrument relating to the effective portion of the hedge is recognised in other comprehensive income 
and accumulated in reserves in equity. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in profit or loss 
within “operating and administration expenses”.

Gains and losses accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit or loss when the foreign operation is partially disposed of or sold.

(iv)  Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting
Certain derivative instruments do not qualify for hedge accounting. Changes in the fair value of any derivative instrument that does not 
qualify for hedge accounting are recognised immediately in profit or loss and are included in “operating and administration expenses”.
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Derivatives are only used for economic hedging purposes and not as speculative instruments.  The Group has the following 
derivative financial instruments:

2015 2014
$m $m

Current assets

Forward foreign exchange options - cash flow hedge (ii)  12.2  1.3 
Forward foreign exchange contracts - cash flow hedges  0.9  - 
Forward foreign exchange contracts - held for trading  1.0  0.3 

Cross currency swap contracts - net investment hedge  -  0.5 

Total current derivative financial assets  14.1  2.1 

Current liabilities

Interest rate swap contracts - cash flow hedges  2.8  1.0 
Cross currency swap contracts - net investment hedge  7.2  3.2 
Forward foreign exchange contracts - cash flow hedges  -  0.1 

Forward foreign exchange contracts - held for trading  -  2.5 

Total current derivative financial liabilities  10.0  6.8 

(ii)  Forward foreign exchange options - cash flow hedges

The Group maintains borrowings denominated in USD.  In order to protect against unfavourable exchange rate movements, 
the Group has taken out forward foreign exchange option contracts to purchase USD.

These option contracts have purchased calls between 0.86-0.74 and sold puts between 0.75-0.69, with exercise dates in 
January 2015 and July 2016.

(iii)  Foreign exchange risk
The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, 
predominantly the US dollar (USD), Singapore dollar (SGD), Hong Kong dollar (HKD), Malaysian Ringgit (MYR), New Zealand 
dollar (NZD), Brazilian Real (BRL), Mexican Peso (MXN) and Chinese Yuan (RMB). The Group’s exposure to these and other 
currencies is detailed on the following page.

Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities are denominated in 
a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency.  Forward contracts are sometimes used to manage foreign currency 
exchange risk. Group Treasury is responsible for managing exposures by using external forward currency contracts, for 
example for one-off significant transactions. 

During the year, SEEK has maintained borrowings in USD. The US$273.0m borrowings held by SEEK Limited has been 
designated as a hedge against its overseas investments, thereby protecting this portion of assets against depreciation of the 
USD over the life of the loan.  The Group has also entered into cross-currency swap contracts to create synthetic borrowings 
in the currency of foreign subsidiaries to protect the Group balance sheet against volatility due to movements in foreign 
exchange rates.

The Group’s foreign exchange risk management policy is to hedge up to 100% of anticipated significant cash flows in foreign 
currencies for up to a six month period. The forward foreign currency exchange contracts taken up by the Group are regularly 
reassessed. The derivative instruments used for hedging foreign exchange exposures are forward exchange contracts and 
purchased net forward exchange option contracts.
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The analysis below reflects management’s view of possible movements in relevant foreign currencies against the Australian 
dollar in the short term subsequent to 30 June 2015. The table summarises the range of possible outcomes that would affect 
the Group’s net profit as a result of foreign currency movements.

Profit or Loss

2015 2014
$m $m

High Low High Low

AUD to NZD (Range +5% to -5%) (0.1)  0.1  -  - 
AUD to GBP (Range +5% to -5%)  -  -  0.1 (0.1)
AUD to MYR (Range +5% to -5%)  0.1 (0.1)  -  - 
AUD to USD (Range +5% to -5%)  0.1 (0.1)  0.5 (0.5)
HKD to PHP (Range +5% to -5%)  -  -  -  - 
HKD to IDR (Range +5% to -5%)  -  -  -  - 
HKD to MYR (Range +5% to -5%) (0.3)  0.3  0.1 (0.1)
HKD to SGD (Range +5% to -5%) (0.2)  0.2  -  - 
HKD to RMB (Range +5% to -5%) (0.2)  0.2 (0.1)  0.2 
HKD to USD (Range +5% to -5%)  0.7 (0.7)  0.4 (0.5)
HKD to AUD (Range +5% to -5%)  -  -  -  - 
MXN to USD (Range +5% to -5%)  0.2 (0.2)  0.2 (0.2)
BRL to USD (Range +5% to -5%)  -  -  -  - 

RMB to USD (Range +5% to -5%)  -  - (0.4)  0.4 

Net movement  0.3 (0.3)  0.8 (0.8)

(iv)  Price risk
The Group is exposed to equity securities price risk, which arises from the Group’s investment in JobStreet Corporation 
Berhad (“JCB”), as detailed in note 12(b).  This investment is sensitive to the prevailing market price listed on the Bursa 
Malaysia. The underlying asset is denominated in Malaysian Ringgit (MYR).

The closing quoted share price as at 30 June 2015 was MYR1.96.  If the share price were to increase/decrease by 10%, the 
carrying value of the investment would increase/decrease by MYR5.5m (A$1.9m).  Gains and losses on this investment are 
recorded in other comprehensive income.

(v)  Cash flow interest rate risk
The Group’s main interest rate risk arises from long-term borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the Group 
to cash flow interest rate risk.

As part of its capital risk management policy the Group protects part of its borrowings from exposure to fluctuations in 
interest rates. The Group has entered into interest rate swap and interest rate option contracts under which it receives 
interest at variable rates and pays interest at fixed rates.

Syndicated loan facility
Swaps and options currently in place cover approximately 62% (2014: 84%) of the variable loan principal outstanding on the 
Group’s loan facility and are timed to expire as each loan repayment falls due. Refer to note 15 for further details.
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10. Financial risk management continued
(a)  Market risk continued
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the following variable rate borrowings and interest rate swap 
contracts outstanding:

2015 2014

Weighted 
average 

interest rate

Weighted 
average 

interest rate
% $m % $m

AUD denominated borrowings

Bank loans - principal 4.1%  435.0 4.8%  226.0 

Less amounts covered by interest rate swaps 2.9% (320.0) 3.1% (200.0)

 115.0  26.0 

USD denominated borrowings

Bank loan - principal 2.1%  353.9 2.4%  106.0 
Entrusted loan facilities 1.4%  59.6 2.3%  58.3 

Less amounts covered by interest rate swaps 0.3% (212.6) 0.8% (121.0)

 200.9  43.3 

RMB denominated borrowings

Entrusted loan facilities 5.0%  - 3.2%  14.6 

Less amounts covered by interest rate swaps n/a  - n/a  - 

 -  14.6 

HKD denominated borrowings

Loan facility 4.8%  58.5 4.6%  - 

Less amount covered by interest rate swaps 0.9% (32.4) 0.9% (20.5)

 26.1 (20.5)

SGD denominated borrowings

Loan facility 4.1% 84.0 n/a  - 

Less amount covered by interest rate swaps 0.8% (48.1) n/a  - 

35.9  - 

Total Group borrowings

Total borrowings 3.5%  991.0 3.9%  404.9 

Less amounts covered by interest rate swaps 1.7% (613.1) 2.2% (341.5)

 377.9  63.4 

The interest rate and term for bank borrowings is determined at the date of each drawdown. The weighted average interest 
rate for the year ended 30 June 2015 was 3.5% (2014: 3.9%). At 30 June 2015 if the weighted average interest rate of the facility 
had been 10% higher or 10% lower, interest expense would increase/decrease by $2.5m.

Cash balances
As at 30 June 2015, the Group has $26.3m (2014: $34.2m) held in bank deposits, debentures and fixed income funds held by 
the subsidiaries of SEEK’s controlled entities Brasil Online, Zhaopin and OCC, which attract a higher rate of interest.

The Group’s bank accounts are predominantly interest bearing accounts. Funds that are excess to short‑term liquidity 
requirements are generally invested in short‑term deposits. Where excess funds are significantly in excess of short‑term 
requirements, they are then applied to reduce the syndicated loan facility balance, thus reducing interest payable.

At 30 June 2015, if the interest rates on interest bearing cash balances were to move 10% higher or 10% lower than the 
weighted average rate of 3.2%, annual interest income would increase/decrease by $1.3m respectively. 
 

(b)  Credit risk
The Group’s exposure to credit risk arises from the potential default of the Group’s trade and other receivables as well as the 
institutions in which the Group’s cash and cash equivalents are deposited, and with whom derivative instruments are traded, 
with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these assets. Further details of the Group’s trade receivables are 
included in note 11, and cash and cash equivalents are detailed in note 8.



73SEEK Limited Annual Report 2015

For trade and other receivables, the Group does not hold any credit derivatives or collateral to offset its credit exposure. Due 
to the short‑term nature of these receivables, their carrying amount is assumed to approximate their fair value.

Group trade receivables at 30 June 2015 were $62.2m (note 11).

The domestic Employment and Learning business accounts for 59% of gross trade receivables with a customer base 
comprising of agencies, national/major accounts and small and medium enterprises (SMEs). Credit risk assessments are 
conducted on new and renegotiated contracts to evaluate each customer’s creditworthiness.

The International business represents 41% of gross trade receivables and the exposure to credit risk is relatively low due to 
the credit terms provided and the large and diverse customer base.

Credit risk is managed in the following ways:

•	 The provision of credit is covered by a risk assessment process for all customers (e.g. appropriate credit history, credit 
limits, past experience); and

•	 Concentrations of credit risk are minimised by undertaking transactions with a large number of customers.

The Group’s treasury policy only authorises dealings with financial institutions that have an investment grade rating.

(c)  Liquidity risk
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and ensuring that all term deposits can be converted 
to funds at call. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying businesses, Group Treasury aims to maintain flexibility in funding 
by keeping accessible the cash reserves of the business. The Group maintains borrowing facilities to enable the Group to 
borrow funds when necessary.  For details of these facilities, refer to note 15.

All other financial liabilities are current and anticipated to be repaid over the normal payment terms, usually 30 days.

(i)  Financial arrangements
The Group had access to the following borrowing facilities at the end of the reporting period:

Drawn Undrawn Total

2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
$m $m $m $m $m $m

Floating rate

Expiring within one year  214.8  22.2  30.0  -  244.8  22.2 

Expiring beyond one year  776.2  382.7  5.2  426.7  781.4  809.4 

 991.0  404.9  35.2  426.7  1,026.2  831.6 

Subject to the continuance of meeting certain financial covenants, the bank loan facilities may be drawn down at any time. 
Refer to note 15 for further details of the Group’s borrowing arrangements. 

(ii)  Maturities of financial liabilities
The tables below analyse the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on their contractual 
maturities for:

a.	 all non-derivative financial liabilities, and

b.	 net and gross settled derivative financial instruments for which the contractual maturities are essential for an 
understanding of the timing of the cash flows.

The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their 
carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not significant. For interest rate swaps the cash flows have been estimated 
using forward interest rates applicable at the end of the reporting period.
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10. Financial risk management continued

(c)  Liquidity risk continued

Contractual maturities of 
financial liabilities

Less than 6 
months

6 to  
12 months

Between 1 
and 2 years

Between 2 
and 5 years Over 5 years

Total 
contractual 
cash flows

Carrying 
amount 

(assets) / 
liabilities

$m $m $m $m $m $m $m

At 30 June 2015

Non-derivatives
Trade payables  116.9  -  -  -  -  116.9  116.9 

Borrowings  31.1  213.0  377.5  426.6  -  1,048.2  991.0 

Total non-derivatives  148.0  213.0  377.5  426.6  -  1,165.1  1,107.9 

Derivatives
Net settled (interest rate 
swaps)  1.5  1.2  0.9  0.3  -  3.9  2.8 
Gross settled (forward 
foreign exchange contracts 
- net investment hedges)

 - (inflow) (0.6) (0.6) (36.5)  -  - (37.7)  - 
 - outflow  0.2  0.2  43.5  -  -  43.9  7.2 

 1.1  0.8  7.9  0.3  -  10.1  10.0 

Contractual maturities of 
financial liabilities

Less than 6 
months

6 to  
12 months

Between 1 and 
2 years

Between 2 and 
5 years Over 5 years

Total 
contractual 
cash flows

Carrying 
amount 

(assets) / 
liabilities

$m $m $m $m $m $m $m

At 30 June 2014

Non-derivatives
Trade payables  84.9  -  -  -  -  84.9  84.9 
Borrowings  6.0  28.0  242.0  153.0  -  429.0  404.9 
Total non-derivatives  90.9  28.0  242.0  153.0  -  513.9  489.8 

Derivatives
Net settled (interest rate 
swaps)  0.8  0.7  -  -  -  1.5  1.0 
Gross settled (forward 
foreign exchange contracts 
- net investment hedges)

 - (inflow) (1.4) (51.4) (1.2) (36.5)  - (90.5) (0.5)
 - outflow  0.4  53.6  0.4  35.7  -  90.1  3.2 

(0.2)  2.9 (0.8) (0.8)  -  1.1  3.7 
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(d)  Fair value measurements
SEEK discloses fair value measurements by level of the following fair value measurement hierarchy:

a.	 quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1);

b.	 inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (as 
prices) or indirectly (derived from prices) (level 2);and

c.	 inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs) (level 3).

At 30 June 2015 the Group held at fair value the following financial instruments (refer to note 12 and note 16):

Level 1
•	 Non-current financial assets $19.0m;

Level 2
•	 Derivative financial assets $14.1m;

•	 Derivative financial liabilities $10.0m.

(e)  Capital risk management
The Group’s policy is to maintain a capital structure for the business which ensures sufficient liquidity and support for 
business operations, maintains shareholder and market confidence, provides strong stakeholder returns, and positions the 
business for future growth. In assessing capital management the Group considers both equity and debt instruments.

The ongoing maintenance of this policy is characterised by:

•	 Ongoing cash flow forecast analysis and detailed budgeting processes which, combined with continual development 
of banking relationships, is directed at providing a sound financial positioning for the Group’s operations and financial 
management activities;

•	 A capital structure that provides adequate funding for the Group’s potential acquisition and investment strategies, building 
future growth in shareholder value. The syndicated loan facility can be partly used to fund significant investments as part of 
the Group’s growth strategy;

•	 Investment criteria that consider earnings accretion and risk adjusted rate of return requirements based on the Group’s 
weighted average cost of capital, and overall strategic goals;

•	 The Group is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements, other than contractual banking covenants and 
obligations. The Company has complied with all bank lending requirements during the year and at the date of this report.
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11.  Trade and other receivables
2015 2014

$m $m

Trade receivables  62.2  49.2 

Less: provisions for impairment of receivables (a) (3.3) (3.7)

Net trade receivables (b)  58.9  45.5 
Other receivables (c)  39.8  33.3 

Prepayments  21.5  17.7 

Trade and other receivables  120.2  96.5 

(a)  Provisions for impaired trade receivables

Movements in the provision for impairment of receivables are as follows:

2015 2014
Notes $m $m

Opening balances  3.7  6.6 
Provision for impairment recognised during the year  2.3  4.2 
Utilisation of provision for credit notes and receivables written off (2.7) (4.4)
Unused amount reversed (0.1) (0.2)
Acquisition of subsidiaries 21  0.1  - 
Disposal of subsidiaries  - (2.4)

Exchange differences  - (0.1)

Closing balance  3.3  3.7 
Comprising:
Provision for doubtful debts  2.5  3.1 

Credit note provision  0.8  0.6 

 3.3  3.7 

The creation or release of the doubtful debts provision has been included in ‘operations and administration’ expense in the 
consolidated income statement and the creation or the release of the credit note provision has been included within revenue.  
Amounts charged to the provision are generally written off when there is no expectation of recovering additional cash.

Accounting policy
Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, 
less provision for impairment. This provision includes amounts that are not considered to be recoverable from debtors and amounts that 
are expected to be credited to debtors. Trade receivables are generally due for settlement within 30 days. They are presented as current 
assets unless collection is not expected for more than 12 months after the reporting date.

Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts which are known to be uncollectible are written off by reducing 
the carrying amount directly. A provision for impairment of trade receivables is used when there is objective evidence that the Group will 
not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, 
probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments (more than 30 days 
overdue) are considered indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. The amount of the impairment allowance is the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest 
rate. Cash flows relating to short-term receivables are not discounted if the effect of discounting is immaterial. In addition, the trade 
receivables balances are considered for credit notes that are expected to be raised against individual and collective balances.

The amount of the provision relating to non-collectible items is recognised in the consolidated income statement in “operations and 
administration” expense. The amount of the provision for amounts that are expected to be credited is recognised in the consolidated 
income statement in “revenue from continuing operations”. Trade receivables which are known to be uncollectible are written off against 
the provision for impairment. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off to the provision for impairment are credited 
against “operations and administration” expense in the consolidated income statement.
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(b)  Ageing of net trade receivables from due date
2015 2014

$m $m

Current - 30 days  50.2  38.0 
30 - 60 days(1)  5.3  4.1 
60 - 90 days(1)  1.9  1.3 
90 - 120 days(1)  0.9  0.6 

120+  days(1)  0.6  1.5 

Closing balance  58.9  45.5 

1. Past due and not considered impaired.  Trade receivables are considered past due when they are not collected within credit terms.

The Group does not hold any collateral in relation to these receivables.

(c)  Other receivables
The other receivables balance mainly represents accrued revenue in the SEEK Learning business and amounts receivable 
from employees on exercise of share options in Zhaopin.

The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets and are not past due. Based on the credit 
history of these other classes, it is expected that these amounts will be received when due.

(d)  Fair value and credit risk 
Due to the short-term nature of these receivables, their carrying amount is assumed to approximate their fair value.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying amount of each class of receivables mentioned 
above. Refer to note 10 for more information on the risk management policy of the Group and the credit quality of the Group’s 
trade receivables.

12.  Other financial assets

Accounting policy
Financial assets are recognised on the trade date at which the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value.  If the financial asset is not subsequently accounted for at fair value through profit 
or loss, then the initial measurement includes transaction costs that are directly attributable to the asset’s acquisition or origination.   
On initial recognition, the Group classifies its financial assets as subsequently measured at either amortised cost or fair value, 
depending on its business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets.

(i) Financial assets measured at amortised cost
A financial asset is subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method and net of any impairment loss, if:

•	 The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows; and

•	 The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise, on specified dates, to collect cash flows that are solely payments of principal 
and interest.

(ii) Financial assets measured at fair value	
These assets are measured at fair value and changes therein, including any interest or dividend income, are recognised in profit or 
loss. However, for investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading, the Group may elect at initial recognition to present 
gains and losses in other comprehensive income.  For such investments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, 
gains and losses are never reclassified to profit or loss, and no impairment is recognised in profit or loss.  Dividends earned from such 
investments are recognised in profit or loss, unless the dividend clearly represents a repayment of part of the cost of the investment.

(iii) Impairment
The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial 
assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if there is 
objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a “loss event”) 
and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that 
can be reliably estimated.
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12.  Other financial assets continued
(a)  Current financial assets

2015 2014
$m $m

Hedge assets (i)  14.1  2.1 
Short-term bonds  0.1  0.2 

Funds on deposit for entrusted loan facilities (ii)  48.9  24.3 

Total other current financial assets  63.1  26.6 

(b)  Non-current financial assets
2015 2014

$m $m

Funds on deposit for entrusted loan facilities (ii)  44.6  62.0 
Investment in equity instruments (iii)  19.0  - 

Non-current prepayments  1.0  0.7 

Total other non-current financial assets  64.6  62.7 

(i)  Hedge assets
The Group is party to derivative financial instruments in the normal course of business in order to hedge exposure to 
fluctuations in interest and foreign exchange rates in accordance with the Group’s financial risk management policies (refer to 
note 10).

The Group has taken out forward foreign exchange contracts and foreign exchange option contracts to protect against 
unfavourable exchange rate movements.

A gain of $14.1m has been recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income reflecting the fair value of 
these hedges at 30 June 2015. 

Refer to note 10(a)(i) for further information regarding the Group’s hedge assets.

(ii)  Funds on deposit for entrusted loan facilities
Zhaopin entrusted loan facilities are supported by funds on deposit of RMB 441.1m (A$93.5m). Refer to note 15(b)(ii) for 
further information.

Funds on deposit includes RMB 87.9m (A$18.6m) which was held to support a RMB 85.0m facility that was repaid in June 
2015.  The process to release the funds from deposit remained in progress at 30 June 2015, and the cash was subsequently 
received in July 2015.

(iii)  Investment in equity instruments
SEEK has elected at initial recognition to record gains and losses of this investment in other comprehensive income.

2015 2014
Shares - JobStreet Corporation Berhad ("JCB") Notes $m $m

Fair value as at 1 July  -  - 
Transfer from investments accounted for using the equity method 21(c)  14.1  - 

Change in fair value  4.9  - 

Fair value as at 30 June  19.0  - 
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13.  Intangible assets

Accounting policy
(i)  Goodwill
Goodwill is measured as described in note 21. Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. Goodwill on 
acquisitions of associates is included in investments in associates. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying 
amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is not amortised but it is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that it might be impaired, and is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for 
the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is made to those cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating units that are 
expected to benefit from the business combination in which the goodwill arose, identified according to operating segments.

(ii)  Brands and licences
Indefinite life brands and licences are carried at cost less any impairment losses and are not amortised. Instead, they are tested for 
impairment annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired, and are carried at 
cost or fair value less accumulated impairment losses. Brands and licences with a finite useful life are carried at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and impairment. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of the asset over its 
estimated useful life.

(iii)  Course development and accreditation
Costs incurred on developing and designing courses are recognised as an expense unless it is probable that the course will generate 
future economic benefits and its cost can be measured reliably. Course development expenditure is recognised as an asset at cost less 
any impairment losses. Once delivery of the course to which the development costs relate has commenced the associated costs are 
amortised over the life of the accreditation, which is five years.

(iv)  Customer relationships
Acquired customer relationships have a finite useful life and are carried at fair value at acquisition date less accumulated amortisation 
and impairment losses. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of the asset over its estimated 
useful life, which is between one and five years.

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(i)  Estimated impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives
Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are allocated to a cash-generating-unit (CGU) or group of CGUs and tested 
annually to determine whether they have suffered any impairment in accordance with the accounting policy stated below. 

The recoverable amounts of the CGU or group of CGUs to which the assets have been allocated have been determined based on value-
in-use or fair value calculations. These calculations are performed based on cash flow projections and other supplementary information 
which, given their forward looking nature, require the adoption of assumptions and estimates. 

The key assumptions and estimates utilised in management’s assessments relate primarily to:

•	 Five or ten year cash flow forecasts sourced from internal budgets and long‑term management forecasts;

•	 Terminal value growth rates applied to the period beyond the five or ten year cash flow forecasts; and

•	 Pre-tax discount rates, used to discount the cash flows to present value.

Each of these assumptions and estimates is based on a “best estimate” at the time of performing the valuation. However, increases in 
discount rates or changes in other key assumptions, such as operating conditions or financial performance, may cause the carrying 
values of CGUs or groups of CGUs to exceed their recoverable amounts.

(ii)  Indefinite useful lives
Management has determined that some of the intangible assets (brands and licences) recognised as part of business combinations have 
indefinite useful lives. These assets have no legal or contractual expiry date and are integral to future revenue generation. Management 
intends to continue to promote, maintain and defend the brands and licences to the extent necessary to maintain their values for the 
foreseeable future.

Management assesses the useful lives of the Group’s intangible assets at the end of each reporting period. If an intangible asset is no 
longer considered to have an indefinite useful life, this change is accounted for prospectively.
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13. Intangible assets continued

Goodwill

Brands 
and 

licences

Course 
development 

and 
accreditation

Customer 
relationships

Computer 
software 

and website 
development

Work in 
progress Total

Notes $m $m $m $m $m $m $m

At 1 July 2013
Cost  1,291.4  282.8  11.3  47.8  54.0  2.6  1,689.9 
Accumulated amortisation  -  - (5.2) (22.4) (26.7)  - (54.3)

Net book amount  1,291.4  282.8  6.1  25.4  27.3  2.6  1,635.6 

Year ended 30 June 2014
Opening net book amount  1,291.4  282.8  6.1  25.4  27.3  2.6  1,635.6 
Exchange differences (35.7) (7.5)  - (0.6) (0.2)  - (44.0)
Additions  -  -  0.9  -  2.6  28.3  31.8 
Transfers  -  -  -  -  23.7 (23.7)  - 
Acquisition of subsidiaries(1)  1.1  1.0  -  0.3  3.0  -  5.4 
Disposal of subsidiaries(2) 5 (60.6) (19.3) (6.4) (0.3) (1.8) (0.3) (88.7)
Amortisation charge(3) 5  -  - (0.6) (11.8) (13.8)  - (26.2)

Closing net book amount  1,196.2  257.0  -  13.0  40.8  6.9  1,513.9 

At 30 June 2014 
Cost  1,196.2  257.0  -  42.9  77.5  6.9  1,580.5 
Accumulated amortisation  -  -  - (29.9) (36.7)  - (66.6)

Net book amount  1,196.2  257.0  -  13.0  40.8  6.9  1,513.9 
Opening net book amount  1,196.2  257.0  -  13.0  40.8  6.9  1,513.9 
Exchange differences  160.8  34.1  -  1.7  1.5  -  198.1 
Additions  -  -  -  -  1.0  39.1  40.1 
Transfers  -  -  -  -  41.0 (41.0)  - 
Acquisition of subsidiaries(1) 21(b)  590.1  81.6  -  16.0  1.2  -  688.9 

Amortisation charge(3) 5  -  -  - (14.0) (17.4)  - (31.4)

Closing net book amount  1,947.1  372.7  -  16.7  68.1  5.0  2,409.6 

At 30 June 2015
Cost  1,947.1  372.7  -  66.5  121.9  5.0  2,513.2 

Accumulated amortisation  -  -  - (49.8) (53.8)  - (103.6)

Net book amount  1,947.1  372.7  -  16.7  68.1  5.0  2,409.6 

1. Includes identifiable intangible assets acquired through the purchase of JobStreet (2014: Jora).
2. Includes THINK and DWT.
3. Amortisation charges have been included within 'operations and administration' expenses in the consolidated income statement.
 

Accounting policy continued 

(v)  Computer software and website development
Costs incurred in acquiring, developing and implementing new websites or software are recognised as intangible assets only when it is 
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. 
The expenditure capitalised comprises all directly attributable costs, including costs of materials, services, licences and direct labour. 

Software has a finite useful life and is carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. Amortisation is calculated 
using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of software over its estimated useful life, which is between three and five years.

Website developments have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. 
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of website developments over their estimated useful lives, 
which is between three and five years.

(vi)  Work in progress
Work in progress (WIP) represents intangible assets of other classes not yet put into use. These assets are transferred to the other class 
on the date of completion.
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(a)  Cash-generating-units (CGUs)
For the purpose of undertaking impairment testing, the Group has determined its CGUs as the smallest group of assets that 
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets. This assessment 
is usually determined by considering business and operating segments and areas of operation.

A summary by CGU of the carrying amount of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives is detailed  below:

2015 2014

Goodwill

 Intangible 
assets with 

indefinite 
useful lives Goodwill

 Intangible 
assets with 

indefinite 
useful lives 

Business division CGU / Group of CGUs  $m  $m  $m  $m 

Domestic SEEK New Zealand  5.2  -  5.6  - 
Domestic SEEK Learning  3.7  -  3.7  - 
Domestic Jora  1.1  -  1.1  1.0 
International SEEK Asia (i)  986.9  137.0  295.4  41.8 
International Zhaopin  533.1  154.9  432.6  125.8 
International Brasil Online (ii)  277.1  58.0  319.2  66.8 

International OCC  140.0  21.8  138.6  21.6 

Total  1,947.1  371.7  1,196.2  257.0 

(i)  SEEK Asia
SEEK Asia is a leading provider of online employment marketplaces operating across seven countries throughout Asia. 
The goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives relating to SEEK Asia are a significant component of the 
consolidated balance sheet. The goodwill for this business is attributable to the strong market position it holds and the high 
growth potential in these emerging markets.

Each country has been determined as a CGU. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill and intangible asset balances 
are assessed on the following basis:

•	 Goodwill is tested across the group of CGUs that comprise SEEK Asia as the goodwill balance contributes to the generation 
of cash flows across the whole of the businesses;

•	 The JobsDB and JobStreet brands are tested across the group of CGUs that comprise SEEK Asia as a high level of 
integration has been achieved in the period post acquisition of JobStreet in November 2014, with management having 
exercised its ability to direct cash flows from one brand to the other; and

•	 Other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested at the applicable CGU level.

(ii)  Brasil Online
Brasil Online operates the two leading online employment marketplaces in Brazil, Catho Online and Manager Online, and 
considers them as two CGUs. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill and intangible asset balances are assessed on 
the following basis:

•	 Goodwill is tested across the group of CGUs that comprise Brasil Online as the goodwill balance contributes to the 
generation of cash flows across the whole of the businesses; and

•	 Other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested at the applicable CGU level.

(b)  Impairment testing and key assumptions
The Group tests whether goodwill and other intangible assets have suffered any impairment in accordance with the 
accounting policy stated above. The recoverable amounts of assets and CGUs have been determined based on the higher of 
value-in-use and fair value less costs to sell. These calculations require the use of key assumptions on which management 
has based its cash flow projections, as well as pre-tax discount rates.

The cash flow projections were derived from management forecasts based on next year’s budgeted result, with the remaining 
years based on management forecasts. Management’s cash flow forecasts have been compiled based on past experience, 
current performance and market position as well as structural changes and economic factors which have been derived based 
on external data and internal analysis.

Key structural and market factors
Key assumptions relating to structural and market factors have been derived under a consistent approach to the prior year 
impairment assessment, utilising past experience, external data and internal analysis. The key structural and market factors 
considered comprise:
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13. Intangible assets continued

(b)  Impairment testing and key assumptions continued
Online employment businesses
Labour market growth, rising internet penetration, continued structural migration of advertising expenditure from print to 
online mediums and GDP growth. Management also anticipate growth from increased market penetration and continued 
evolution of products and services.

SEEK Learning
Regulatory environment and funding, as well as economic trends which have an impact on the types of courses students 
require and mode of study.

Key assumptions

CGU / Group of CGUs Valuation method

Years of 
cash flow 

projection
Real terminal 

growth rate

Pre-tax discount rate %

2015 2014

SEEK New Zealand Value in use 5 0% 17.4 18.4
SEEK Learning Value in use 5 0% 15.3 14.9
Jora (i) Fair value less costs of disposal n/a n/a n/a n/a
SEEK Asia (ii) Fair value less costs of disposal n/a n/a n/a 15.7
Zhaopin (iii) Fair value less costs of disposal n/a n/a n/a n/a
Brasil Online Fair value less costs of disposal 10 0% 21.7 21.1
OCC Fair value less costs of disposal 10 0% 17.8 17.6

(i) Jora
On 26 November 2013, the Group acquired 100% controlling interest in Job Seeker Pty Ltd (Jora), an Australian-based search 
engine for jobs. At 30 June 2015, the recoverable amount of its assets have been determined based on fair value less costs of 
disposal, with reference to the recent purchase price of the acquired interest. There are no indicators to suggest that the fair 
value of Jora has significantly changed since acquisition.

(ii)  SEEK Asia
On 2 June 2015, the Group acquired a further 5.2% interest in SEEK Asia. At 30 June 2015, the recoverable amount of 
its assets have been determined based on fair value less cost of disposal, with reference to the recent purchase price 
of the acquired interest. There are no indicators to suggest that the fair value of SEEK Asia has significantly changed 
since acquisition.

(iii)  Zhaopin
Zhaopin is the leading career platform in China focusing on connecting candidates with relevant job opportunities throughout 
their career lifecycle. On 12 June 2014, Zhaopin successfully listed on the New York Stock Exchange. The recoverable amounts 
of Zhaopin’s assets as at 30 June 2015 have been assessed with reference to its listed share price and cross-referenced 
against other supplementary internal analysis.

(c) Sensitivity analysis
Future net cash flows of these CGUs are based on the key assumptions noted above, each of which are subject to some 
uncertainty. Any reasonable change in the key assumptions would not result in the carrying amounts exceeding their 
recoverable amounts.

14.  Net tangible asset backing
2015 2014

cents per 
share

cents per 
share

Net tangible asset backing per share  (176.75)  (13.32)

A large proportion of the Group’s assets are intangible in nature, consisting of goodwill and identifiable intangible assets 
relating to businesses acquired. These assets are excluded from the calculation of net tangible assets per security, which 
results in the negative outcome.

Net assets per share at 30 June 2015 was $5.23 (30 June 2014: $4.31).
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15.  Borrowings

(a)  Current borrowings
2015 2014

$m $m

Bank borrowings- principal (i)  153.0  - 
Entrusted loan facilities (ii)  25.9  22.2 

Short-term loan (iii)  36.0  - 

Total current borrowings  214.9  22.2 

(b)  Non-current borrowings
2015 2014

$m $m

Bank borrowings - principal (i)  635.9  332.0 
Entrusted loan facilities (ii)  33.7  50.7 
Long-term loan (iii)  106.6  - 

Less:  transaction costs capitalised (6.9) (2.9)

Total non-current borrowings  769.3  379.8 

(i)  Syndicated facility (unsecured) - SEEK Limited
On 5 March 2014, the Group re-financed its syndicated debt facility and the pre-existing facility comprising A$350m and 
US$100.0m, was extinguished.  A new syndicated facility was established, and as per the previous facility, the structure is a 
revolving, unsecured, syndicated senior debt facility.  Key features of the facility include:

•	 Tranche A:  A$183.0m (2 years);

•	 Tranche B: A$282.0m (3 years);

•	 Tranche C: US$273.0m (4 years).

The facility is provided by a syndicate comprising the existing syndicate members National Australia Bank, Westpac Banking 
Corporation, ANZ, Commonwealth Bank and HSBC, and new members United Overseas Bank, Sumitomo Mitsui Banking 
Corporation and Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ.

As at 30 June 2015, A$788.9m principal had been drawn down against the new facility, comprising A$435.0m and US$273.0m.  
Transaction costs of A$2.4m which were incurred to establish the facility have been capitalised on the consolidated balance 
sheet, of which A$1.4m has not yet been amortised through the consolidated income statement.  

On20 August 2015, the Group extended its syndicated debt facility by 18 months.  Updated key features of the revolving, 
unsecured, syndicated senior debt facility are as follows:

•	 Tranche A:  A$183m, expiring August 2017

•	 Tranche B:  A$335m, expiring August 2018

•	 Tranche C:  US$273m, expiring August 2019

Accounting policy
Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in profit or loss over 
the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method. Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities, which are not an 
incremental cost relating to the actual draw-down of the facility, are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is 
probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw down occurs. To the extent 
there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is amortised on a straight-line basis 
over the term of the facility.

Borrowings are removed from the balance sheet when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. 
The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability that has been extinguished or transferred to another party and the 
consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss as other income or 
finance costs.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 
12 months after the reporting period.
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15.  Borrowings continued
This extension was strongly supported by the existing members of the syndicate, being National Australia Bank, Westpac 
Banking Corporation, ANZ, Commonwealth Bank, HSBC, United Overseas Bank, Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation and 
Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ.  Reflecting SEEK’s business model strength and improving funding conditions there has been a 
significant improvement in term and conditions of the facility.

As at the date of this report, total drawn on the syndicated debt facility is A$823.9m, comprising A$435.0m and US$273.0m.

(ii)  Entrusted loan facilities - Zhaopin Limited
Zhaopin utilises entrusted loan facilities.  As at 30 June 2015, the facilities are with HSBC and ANZ banks, with limits of 
US$50.0m. An RMB 85.0m facility was fully repaid during the year.

At 30 June 2015, US$46.0m (A$59.6m) was drawn down on these facilities. The facilities are supported by funds on deposit of 
RMB441.1m (A$93.5m) within the Zhaopin Group and are non-recourse to the SEEK Limited wholly-owned group.

(iii) Loan Facility – SEEK Asia
In November 2014, SEEK Asia acquired 100% of the online employment businesses of JobStreet Corporation Berhad.  Refer to 
note 21 for further details of this transaction.

The transaction was partially funded by establishing a new syndicated multi-currency amortising debt facility.  Key features of 
the facility include:

•	 Facility A: SG$96.8m (equivalent to US$75.0m at date of drawdown);

•	 Facility B: HK$387.8m (equivalent to US$50.0m at date of drawdown);

•	 4 year tenor (amortising);

•	 Supported by guarantees, cross-guarantees and security provided by agreed SEEK Asia subsidiaries; and

•	 Non-recourse to the SEEK Limited wholly-owned group.

As at 30 June 2015, A$142.6m principal had been drawn down against the debt facility, comprising SG$87.3 and HK$349.9. As 
at the date of this report, total drawn on the facility is A$151.4m, comprising SG$87.3m and HK$349.9m.

Establishment and transaction costs of HK$38.3m (A$6.0m) were incurred to establish the facility and have been capitalised 
in the consolidated balance sheet, of which HK$32.4m (A$5.5m) has not yet been amortised through the consolidated 
income statement.

16.  Other financial liabilities
2015 2014

$m $m

Hedge liabilities (i)  10.0  6.8 

Deferred consideration (ii)  -  1.4 

Total other financial liabilities  10.0  8.2 

(i) Hedge liabilities
USD Cross currency swap contract - net investment hedge
SEEK entered into a cross currency swap for US$33.6m to continue to hedge its net investment in Zhaopin.  A loss of $7.2m 
(2014: $0.5m gain) has been recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income reflecting the fair value of 
this net investment hedge at 30 June 2015.

HKD Cross currency swap contract – net investment hedge
During 2012, SEEK entered into a net investment hedge for HK$388.7m (A$50.0m). This was designated as a hedge against 
the Hong Kong assets, thereby protecting this portion of assets against depreciation of the HKD over the three year life 
of the swap.   This swap was settled in June 2015.  A loss of $14.8m was recognised in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income.

Interest rate swap contracts – cash flow hedge
The Group has entered into interest rate swap contracts under which it is obliged to receive interest at variable rates and to 
pay interest at fixed rates. The contracts require settlement of net interest receivable or payable each 90 days. The settlement 
dates coincide with the dates on which interest is payable on the underlying debt. The contracts are settled on a net basis.

A loss of $2.8m (2014: $1.0m) has been recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income reflecting the 
change in fair value of the interest rate swap contracts in the financial year.
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Refer to note 10(a)(i) for further information regarding the Group’s hedge liabilities.

(ii) Deferred consideration
This balance represented amounts which may have been be required to be paid to the vendor of JobsDB at a future date to be 
agreed with the vendor. During the year, the Group settled this deferred consideration for $1.7m.

17.  Provisions

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
Following the guidance in AASB 3: Business Combinations, the Group has recognised a provision for contingent liabilities acquired in 
a business combination. The provision is measured at the fair value of the contingent liabilities, which reflects the range of possible 
outcomes across the portfolio of contingent liabilities and is adjusted for risk. The carrying amount of the provision is reassessed in each 
subsequent reporting period.

As disclosed on page 13 of Zhaopin’s Annual Report for the year ended 30 June 2014 weaknesses and other deficiencies were identified 
in Zhaopin’s internal controls.  Following Zhaopin’s Initial Public Offering in June 2014, Zhaopin was required to undertake additional 
work to improve its internal control procedures and compliance practices. Zhaopin has also engaged independent third parties to 
review past compliance and control problems and current practices, and suggest areas to improve the strength of Zhaopin’s control and 
compliance environment.  Zhaopin’s financial audit for the year ended 30 June 2015 is ongoing and subject to satisfactory completion 
of the aforementioned review and audit procedures. Subject to the satisfactory completion of the aforementioned review and audit 
procedures the financial audit  is targeted to complete by 31 October 2015 in accordance within normal reporting timelines. At the date of 
these financial statements, no matters of any material financial consequence have been identified from this independent review.

Accounting policy
Provisions for legal claims and make-good obligations are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a 
result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount has been reliably 
estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses. Make-good provisions are amortised through profit or loss over the 
life of the lease.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by 
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item 
included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation 
at the end of the reporting period. The discount rate used to calculate the present value of employee benefits is determined by reference 
to market yields at the end of the reporting period.  The discount rate used to determine the present value of other provisions is a pre-
tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The increase in the 
provision due to the passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

(a)  Current provisions
2015 2014

$m $m

Employee benefits provision (1)  15.3  8.1 

Other current provisions  20.9  15.0 

Total current provisions  36.2  23.1 

(1) Includes long service leave, all of which is expected to be used in the next 12 months.
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17.  Provisions continued

(a)  Current provisions continued

Movement in provisions
The movement in ‘other current provisions’ during the financial year is set out below:

Lease 
incentives

Make-good 
provisions

Acquired 
contingent 

liabilities (i)

Dividend 
withholding 

tax Total
$m $m $m $m $m

At 1 July 2013  1.0  0.7  18.4  4.4  24.5 
Credited to the consolidated income statement (0.3)  - (3.8) (4.4) (8.5)
Transfer (to)/from non-current provisions  0.1 (0.7)  -  - (0.6)
Exchange differences  -  - (0.4)  - (0.4)

At 30 June 2014  0.8  -  14.2  -  15.0 

Additional provision recognised in the year  -  -  0.3  -  0.3 
Credited to the consolidated income statement (0.6)  -  -  - (0.6)
Assumed in a business combination  -  -  2.1  -  2.1 
Transfer (to)/from non-current provisions  0.3  -  -  -  0.3 

Exchange differences  -  -  3.8  -  3.8 

At 30 June 2015  0.5  -  20.4  -  20.9 

(i)  Acquired contingent liabilities
In accordance with the Group’s accounting policy on business combinations, as described in note 21, in 2015 the Group 
recognised the fair value of contingent liabilities acquired as part of the Jobstreet business combination. 

In 2013 the Group recognised the fair value of contingent liabilities acquired as part of the Zhaopin business combination; 
these relate to tax and labour contingent liabilities. The settlements of these contingent liabilities are uncertain and the 
difference between the settlement amounts and the amounts provided for may be material.

(b)  Non-current provisions
2015 2014

$m $m

Employee benefits provision (1)  5.8  4.1 

Other non-current provisions  20.5  19.3 

Total non-current provisions  26.3  23.4 

1. Includes long service leave and cash long-term incentives.
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Movements in provisions
The movement in lease incentives, make-good provisions and other provisions during the financial year is set out below:

Lease 
incentives

Make-good 
provisions

Acquired 
contingent 

liabilities (i)
Tax cases 

provision (ii) Other Total
$m $m $m $m $m $m

At 1 July 2013  3.4  2.1  11.0  5.3  3.0  24.8 
Additional provision recognised in the year  -  0.1  -  1.7  -  1.8 
Credited to the consolidated income statement (0.6)  - (1.0)  - (1.1) (2.7)
Disposal of subsidiary (1.9) (2.9)  -  -  - (4.8)
Transfer (to)/from current provisions (0.1)  0.7  -  -  -  0.6 
Exchange differences  -  - (0.3) (0.1)  - (0.4)

At 30 June 2014  0.8  -  9.7  6.9  1.9  19.3 

Additional provision recognised in the year  -  -  -  0.5  1.3  1.8 
Credited to the consolidated income statement (0.2)  - (0.8)  - (1.9) (2.9)
Assumed in a business combination  -  -  4.5  -  -  4.5 
Transfer (to)/from current provisions (0.3)  -  -  -  - (0.3)

Exchange differences  -  - (0.7) (1.0) (0.2) (1.9)

At 30 June 2015  0.3  -  12.7  6.4  1.1  20.5 

(i)  Acquired contingent liabilities 
In accordance with the Group’s accounting policy on business combinations, as described in note 21, in 2015 the Group 
recognised the fair value of contingent liabilities acquired as part of the Jobstreet business combination.

In 2012 the Group recognised the fair value of contingent liabilities acquired as part of the Brasil Online business combination, 
relating to a number of outstanding legal, tax and social security provisions. The remaining cases may take a number of years 
to come to conclusion and the difference between the settlement amounts and the amounts provided for may be material.

(ii)  Tax cases provision
Catho Online (a subsidiary of Brasil Online) is subject to a number of tax infraction notices from the tax authority in Brazil. 
These tax infractions are either open, subject to legal proceedings, or under appeal after legal proceedings. Based on advice 
from local legal counsel, Catho has estimated the most likely amounts payable including penalties and interest and have 
recognised this amount as a provision.

(c)  Unrecognised contingent liabilities
Unrecognised contingent liabilities represent the possible (but not probable) cash outflow in excess of any provision. They do 
not represent management’s expectation of likely outflow and are not recognised on the balance sheet. They are disclosed 
unless the possibility of outflow is remote. 

The Group has $5.0m of unrecognised contingent liabilities at 30 June 2015 (2014: $4.0m) which relate to labour and civil 
cases in Brasil Online and its subsidiaries.
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18.  Contributed equity

(a)  Share capital
Consolidated and parent entity

2015 2014 2015 2014
Shares Shares $m $m

Ordinary shares

Issued and fully paid  344,098,479  340,459,756  222.9  203.7 

(b)  Movements in ordinary share capital

Date Details
Number of 

Shares
Average issue 

price $ $m

1 July 2013 Balance  337,833,019  189.5 

Exercise of options  2,197,570 6.46  14.2 
Exercise of performance rights  429,167  -  - 

30 June 2014 Balance (including treasury shares)  340,459,756  203.7 
Less: Treasury shares (407,286)  - 

30 June 2014 Balance (excluding treasury shares)  340,052,470  203.7 

1 July 2014 Balance 340,459,756  203.7 
27 August 2014 Exercise of options 94,413  7.39  0.7 
1 September 2014 Exercise of options 1,006,434  5.36  5.4 
1 September 2014 Exercise of performance rights 68,492  -  - 
12 September 2014 Exercise of performance rights 235,177  -  - 
15 September 2014 Exercise of options 327,439  5.36  1.7 
17 September 2014 Exercise of options 143,411  5.36  0.8 
28 November 2014 Exercise of options 252,520  5.36  1.3 
28 November 2014 Exercise of options 35,275  7.39  0.3 
19 February 2015 Exercise of options 6,275  7.39  - 
10 March 2015 Exercise of options 20,916  7.39  0.2 
11 March 2015 Exercise of options 5,320  7.39  - 
17 March 2015 Exercise of options 416,660  7.39  3.1 
17 March 2015 Exercise of options 964,065  5.36  5.2 
25 March 2015 Exercise of options 6,765  7.39  - 
27 March 2015 Exercise of options 19,090  7.39  0.2 
1 June 2015 Exercise of options 21,514  7.39  0.2 

30 June 2015 Exercise of options 14,957  7.39  0.1 

30 June 2015 Balance (including treasury shares) 344,098,479  222.9 

Less: Treasury shares (299,790)  -  - 

30 June 2015 Balance (excluding treasury shares)  343,798,689  222.9 

 

Accounting policy
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares, performance rights or options 
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or 
options for the acquisition of a business are not included in the cost of the acquisition as part of the purchase consideration.

Where any Group company purchases the Company’s equity instruments, for example as the result of a share buy-back or a share-based 
payment plan, the consideration paid, including any directly attributable incremental costs (net of income taxes) is deducted from equity 
attributable to the owners of SEEK Limited as treasury shares until the shares are cancelled or reissued. Where such ordinary shares 
are subsequently reissued, any consideration received, net of any directly attributable incremental transaction costs and the related 
income tax effects, is included in equity attributable to the owners of SEEK Limited.
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(c)  Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares have no par value and entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the 
Company in proportion to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held.

On a show of hands every holder of ordinary shares present at a meeting in person or by proxy, is entitled to one vote, and 
upon a poll each share is entitled to one vote.

(d)  Treasury shares
On 1 July 2014, 407,286 treasury shares were transferred to employees under the Performance Rights and Options Plan. 
These shares therefore ceased to be held as treasury shares after this date.

In September 2014, the Group issued 303,669 shares to be held in the Employee share trust for the participants of certain 
equity-based compensation schemes. 3,879 shares were released to employees during the year, resulting in 299,790 shares 
remaining as treasury shares at 30 June 2015. These plans vested 1 July 2015, and as such these shares are no longer 
restricted by the trust and have been returned to ordinary share capital in July 2015. For further information see note 30.

(e)  Exercise of staff options
During the current year, 3,335,054 (2014: 2,197,570) shares were issued to fulfil employee options exercised in the year.  
No shares (2014: nil) were acquired on market in relation to other exercised employee options.

19.  Equity

Nature and purpose of reserves
Share-based payments reserve

The reserve is comprised of two components:

Unexercised: is used to recognise the fair value of options and performance rights issued but not exercised; 

Exercised: is used to hold the fair value of options that have been exercised, and options that have lapsed but are not required to be 
adjusted through the consolidated income statement.

Foreign currency translation reserve

Exchange differences arising on the translation of foreign controlled entities and associates are recognised in the foreign currency 
translation reserve, as described in note 33(b). 

Cash flow hedge reserve

The cash flow hedge reserve is used to record gains or losses on a hedging instrument in a cash flow hedge that are recognised 
directly in equity, as described in note 10. Amounts are recognised in the consolidated income statement when the associated hedged 
transaction affects the profit or loss or when it is impaired or sold or if the forecast transaction is no longer expected to take place.

Net investment hedge reserve

The net investment hedge reserve is used to record gains or losses on a hedging instrument in a net investment hedge that are 
recognised directly in equity, as described in note 10. Amounts are recognised in the consolidated income statement when the 
associated hedged transaction affects the profit or loss or when it is impaired or sold. Gains and losses accumulated in equity are 
reclassified to profit or loss when the foreign operation is partially disposed of or sold.

Financial asset revaluation reserve

The financial asset revaluation reserve is used to record changes in the fair value of investments in equity instruments that are not held 
for trading, for which the Group has elected at initial recognition to present gains and losses in other comprehensive income.

Transfers under common control reserve

The transfers under common control reserve is used to record the net impact on the equity attributable to the shareholders of the Group 
in the event of a transfer of an entity under common control.  Upon disposal of all interests in that entity by the Group this reserve would 
be transferred to retained earnings. 

Transactions with non-controlling interests

This reserve is used to record differences arising as a result of transactions with a non-controlling interest that do not result in a loss of 
control. 
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19.  Equity continued
Reconciliation of movement in equity

Contributed 
equity Reserves

Retained 
profits

Non-controlling 
interests Total equity

Share-based 
payments 

reserve

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

Cash flow  
hedge reserve

Net investment 
hedge reserve

Financial asset 
revaluation 

reserve

Transfers under 
common control 

reserve

Transactions 
with non-

controlling 
interests Total reserves

For the year ended 30 June 2014 Notes $m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m

Balance at 1 July 2013  188.5  22.1  85.0  0.7 (21.6)  - (11.2)  75.0  513.5  519.6  1,296.6 
Profit for the year  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  195.6  27.8  223.4 
Exchange differences on translation of foreign controlled 
operations  -  - (34.8)  -  -  -  -  - (34.8)  - (9.0) (43.8)
Exchange differences on translation of foreign associates  -  - (4.6)  -  -  -  -  - (4.6)  -  - (4.6)
Gains on hedge contracts of controlled entities  -  -  -  -  6.8  -  -  -  6.8  -  -  6.8 
Losses on hedge contracts of associates (net of tax)  -  -  - (1.0)  -  -  - (1.0)  -  - (1.0)

Income tax recognised in other comprehensive income 7(b)  -  15.3  -  -  -  -  -  15.3  -  -  15.3 

Total comprehensive income for the year  -  15.3 (39.4) (1.0)  6.8  -  -  - (18.3)  195.6  18.8  196.1 

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

Contributions of equity, net of transaction costs and tax 18(b)  14.2  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  14.2 
Dividends provided for or paid 20  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - (88.4) (29.7) (118.1)
Employee share options scheme of parent  -  8.1  -  -  -  -  -  8.1  -  -  8.1 
Employee share options scheme of subsidiary  -  5.8  -  -  -  -  -  -  5.8  -  -  5.8 
Exercise of share options in subsidiary  -  -  -  -  -  -  1.1  1.1  -  0.3  1.4 
Tax associated with employee share schemes 7(b)  - (4.2)  -  -  -  -  - (4.2)  4.2  -  - 
Transfer of non wholly-owned subsidiary under common 
control  -  -  -  -  -  - (1.1)  0.1 (1.0)  -  - (1.0)
Initial public offering of Zhaopin  -  -  -  -  -  -  9.6  9.6  -  75.6  85.2 
Disposal of THINK 22  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - (18.2) (18.2)
Transfer of reserves  1.0 (1.0)  -  -  -  -  -  0.2 (0.8)  - (0.2)  - 

Share of reserve movement of associates  -  -  -  -  -  - (1.5) (1.5)  -  - (1.5)

Balance at 30 June 2014  203.7  46.1  45.6 (0.3) (14.8)  - (1.1) (1.7)  73.8  624.9  566.2  1,468.6 

For the year ended 30 June 2015

Profit for the year  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  281.2  34.0  315.2 
Exchange differences on translation of foreign controlled 
operations  -  -  137.1  -  -  -  -  -  137.1  -  68.9  206.0 
Exchange differences on translation of foreign associates  -  -  2.1  -  -  -  -  -  2.1  -  -  2.1 
Gains/(losses) on hedge contracts of controlled entities  -  -  -  6.6 (68.6)  -  -  - (62.0)  -  - (62.0)
Gains on hedge contracts of associates (net of tax)  -  -  -  1.6  -  -  -  -  1.6  -  -  1.6 
Recycled foreign currency translation reserve on step 
acquisition  -  -  0.5  -  -  -  -  -  0.5  -  -  0.5 
Change in fair value of financial assets 12(b)  -  -  -  -  -  4.9  -  -  4.9  -  -  4.9 

Income tax recognised in other comprehensive income 7(b)  -  2.9  -  -  -  -  -  -  2.9  -  -  2.9 

Total comprehensive income for the year  -  2.9  139.7  8.2 (68.6)  4.9  -  -  87.1  281.2  102.9  471.2 

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

Contributions of equity, net of transaction costs and tax 18(b)  19.2  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  19.2 
Dividends provided for or paid 20  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - (120.2) (24.7) (144.9)
Employee share options scheme of parent  -  10.3  -  -  -  -  -  -  10.3  -  -  10.3 
Employee share options scheme of subsidiary  -  2.7  -  -  -  -  -  -  2.7  -  1.8  4.5 
Exercise of share options in subsidiary  -  -  -  -  -  -  - (8.6) (8.6)  -  40.3  31.7 
Tax associated with employee share schemes 7(b)  - (10.6)  -  -  -  -  -  - (10.6)  10.6  -  - 
Change in ownership of subsidiariesⁱ 19(a)  -  -  25.0  -  -  -  - (62.5) (37.5)  - (22.8) (60.3)
Transfer of reserves  - (3.0)  -  -  -  -  -  0.1 (2.9)  -  2.9  - 

Share of reserve movement of associates  -  0.6  -  -  -  -  -  -  0.6  -  -  0.6 

Balance at 30 June 2015  222.9  49.0  210.3  7.9 (83.4)  4.9 (1.1) (72.7)  114.9  796.5  666.6  1,800.9 
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19.  Equity continued
Reconciliation of movement in equity

Contributed 
equity Reserves

Retained 
profits

Non-controlling 
interests Total equity

Share-based 
payments 

reserve

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

Cash flow  
hedge reserve

Net investment 
hedge reserve

Financial asset 
revaluation 

reserve

Transfers under 
common control 

reserve

Transactions 
with non-

controlling 
interests Total reserves

For the year ended 30 June 2014 Notes $m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m

Balance at 1 July 2013  188.5  22.1  85.0  0.7 (21.6)  - (11.2)  75.0  513.5  519.6  1,296.6 
Profit for the year  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  195.6  27.8  223.4 
Exchange differences on translation of foreign controlled 
operations  -  - (34.8)  -  -  -  -  - (34.8)  - (9.0) (43.8)
Exchange differences on translation of foreign associates  -  - (4.6)  -  -  -  -  - (4.6)  -  - (4.6)
Gains on hedge contracts of controlled entities  -  -  -  -  6.8  -  -  -  6.8  -  -  6.8 
Losses on hedge contracts of associates (net of tax)  -  -  - (1.0)  -  -  - (1.0)  -  - (1.0)

Income tax recognised in other comprehensive income 7(b)  -  15.3  -  -  -  -  -  15.3  -  -  15.3 

Total comprehensive income for the year  -  15.3 (39.4) (1.0)  6.8  -  -  - (18.3)  195.6  18.8  196.1 

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

Contributions of equity, net of transaction costs and tax 18(b)  14.2  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  14.2 
Dividends provided for or paid 20  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - (88.4) (29.7) (118.1)
Employee share options scheme of parent  -  8.1  -  -  -  -  -  8.1  -  -  8.1 
Employee share options scheme of subsidiary  -  5.8  -  -  -  -  -  -  5.8  -  -  5.8 
Exercise of share options in subsidiary  -  -  -  -  -  -  1.1  1.1  -  0.3  1.4 
Tax associated with employee share schemes 7(b)  - (4.2)  -  -  -  -  - (4.2)  4.2  -  - 
Transfer of non wholly-owned subsidiary under common 
control  -  -  -  -  -  - (1.1)  0.1 (1.0)  -  - (1.0)
Initial public offering of Zhaopin  -  -  -  -  -  -  9.6  9.6  -  75.6  85.2 
Disposal of THINK 22  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - (18.2) (18.2)
Transfer of reserves  1.0 (1.0)  -  -  -  -  -  0.2 (0.8)  - (0.2)  - 

Share of reserve movement of associates  -  -  -  -  -  - (1.5) (1.5)  -  - (1.5)

Balance at 30 June 2014  203.7  46.1  45.6 (0.3) (14.8)  - (1.1) (1.7)  73.8  624.9  566.2  1,468.6 

For the year ended 30 June 2015

Profit for the year  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  281.2  34.0  315.2 
Exchange differences on translation of foreign controlled 
operations  -  -  137.1  -  -  -  -  -  137.1  -  68.9  206.0 
Exchange differences on translation of foreign associates  -  -  2.1  -  -  -  -  -  2.1  -  -  2.1 
Gains/(losses) on hedge contracts of controlled entities  -  -  -  6.6 (68.6)  -  -  - (62.0)  -  - (62.0)
Gains on hedge contracts of associates (net of tax)  -  -  -  1.6  -  -  -  -  1.6  -  -  1.6 
Recycled foreign currency translation reserve on step 
acquisition  -  -  0.5  -  -  -  -  -  0.5  -  -  0.5 
Change in fair value of financial assets 12(b)  -  -  -  -  -  4.9  -  -  4.9  -  -  4.9 

Income tax recognised in other comprehensive income 7(b)  -  2.9  -  -  -  -  -  -  2.9  -  -  2.9 

Total comprehensive income for the year  -  2.9  139.7  8.2 (68.6)  4.9  -  -  87.1  281.2  102.9  471.2 

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

Contributions of equity, net of transaction costs and tax 18(b)  19.2  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  19.2 
Dividends provided for or paid 20  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - (120.2) (24.7) (144.9)
Employee share options scheme of parent  -  10.3  -  -  -  -  -  -  10.3  -  -  10.3 
Employee share options scheme of subsidiary  -  2.7  -  -  -  -  -  -  2.7  -  1.8  4.5 
Exercise of share options in subsidiary  -  -  -  -  -  -  - (8.6) (8.6)  -  40.3  31.7 
Tax associated with employee share schemes 7(b)  - (10.6)  -  -  -  -  -  - (10.6)  10.6  -  - 
Change in ownership of subsidiariesⁱ 19(a)  -  -  25.0  -  -  -  - (62.5) (37.5)  - (22.8) (60.3)
Transfer of reserves  - (3.0)  -  -  -  -  -  0.1 (2.9)  -  2.9  - 

Share of reserve movement of associates  -  0.6  -  -  -  -  -  -  0.6  -  -  0.6 

Balance at 30 June 2015  222.9  49.0  210.3  7.9 (83.4)  4.9 (1.1) (72.7)  114.9  796.5  666.6  1,800.9 
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for the year ended 30 June 2015

19.  Equity continued
(a) Change in ownership of subsidiaries

(i) SEEK Asia
As a result of the funding structure for the acquisition of JobStreet (refer to note 21), SEEK’s interest in SEEK Asia increased 
from 69.0% to 75.6%. On 2 June SEEK further increased it’s interest to 80.8%.The current ownership structure of SEEK Asia is 
as follows:

Investor Ownership in SEEK Asia

SEEK Limited 80.8%
Non-controlling interests
Windfyr Pty Ltd (News Corp) 12.9%
Macquarie Capital 3.3%
Tiger Global 3.0%

Total non-controlling interests 19.2%

The change in ownership in SEEK Asia has resulted in a movement of $29.9m in the transactions with non-controlling 
interests reserve and a decrease in non-controlling interests of $44.8m, which partly offset the $100.1m increase in  
non-controlling interests due to co-investor contributions.

(ii) OCC
On 2 June 2015, SEEK’s interest in OCC increased from 56.4% to 98.2%. The change in ownership in OCC has resulted in a 
movement of $32.6m in the transactions with non-controlling interests reserve and a decrease in non-controlling interests of 
$78.1m.

20. Dividends

Accounting policy
Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared, being appropriately authorised and no longer at the discretion of the entity, 
on or before the end of the reporting period but not distributed at the end of the reporting period.

Payment Amount per
Franked 

amount per Total dividend
date share share $m

Financial Year 2014
2013 final dividend 16 October 2013  12.0 cents  12.0 cents  $40.7 
2014 interim dividend 30 April 2014  14.0 cents  14.0 cents  $47.7 
Total dividends paid for the year ended 30 June 2014  $88.4 

Financial Year 2015

2014 final dividend 17 October 2014  16.0 cents  16.0 cents  $54.8 

2015 interim dividend 21 April 2015  19.0 cents  19.0 cents  $65.4 

Total dividends paid for the year ended 30 June 2015  $120.2 

Dividends paid or declared by the Company after the year end (to be paid out of retained profits at 30 June 2015):

The 2015 final dividend will be franked out of franking credits arising from the balance of the franking account as at the year 
end and the payment of income tax subsequent to the year ended 30 June 2015. At 30 June 2015, all Australian controlled 
entities are included in the SEEK consolidated income tax group and therefore their franking credits are fully available for 
distribution to shareholders of SEEK Limited.

The balance of the franking account at 30 June 2015, adjusted for franking credits that will arise from the payment of the 
current tax liability, is $99.0m (2014: $120.2m) based on a tax rate of 30% (2014: 30%). The dividend payment on 16 October 
2015 will reduce the franking credits available by $25.1m for the consolidated Group. 

2015 final dividend 16 October 2015  17.0 cents  17.0 cents  $58.5 
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21.  Business combinations 

On 20 November 2014, the Group through its majority owned subsidiary SEEKAsia Ltd (“SEEK Asia”), acquired 100% of the 
online employment businesses of JobStreet Corporation Berhad (“JCB”) for total consideration of MYR 1,933.8m (A$665.4m at 
the exchange rate on the date of the transaction).

The acquired business (“JobStreet”) operates online employment markets in Malaysia, Singapore, Indonesia, the Philippines 
and Vietnam. This acquisition is a continuation of SEEK’s expansion in the strategic and high growth Asian region.

Total consideration of MYR 1,933.8m (A$665.4m) was funded as follows:

•	 SEEK’s consideration of A$421.4m, comprising of existing JCB equity of A$127.3m and cash contribution of A$294.1m 
funded primarily via SEEK’s Group Debt Facilities;

•	 SEEK Asia co-investors (News Corp, Macquarie Capital and Tiger Global) collectively contributed A$93.2m; and

•	 SEEK Asia debt funding of A$150.8m, including bank debt of A$139.6m and a working capital loan from SEEK Limited of 
A$11.2m.

From the date of acquisition the Group has accounted for JobStreet as a controlled entity. Prior to this, JobStreet was 
accounted for within JCB as an associate (refer to note 24).

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
Following the guidance in AASB 3: Business Combinations, the Group has made assumptions and estimates to determine the purchase 
price of businesses acquired as well as its allocation to acquired assets and liabilities. 

The Group is required to determine the acquisition date fair value of the identifiable assets acquired, including intangible assets such as 
brands, customer relationships and liabilities assumed. The assumptions and estimates made by the Group have an impact on the asset 
and liability amounts recorded in the financial statements. In addition, the estimated useful lives of the acquired amortisable assets, the 
identification of intangible assets and the determination of the indefinite or finite useful lives of intangible assets acquired will have an 
impact on the Group’s future profit or loss.

In step acquisitions where the Group obtains control over an entity by acquiring an additional interest in that entity, the Group’s previously 
held equity interest is remeasured to fair value at the date the controlling interest is acquired and a gain or loss is recognised in the 
consolidated income statement. The Group has also adopted the fair value method in measuring non-controlling interests in recent step 
acquisitions. The determination of these fair values involves management’s judgement and takes into consideration purchase price of 
the acquired controlling interest, other comparable transactions and trading comparables.

Accounting policy
The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations, regardless of whether equity instruments or 
other assets are acquired. 

The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities 
incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group. Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the amounts 
payable in the future are discounted to their present value as at the date of exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’s incremental 
borrowing rate, being the rate at which a similar borrowing could be obtained from an independent financier under comparable terms 
and conditions.

The consideration transferred also includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement 
and the fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary. Contingent consideration is classified either as equity or a financial 
liability. Amounts classified as a financial liability are subsequently re-measured to fair value with changes in fair value recognised in 
profit or loss. 

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. 

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are, with limited exceptions, 
measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. Acquired deferred tax assets recognised after the initial acquisition 
accounting will increase the Group’s net profit after tax.

On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the 
non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s net identifiable assets.

The excess of the consideration transferred and the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the net 
identifiable assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are less than the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the 
subsidiary acquired and the measurement of all amounts has been reviewed, the difference is recognised directly in profit or loss as a 
bargain purchase.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value and 
any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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21.  Business combinations continued
Post-divestment of its online employment businesses, JCB remains a listed entity on the Bursa Malaysia Securities. Although 
SEEK retains 20.1% ownership in this listed entity, SEEK no longer has significant influence over JCB and its remaining 
businesses (refer to note 24). As a result SEEK accounts for its 20.1% investment in JCB as a non-current financial asset with 
changes in underlying fair value going through other comprehensive income in equity (refer to note 12b)). 

(a) Purchase consideration
The total purchase consideration is detailed in the table below:

 
 
 
 

(b) Details of net assets and liabilities acquired

Initial accounting
The net identifiable assets acquired are still preliminary. In view of the recent timing of the transaction, the Group 
are currently finalising the allocation of the purchase price to acquired assets. In particular, the contingent 
liabilities and fair values assigned to intangible assets are still being assessed and subject to finalisation. The 
acquisition accounting will be finalised within 12 months of the acquisition date, in line with accounting standards.

Revised 
preliminary Preliminary 

fair value fair value
Notes $m $m

Cash and cash equivalents  24.1  24.1 
Trade and other receivables  4.7  4.7 
Plant and equipment  1.8  1.8 
Intangible assets

      Brands and licences 13  81.6  - 
      Customer relationships 13  16.0  - 
      Computer software and website development 13  1.2  - 
Deferred tax assets 7  2.2  2.2 
Trade and other payables (3.4) (3.4)
Unearned income (18.3) (18.3)
Current tax liabilities (1.8) (1.8)
Current contingent liabilities 17 (2.1) (1.3)
Non-current contingent liabilities 17 (4.5) (4.4)
Current provisions (2.2) (2.2)
Non-current provisions (0.3) (0.3)

Deferred tax liabilities 7 (23.7)  - 

Net identifiable assets acquired  75.3  1.1 

Add: goodwill  590.1  663.9 

Net assets acquired  665.4  665.0 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The goodwill is attributable to JobStreet’s strong position in its market and the high growth potential of that market.  Goodwill  
is not deductible for tax purposes.

Acquired receivables
The fair value of trade and other receivables is $4.7m and includes trade receivables with a fair value of $3.0m. The gross 
contractual amount of trade receivables due is $3.1m of which $0.1m is expected to be uncollectible.

Acquired contingent liabilities
The Group has recognised $6.6m as the fair value of contingent liabilities acquired as part of the business combination. 
This amount is management’s best estimate based on a range of possible outcomes, and relates to tax and legal contingent 
liabilities. 

Purchase consideration
$m

SEEK cash contribution  294.1 
Existing JCB equity  127.3 
SEEK Asia co-investor contribution  93.2 

SEEK Asia accessed debt  150.8 

Total purchase consideration  665.4 
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(c) Fair value gain
The Group’s previously held equity interest in JCB as an associate has been re-measured at the acquisition date fair value. 
Part of the fair value of SEEK’s existing interest in the online employment businesses (JobStreet) has been offset against the 
purchase consideration ($127.3m of the total fair value of $128.6m), with the remaining $1.3m received in cash.

The Group has also recycled amounts held in reserves in relation to this associate including foreign currency translation 
losses. The resulting net gain before tax of $100.3m has been recognised in ‘other income’ in the consolidated income 
statement (refer to note 4). 

Gain on step 
acquisition

Notes $m

Fair value of SEEK 20.1% interest in JobStreet  128.6 
Fair value of SEEK 20.1% interest in remaining entities of JCB 12(b)  14.1 
Less: carrying value of JCB as an associate (41.9)

Less: foreign currency translation reserve loss recycled 19 (0.5)

Fair value gain on step acquisition (before tax)  100.3 

Add: tax on reserve balances recycled  - 

Fair value gain on step acquisition (after tax) 4  100.3 

 
 

(d) Revenue and profit contribution
JobStreet contributed revenues of $45.7m and net profit of $10.8m before non-controlling interests to the SEEK Group 
for the period from 20 November 2014 to 30 June 2015. If the acquisition had occurred on 1 July 2014, the contribution to 
consolidated revenue and consolidated profit before non-controlling interests of the SEEK Group for the current period would 
have been $70.7m and $18.1m respectively, offset by a reduction in the share of net loss from equity accounted investments 
(JCB) of $0.9m.

These amounts have been calculated using the Group’s accounting policies and by adjusting the results of JobStreet to reflect 
the additional amortisation that would have been charged assuming the fair value adjustments to intangible assets had 
applied from 1 July 2014, together with any tax effects.

(e) Year end
The statutory reporting entities within JobStreet previously had a 31 December year end. The process to align the statutory 
year end of these entities to 30 June is currently in progress. For group reporting purposes, the financial year end has been 
aligned to that of the SEEK Group.

(f) Acquisition related costs
Acquisition related costs of $14.0m have been recognised in the consolidated income statement in ‘operations and 
administration’ expenses in FY2015. Further, $2.2m of transaction costs were expensed in the year ended 30 June 2014.

22.  Discontinued operation

On 7 November 2013, SEEK Limited and Laureate Education, Inc. entered into a share sale agreement for Laureate to acquire 
the remaining 80% of THINK Education Group. SEEK ceased to have control of THINK after 30 November 2013, on the basis 
that SEEK no longer had the power to direct activities that affected returns from that date. Cash settlement was received on 
20 December 2013. The sale of THINK represented a strategic decision which allowed management to focus on its key online 
employment and online education businesses.

In addition to the consideration, $8.0m previously held in escrow and a further $4.0m were paid on 19 December 2014 and 
2 January 2015 respectively, for exceeding expected enrolments made by SEEK Learning in THINK courses. In accordance 
with AASB 118: Revenue Recognition, $4.0m revenue has been recognised at 30 June 2015 (2014: $8.0m) based on the 
proportion of SEEK Learning enrolments in THINK courses.

Accounting policy
A discontinued operation is a component of the consolidated entity’s business that represents a separate line of business operations 
that has been disposed of or is held for sale. Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal or when the operation 
meets the criteria to be classified as held for sale if earlier. When an operation is classified as a discontinued operation, the comparative 
statement of comprehensive income is restated as if the operation had been discontinued from the start of the period.
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23.  Interests in controlled entities
(a)  Material subsidiaries
The Group’s principal subsidiaries at 30 June 2015 are set out below. Unless otherwise stated, they have share capital 
consisting solely of ordinary shares that are held directly by the Group, and the proportion of ownership interests held 
equals the voting rights of the Group except for Zhaopin with voting rights of 75.3%(3). The consolidated financial statements 
incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following consolidated entities in accordance with the accounting policy 
described in note 33(b):

Equity holding Equity holding
Country of Principal 2015 2014

Name of entity incorporation activities % %

SEEK NZ Limited New Zealand Provides online employment advertising services in New Zealand 100 100

SEEK Learning Pty Ltd(1) Australia Online sales and marketing distribution channel focused on education and training 100 100

SEEK International Investments II Cooperatie U.A.(2) Netherlands Holding company 100 100

   Online Career Centre Mexico, S.A.P.I de CV (together with its consolidated subsidiaries, "OCC") Mexico Provides online employment advertising services in Mexico 98.2 56.4

   Brasil Online Holdings Cooperatief U.A.(2) (together with its consolidated subsidiaries, "Brasil Online") Netherlands Holding company 51 51

     Catho Online, Ltda. Brazil Provides online employment advertising services in Brazil 100 100

     Manager Online Servicos de Internet, Ltda. Brazil Provides online employment advertising services in Brazil 100 100

SEEK International Investments Pty Ltd(1) Australia Holding company 100 100

   SEEKAsia Ltd (together with its consolidated subsidiaries, “SEEK Asia”) Cayman Islands Holding company 80.8 69

      Jobs DB Inc British Virgin Islands Holding company 100 100

         Jobs DB Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong Provides online employment advertising services in Hong Kong 100 100

         Jobs DB Singapore Pte Limited Singapore Provides online employment advertising services in Singapore 100 100

         Jobs DB Recruitment (Thailand) Limited Thailand Provides online employment advertising services in Thailand 100 100

         Jobs DB Malaysia Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Provides online employment advertising services in Malaysia 49(4) 49(4)

         PT Jobs DB Indonesia Indonesia Provides online employment advertising services in Indonesia 90 90

         Jobs DB Philippines Inc. Philippines Provides online employment advertising services in the Philippines 100 100

      SEEK Asia Investments Pte. Ltd. Singapore Holding company 100 -

         88 Karat Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Holding company 49(4) -

         JobStreet.com Pte Ltd Singapore Provides online employment advertising services in Singapore 100 -

         JobStreet.com Sdn. Bhd Malaysia Provides online employment advertising services in Malaysia 49(4) -

         Agensi Perkerjaan JS Staffing Services Sdn. Bhd Malaysia Provides online employment advertising services in Malaysia 49(4) -

         JobStreet.com Philippines, Inc Philippines Provides online employment advertising services in the Philippines 100 -

         PT. JobStreet Indonesia Indonesia Provides online employment advertising services in Indonesia 100 -

         JobStreet Company Limited Vietnam Provides online employment advertising services in Vietnam 100 -

   Zhaopin Limited(3)(5) (together with its consolidated subsidiaries, “Zhaopin”) Cayman Islands Holding company 63.2 68.3

      Beijing Wangpin Consulting Co., Ltd P.R. China Provides online employment advertising services in China 90 90

      深圳市希捷尔人力资源有限公司 (Shenzhen  
      Xijier Human Resources Co., Ltd) (CJOL)

P.R. China Provides online employment advertising services in China
75.6 75.6

1. All wholly-owned Australian subsidiaries have been granted relief from the necessity to prepare financial reports in accordance with Class Order 98/1418 issued by the Australian 
Securities and Investments Commission.  For further details refer to note 25.

2. These are Cooperative entities in the Netherlands; SEEK's investment is in the form of a Member Contribution, rather than shares.

3. As at 30 June 2015, SEEK has an undiluted interest of 63.2% in Zhaopin Ltd with voting rights of 75.3%. The share capital of Zhaopin Ltd comprises Class A and Class B shares, 
with Class A shares entitled to one vote and Class B shares entitled to four votes.  SEEK holds Class B ordinary shares, resulting in voting rights that are not in proportion to share 
ownership.

4. The Group has fully consolidated these entities, along with Jobs DB Assets (Thailand) Limited, Jobs DB Prestige Inc. and PT Prestige Indonesia, because the Group (via Jobs DB Inc or 
SEEK Asia Investments Pte Ltd) has the ability to control their financial and operating policies despite not holding a majority of equity as required by local regulations.

5. Special purpose entities (SPE): Since February 2013 the Group has fully consolidated the following entities because Zhaopin Limited has the ability to control their financial and 
operating policies despite not holding a direct ownership: Beijing Zhilian Sanke Human Resources Service Co. Ltd, Fuzhou Zhilian Advertising Co. Ltd., Harbin Zhilian Wangcai 
Advertising Co. Ltd., Xiamen Zhilian Wangpin Commercial Service Co. Ltd., Wuhan Zhilian Rencai Advertising Co. Ltd., Shenyang Zhilian Wangpin Advertising Co. Ltd., Shenyang 
Zhilian Recruitment Service Co. Ltd., Dalian Zhilian Advertising Co. Ltd., Hangzhou Wangpin Advertising Co. Ltd and Guangzhou Houbo Information Technology Co. Ltd.  Sichuan 
Zhilian Advertising Co. Ltd. and Tianjin Zhilian Advertising Co. Ltd. were closed during FY2015. Through existing contractual agreements, the Group is able to exercise effective control 
over the SPEs and receive substantially all of the economic benefits and residual returns as if it were the sole shareholder.
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23.  Interests in controlled entities
(a)  Material subsidiaries
The Group’s principal subsidiaries at 30 June 2015 are set out below. Unless otherwise stated, they have share capital 
consisting solely of ordinary shares that are held directly by the Group, and the proportion of ownership interests held 
equals the voting rights of the Group except for Zhaopin with voting rights of 75.3%(3). The consolidated financial statements 
incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following consolidated entities in accordance with the accounting policy 
described in note 33(b):

Equity holding Equity holding
Country of Principal 2015 2014

Name of entity incorporation activities % %

SEEK NZ Limited New Zealand Provides online employment advertising services in New Zealand 100 100

SEEK Learning Pty Ltd(1) Australia Online sales and marketing distribution channel focused on education and training 100 100

SEEK International Investments II Cooperatie U.A.(2) Netherlands Holding company 100 100

   Online Career Centre Mexico, S.A.P.I de CV (together with its consolidated subsidiaries, "OCC") Mexico Provides online employment advertising services in Mexico 98.2 56.4

   Brasil Online Holdings Cooperatief U.A.(2) (together with its consolidated subsidiaries, "Brasil Online") Netherlands Holding company 51 51

     Catho Online, Ltda. Brazil Provides online employment advertising services in Brazil 100 100

     Manager Online Servicos de Internet, Ltda. Brazil Provides online employment advertising services in Brazil 100 100

SEEK International Investments Pty Ltd(1) Australia Holding company 100 100

   SEEKAsia Ltd (together with its consolidated subsidiaries, “SEEK Asia”) Cayman Islands Holding company 80.8 69

      Jobs DB Inc British Virgin Islands Holding company 100 100

         Jobs DB Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong Provides online employment advertising services in Hong Kong 100 100

         Jobs DB Singapore Pte Limited Singapore Provides online employment advertising services in Singapore 100 100

         Jobs DB Recruitment (Thailand) Limited Thailand Provides online employment advertising services in Thailand 100 100

         Jobs DB Malaysia Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Provides online employment advertising services in Malaysia 49(4) 49(4)

         PT Jobs DB Indonesia Indonesia Provides online employment advertising services in Indonesia 90 90

         Jobs DB Philippines Inc. Philippines Provides online employment advertising services in the Philippines 100 100

      SEEK Asia Investments Pte. Ltd. Singapore Holding company 100 -

         88 Karat Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Holding company 49(4) -

         JobStreet.com Pte Ltd Singapore Provides online employment advertising services in Singapore 100 -

         JobStreet.com Sdn. Bhd Malaysia Provides online employment advertising services in Malaysia 49(4) -

         Agensi Perkerjaan JS Staffing Services Sdn. Bhd Malaysia Provides online employment advertising services in Malaysia 49(4) -

         JobStreet.com Philippines, Inc Philippines Provides online employment advertising services in the Philippines 100 -

         PT. JobStreet Indonesia Indonesia Provides online employment advertising services in Indonesia 100 -

         JobStreet Company Limited Vietnam Provides online employment advertising services in Vietnam 100 -

   Zhaopin Limited(3)(5) (together with its consolidated subsidiaries, “Zhaopin”) Cayman Islands Holding company 63.2 68.3

      Beijing Wangpin Consulting Co., Ltd P.R. China Provides online employment advertising services in China 90 90

      深圳市希捷尔人力资源有限公司 (Shenzhen  
      Xijier Human Resources Co., Ltd) (CJOL)

P.R. China Provides online employment advertising services in China
75.6 75.6

1. All wholly-owned Australian subsidiaries have been granted relief from the necessity to prepare financial reports in accordance with Class Order 98/1418 issued by the Australian 
Securities and Investments Commission.  For further details refer to note 25.

2. These are Cooperative entities in the Netherlands; SEEK's investment is in the form of a Member Contribution, rather than shares.

3. As at 30 June 2015, SEEK has an undiluted interest of 63.2% in Zhaopin Ltd with voting rights of 75.3%. The share capital of Zhaopin Ltd comprises Class A and Class B shares, 
with Class A shares entitled to one vote and Class B shares entitled to four votes.  SEEK holds Class B ordinary shares, resulting in voting rights that are not in proportion to share 
ownership.

4. The Group has fully consolidated these entities, along with Jobs DB Assets (Thailand) Limited, Jobs DB Prestige Inc. and PT Prestige Indonesia, because the Group (via Jobs DB Inc or 
SEEK Asia Investments Pte Ltd) has the ability to control their financial and operating policies despite not holding a majority of equity as required by local regulations.

5. Special purpose entities (SPE): Since February 2013 the Group has fully consolidated the following entities because Zhaopin Limited has the ability to control their financial and 
operating policies despite not holding a direct ownership: Beijing Zhilian Sanke Human Resources Service Co. Ltd, Fuzhou Zhilian Advertising Co. Ltd., Harbin Zhilian Wangcai 
Advertising Co. Ltd., Xiamen Zhilian Wangpin Commercial Service Co. Ltd., Wuhan Zhilian Rencai Advertising Co. Ltd., Shenyang Zhilian Wangpin Advertising Co. Ltd., Shenyang 
Zhilian Recruitment Service Co. Ltd., Dalian Zhilian Advertising Co. Ltd., Hangzhou Wangpin Advertising Co. Ltd and Guangzhou Houbo Information Technology Co. Ltd.  Sichuan 
Zhilian Advertising Co. Ltd. and Tianjin Zhilian Advertising Co. Ltd. were closed during FY2015. Through existing contractual agreements, the Group is able to exercise effective control 
over the SPEs and receive substantially all of the economic benefits and residual returns as if it were the sole shareholder.
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24.  Interests in equity accounted investments

(a)  Material interests in associates and joint ventures
Set out below are the associates and joint arrangements of the Group as at 30 June 2015 which, in the opinion of the directors, 
are material to the Group. 

Country of
Ownership 
interest %

Associates Incorporation 2015 2014 Principal activities

IDP Education Pty Ltd (IDP) Australia 50.0 50.0 Provides services for international students wishing 
to study in Australian educational institutions and 
also provides International English Language Testing 
(IELTS)

JobStreet Corporation Berhad (JCB) Malaysia (i) 20.0 Provider of online employment websites in Asia

One Africa Media (Pty) Ltd (OAM) 
(formerly Private Property Holdings  
Pty Ltd) (ii)

South Africa 27.5 24.4 Owns, operates and invests in a portfolio of African 
market leading online marketplaces in the segments 
of jobs, cars, real estate and travel

Joint ventures

Online Education Services Ltd 
(Swinburne Online)

Australia 50.0 50.0 A joint venture entity between SEEK and Swinburne 
University of Technology to deliver online learning to 
students

Babajob Services Private Ltd  
(Babajob) (iii)

India 46.2 n/a Provider of online and mobile employment 
marketplaces across India.

(i) JobStreet Corporation Berhad (JCB)
As explained above, within ‘Critical judgements’, from 20 November 2014 SEEK has accounted for its 20.1% interest in JCB as 
a non-current financial asset. 

(ii) One Africa Media (OAM)
On 15 April 2015, SEEK entered into a share subscription agreement to make an additional US$10.0m investment in OAM 
(in two tranches of US$5m each).  Tranche 1 of US$5.0m ($6.4m at the exchange rate on the date of the transaction) was 
settled in April 2015 taking SEEK’s ownership in OAM to 27.5%. Tranche 2 of US$5.0m is subject to certain conditions which 
management expects to be fulfilled in the first half of FY2016. On settlement of Tranche 2, SEEK’s ownership in OAM will 
increase to 30.0%.

Critical judgements in applying the entity’s accounting policies
(i)  Significant influence over associates 
The Group follows the guidance in AASB 128: Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures to determine its level of control and influence 
over its investments in associates. This determination can require judgement particularly around voting rights and participation in the 
financial and operating activities of the investee. If the Group’s influence increased such that the Group has the power to govern the 
financial and operating activities of the associate, then its results would have to be fully consolidated. Conversely, if the Group’s influence 
reduced and the Group did not have the power to participate in the financial and operating activities of the associate then it would need to 
account for its interest in the associate as a financial asset.

The key judgemental areas are as follows:

IDP Education Pty Ltd (IDP)

The Group owns 50% of the voting rights in IDP. The Group does not have control over the investment as its voting rights and board seats 
are equal to its co-investors. The Group is required to equity account for IDP as an associate company due to the fact that the Group has 
significant influence over IDP.

JobStreet Corporation Berhad (JCB)

At 30 June 2015, SEEK has 20.1% ownership interest in this listed entity.  However as a consequence of the business combination 
described in note 21, on 20 November 2014 management determined that there no longer existed sufficient evidence of significant 
influence to support accounting for this investment as an associate.  As a result, from 20 November 2014, SEEK accounts for its 20.1% 
interest in JCB as a non-current financial asset.

(ii)  Impairment of the investment in associates
The Group has not impaired any of its investments in associates, a decision which requires significant estimates and judgements. As 
required by current Accounting Standards, the Group has evaluated, among other factors, the financial health of and business outlook 
for its associates and assessed the carrying value of its investments against current estimated fair value. Where an impairment indicator 
exists due to the current economic climate an impairment test has been performed. This has resulted in no impairment write downs 
being required in the current financial period.
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(iii) Acquisition of a minority stake in Babajob Services Private Ltd (Babajob)
On 17 April 2015, SEEK acquired a fully diluted 38.0% equity interest in Babajob (46.2% undiluted) for US$10.0m (A$12.8m at 
the exchange rate on the date of the transaction). Babajob is India’s first web and mobile start-up dedicated to bringing better 
job opportunities to aspiring workers across the country. India is a large addressable market with favourable structural trends 
such as the rise of internet penetration, urbanisation and a growing labour force.

(iv) Quoted fair value
All associates and joint ventures held at 30 June 2015 are privately owned and do not have a published share price.

(b)  Summarised financial information 

(i) Summarised financial information recognised by SEEK

Share of net Dilution Total recognised Dividends Carrying
For the year ended 30 June 2015 profits/(losses) of investment in profit and loss received amount

$m $m $m $m $m

Associates

IDP  15.7  -  15.7  19.5  68.3 
JCB(1) (0.9)  - (0.9)  2.8  - 
OAM (2.8)  - (2.8)  -  23.1 
Other immaterial associates  -  -  -  0.1  15.1 

Joint ventures

Swinburne Online  10.0  -  10.0  6.6  12.9 

Babajob (0.3)  - (0.3)  -  13.0 

Total associates and joint ventures  21.7  -  21.7  29.0  132.4 

Share of net Dilution Total recognised Dividends Carrying
For the year ended 30 June 2014 profits/(losses) of investment in profit and loss received amount

$m $m $m $m $m

Associates

IDP  14.0  -  14.0  16.5  71.0 
JCB(2)  4.5 (4.9) (0.4)  2.5  46.1 
OAM (0.7) (0.5) (1.2)  -  17.5 
Other immaterial associates (0.1)  - (0.1)  -  9.1 

Joint ventures

Swinburne Online  6.4  -  6.4  1.1  9.4 
Babajob  -  -  -  -  - 
Total associates and joint ventures  24.1 (5.4)  18.7  20.1  153.1 

1. Results included as JCB was equity accounted until 19 November 2014.
2. Includes $4.1m relating to the dilution impact of share issurances by JCB to acquire 100% ownership interests in certain joint ventures prior to their divestment in the transaction 

with SEEKAsia Ltd.
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24.  Interests in equity accounted investments continued
(ii)  Summarised financial information in respect of associates

IDP OAM JCB (1)

2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
Summarised balance sheet $m $m $m $m $m $m

Current assets  97.6  86.9  9.2  11.3  -  53.7 
Non-current assets  68.8  60.1  16.3  13.5  -  51.9 
Current liabilities (66.1) (47.8) (5.9) (2.6)  - (22.1)

Non-current liabilities (8.9) (2.5)  -  -  -  - 

Net assets  91.4  96.7  19.6  22.2  -  83.5 

Group interest

Group's share in % 50.0% 50.0% 27.5% 24.4% 0.0% 20.0%
Group's share in $  45.7  48.3  5.4  5.4  -  16.7 
Goodwill  16.8  16.8  17.7  12.6  -  18.7 
Other intangibles  6.5  6.5  -  -  -  7.8 
Adjustment to update Group's share of net assets to estimated 
amount for 30 June 2014  -  -  -  -  -  1.0 

Other adjustments (0.7) (0.6)  - (0.5)  -  1.9 

Carrying amount  68.3  71.0  23.1  17.5  -  46.1 

IDP OAM JCB (1)

Summarised statement of 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
comprehensive income $m $m $m $m $m $m

Revenue  309.8  256.8  10.1  7.7  26.3  45.4 

Profit/(loss) for the period  31.5  28.0 (11.3) (2.5) (4.0)  15.4 

Other comprehensive income (2.2)  1.8  2.7  3.5 (1.7) (7.1)

Total comprehensive income  29.3  29.8 (8.6)  1.0 (5.7)  8.3 

Individually immaterial associates
In addition to the interests in associates disclosed above, the Group also has interests in a number of individually immaterial 
associates that are accounted for using the equity method. 

2015 2014
$m $m

Aggregate carrying amount of individually immaterial associates  15.1  9.1 
Aggregate amounts of the Group's share of:

  Losses from continuing operations  - (0.1)

  Other comprehensive income (1.2)  - 

  Total comprehensive income (1.2) (0.1)

1. JCB is listed in Malaysia and releases its results quarterly. As JCB was due to release its April to June 2014 quarter results after the date of publication of the SEEK financial 
statements, the JCB net assets for 30 June 2014 represented in the SEEK financial statements comprised the actual released net assets for 31 March 2014 and SEEK's internal 
estimate for the result for the April 2014 to June 2014 quarter.  The JCB result for 2014 presented in the SEEK financial statements comprises the actual released results for July 
2013 to March 2014.
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(ii) Summarised financial information in respect of joint ventures
Swinburne Online Babajob

2015 2014 2015 2014
Summarised balance sheet $m $m $m $m

Current assets  37.6  32.3  12.3  - 
Non-current assets  3.8  1.9  -  - 
Current liabilities (15.3) (15.2) (0.1)  - 

Non-current liabilities (0.4) (0.1)  -  - 

Net assets  25.7  18.9  12.2  - 

Assets and liabilities above include:
Cash and cash equivalents  37.3  31.7  0.4  - 
Current financial liabilities (excluding trade and other payables and 
provisions) (8.5) (9.1) (0.1)  - 

Group interest

Group's share in % 50.0% 50.0% 46.2% 0.0%
Group's share in $  12.9  9.4  5.7  - 

Goodwill  -  -  7.3  - 

Carrying amount  12.9  9.4  13.0  - 

Swinburne Online Babajob

Summarised statement of 2015 2014 2015 2014
comprehensive income $m $m $m $m

Revenue  78.7  53.5  0.1  - 
Interest income  0.7  0.6  -  - 
Other operating costs (49.8) (33.9) (0.8)  - 
Depreciation and amortisation (0.8) (0.5)  -  - 

Income tax expense (8.6) (5.9)  -  - 

Profit for the period  20.2  13.8 (0.7)  - 

Other comprehensive income  -  -  0.3  - 

Total comprehensive income  20.2  13.8 (0.4)  - 
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25.  Deed of cross guarantee
The following controlled entities have entered into a Deed of Cross Guarantee:

Company  Financial year entered into agreement 

SEEK Limited 30 June 2006
SEEK Learning Pty Ltd 30 June 2006
SEEK Campus Pty Ltd 30 June 2006
SEEK Commercial Pty Ltd 30 June 2007
SEEK Investments Pty Ltd 30 June 2007
SEEK International Investments Pty Ltd 30 June 2007
Job Seeker Pty Ltd 30 June 2014

HS Holdco Pty Ltd 30 June 2015

The companies that are party to this deed guarantee the debts of the others and represent the “Closed Group” from the date 
of entering into the agreement. 

These wholly-owned entities have been relieved from the requirement to prepare a financial report and directors’ report under 
Class Order 98/1418 (as amended) issued by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission.

Entities removed from the Deed of Cross Guarantee Group during FY2015
On 23 June 2014, Dynamic Web Training Pty Ltd (DWT) was sold.  As such, DWT has exited the SEEK Limited “Closed Group”.
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(a) � Income statement, other comprehensive income and a summary of movements in 
consolidated retained profits

Since there are no other parties to the Deed of Cross Guarantee that are controlled by SEEK Limited the companies detailed 
on the preceding page also represent the “Extended Closed Group”.

2015 2014
Statement of comprehensive income $m $m

Income statement

Revenue from continuing operations  371.6  353.6 
Other income  100.3  - 

Operating expenses
Direct cost of services (3.9) (4.8)
Sales and marketing (87.5) (66.5)
Business development (43.6) (30.5)
Operations and administration (34.7) (49.6)

Finance costs (22.2) (23.2)

Total operating expenses (191.9) (174.6)

Share of results of equity accounted investments  21.4  18.6 

Profit before income tax expense from continuing operations  301.4  197.6 

Income tax expense (40.0) (36.6)

Profit from continuing operations  261.4  161.0 

Profit from discontinued operation(1)  -  59.1 

Profit for the year  261.4  220.1 

Other comprehensive income   
Exchange differences on translation of foreign associates  0.8 (4.7)
(Losses)/gains on hedge contracts of controlled entities (61.9)  6.5 
Gains/(losses) on hedge contracts of associates (net of tax)  1.6 (1.0)
Change in fair value of financial assets  4.9  - 

Income tax relating to other comprehensive income  2.9  15.3 

Other comprehensive income for the year (51.7)  16.1 

Total comprehensive income for the year  209.7  236.2 

Summary of movements in consolidated retained profits
Retained profits at 1 July  410.0  274.1 
Profit for the year  261.4  220.1 
Tax credited directly to retained profits - share-based payments  10.6  4.2 

Dividends paid (120.2) (88.4)

Retained profits at 30 June  561.8  410.0 

1. This represents the parent company's gain on sale of THINK which forms part of the Group's gain on sale (refer to note 22).
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25.  Deed of cross guarantee continued
(b)  Consolidated balance sheet
Set out below is a consolidated balance sheet as at 30 June 2015 of the Closed Group.

2015 2014
Consolidated balance sheet $m $m

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents  29.0  65.8 
Trade and other receivables  53.5  56.6 
Other financial assets  13.2  1.8 

Current tax assets 8.7  - 

Total current assets  104.4  124.2 

Non-current assets

Investments in controlled entities  1,281.7  678.9 
Investments accounted for using the equity method  125.2  147.4 
Plant and equipment  7.3  6.1 
Intangible assets  63.7  39.8 
Other financial assets  19.0  - 
Deferred tax assets  4.9  22.6 

Loans with controlled entities  1.4  1.9 

Total non-current assets  1,503.2  896.7 

Total assets  1,607.6  1,020.9 

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables  29.9  22.6 
Current borrowings  153.0  - 
Unearned income  19.7  15.7 
Other financial liabilities  9.2  6.8 
Current tax liabilities  -  6.6 

Current provisions  10.3  8.2 

Total current liabilities  222.1  59.9 

Non-current liabilities

Non-current borrowings  634.5  329.9 
Deferred tax liabilities  0.4  0.4 

Non-current provisions  1.5  1.6 

Total non-current liabilities  636.4  331.9 

Total liabilities  858.5  391.8 

Net assets  749.1  629.1 

Equity

Contributed equity  222.9  203.7 
Reserves (35.6)  15.4 

Retained profits  561.8  410.0 

Total equity  749.1  629.1 
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26.  Parent entity financial information

(a)  Summary financial information
The individual financial statements for the parent entity show the following aggregate amounts:

2015 2014
$m $m

Balance sheet

Current assets  92.7  99.7 
Total assets  1,226.2  807.8 
Current liabilities (177.1) (32.6)

Total liabilities (826.0) (370.2)

Net assets  400.2  437.6 

Equity
Issued capital  222.9  203.7 
Reserves

Cash flow hedge reserve  6.3 (0.4)
Net investment hedge reserve (73.4) (12.5)
Share-based payments reserve  40.0  37.5 
Transactions with non-controlling interests (3.6) (3.6)

Retained earnings  208.0  212.9 

 400.2  437.6 

Profit or loss for the year  104.6  150.9 

Total comprehensive income  50.7  155.3 

Accounting policy
The financial information for the parent entity, SEEK Limited, has been prepared on the same basis as the consolidated financial 
statements, except as set out below.

(i) Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture entities
Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture entities are accounted for at cost in the financial statements of SEEK Limited. 
Dividends received from associates are recognised in the parent entity’s profit or loss when its right to receive the dividend is established, 
rather than being deducted from the carrying amount of these investments.

(ii)  Income tax consolidation legislation
SEEK Limited and its wholly-owned Australian entities have elected to form an income tax consolidated group.

SEEK Limited (as the head entity) and its wholly-owned Australian entities (as members of the SEEK income tax consolidated 
group) account for their own current and deferred tax amounts. These tax amounts are measured as if each entity in the income tax 
consolidated group continues to be a stand alone taxpayer in its own right.

In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, SEEK Limited also recognises the current tax liabilities (or assets) and the 
deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and unused tax credits assumed from its wholly-owned entities in the income tax 
consolidated group.

The entities have also entered into a tax funding agreement under which they fully compensate SEEK Limited for any current tax payable 
assumed and are compensated by SEEK Limited for any current tax receivable and deferred tax assets relating to unused tax losses 
or unused tax credits that are transferred to SEEK Limited under the income tax consolidation legislation. The funding amounts are 
determined by reference to the amounts recognised in the wholly-owned entities’ financial statements.

The amounts receivable/payable under the tax funding agreement are due upon receipt of the funding advice from the head entity, 
which is issued as soon as practicable after the end of each financial year. The head entity may also require payment of interim funding 
amounts to assist with its obligations to pay tax instalments. Assets or liabilities arising under the tax funding agreement with the 
income tax consolidated entities are recognised as current amounts receivable from or payable to other entities in the Group.

Any difference between the amounts assumed and amounts receivable or payable under the tax funding agreement are recognised as a 
contribution to (or distribution from) entities within the SEEK income tax consolidated group.

(iii)  Financial guarantees
Where the parent entity has provided financial guarantees in relation to loans and payables of subsidiaries for no compensation, the fair 
values of these guarantees are accounted for as contributions and recognised as part of the cost of the investment.
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26.  Parent entity financial information continued
(b)  Guarantees entered into by the parent entity
The parent entity has given unsecured guarantees along with its Australian subsidiaries in respect of the syndicated loan 
facility of A$465.0m and US$273.0m of which A$788.9m has been drawn down at 30 June 2015. Refer to note 15.

In addition, there are cross guarantees given by SEEK Limited, as described in note 25. No deficiencies of assets exist in any 
of these entities. The parent entity has further provided a guarantee in respect of obligations for rental commitments, as 
described in note 28.

(c)  Contingent liabilities of the parent entity
The parent entity did not have any contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2015 (2014: nil).

(d)  Contractual commitments
As at 30 June 2015, the parent entity had contractual commitments for minimum lease payments in relation to  
non-cancellable operating leases totalling $17.8m (2014: $10.7m). Other commitments for the payment of IT services, 
advertising and promotions under long-term contracts in existence totalled $4.7m (2014: $1.3m).

27.  Contingent liabilities
At 30 June 2015, the Group has unrecognised contingent liabilities relating to Brasil Online of $5.0m (2014: $4.0m). Refer to 
note 17(c) for further details.

There are no other contingent liabilities.

28.  Commitments for expenditure

(a) Lease commitments

Operating leases
Commitments for minimum lease payments in relation to non-cancellable operating leases are payable as follows:

2015 2014
$m

Within one year  20.6  14.6 
Later than one year but not later than five years  43.5  32.6 

More than five years  -  0.5 

Total  64.1  47.7 

The Group leases various offices under non-cancellable operating leases expiring within one to five years. The leases have 
varying terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights. On renewal, the terms of the lease are negotiated.

(b) Other commitments
Commitments for the payment of IT services, advertising and promotions under long-term contracts in existence at the 
reporting date but not recognised as liabilities payable are as follows:

2015 2014
$m $m

Within one year  9.2  8.6 

Later than one year but not later than five years  4.7  7.6 

Total  13.9  16.2 
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29.  Events occurring after the balance sheet date
Extension of syndicated debt facility
On 20 August 2015, the Group extended its syndicated debt facility by 18 months.  Updated key features of the revolving, 
unsecured, syndicated senior debt facility are as follows:

•	 Tranche A:  A$183m, expiring August 2017

•	 Tranche B:  A$335m, expiring August 2018

•	 Tranche C:  US$273m, expiring August 2019

This extension was strongly supported by the existing members of the syndicate, being National Australia Bank, Westpac 
Banking Corporation, ANZ, Commonwealth Bank, HSBC, United Overseas Bank, Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation and 
Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ.  Reflecting SEEK’s business model strength and improving funding conditions there has been a 
significant improvement in term and conditions of the facility.

30.  Share-based payments

Accounting Policy
Share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees via Performance rights and LTI options. Information relating to these 
schemes is set out in the Remuneration Report.

The fair value of equity-settled rights and options granted under the plans is recognised as an employee benefit expense over the 
period during which the employees become unconditionally entitled to the rights and options with a corresponding increase in equity. 
The total amount to be expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of the rights and options granted, which includes any 
market performance conditions and the impact of any non-vesting conditions but excludes the impact of any service and non-market 
performance vesting conditions. Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of options that are 
expected to vest which are revised at the end of each reporting period. The impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, is 
recognised in the consolidated income statement, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

The fair value is measured at grant date and the expense recognised over the life of the plan. The fair value of options is independently 
determined using a Black-Scholes or similar option pricing model that takes into account the exercise price, the term of the option, the 
impact of dilution, the share price at grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the 
risk-free interest rate for the term of the option. The expected price volatility is based onthe historic volatility (based on the remaining life 
of the options), adjusted for any expected changes to future volatility due to publicly available information.

Expenses arising from share-based payment transactions
Total expenses arising from share-based payment transactions recognised during the period as part of employee benefits 
expense were $18.7m (2014: $18.1m) including:

•	 Equity settled share-based payment plans:

–– Performance Rights and Options Plans - SEEK Limited $7.8m

–– Share option plans in International subsidiaries $7.0m

•	 Cash settled share-based payment plans $0.9m

Performance Rights and Options Plans - SEEK Limited
For details of Performance Rights and Options Plans refer to the Remuneration Report contained in the Directors’ Report. 

Performance right plan
Under the Performance Right Plan, participants are issued one performance right, valued at a maximum of 20% base salary 
(for senior management) or 25% of Total Remuneration (for executives). Expense for the FY2015 performance rights is 
included within the expense for the Performance Rights and Options Plans. Details of the grant of performance rights can be 
found in the Performance Rights and Options table below, and in the Remuneration Report.

Fair value of Options and Performance Rights
Refer to page 33 of the Remuneration Report contained within the Directors’ Report, for details on the fair value of options and 
rights issued during the financial year. 
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30.  Share-based payments continued
The table below summarises the movement in the number of options in these plans during the year:

2015 Number of options or rights

Grant date

Expiry 
date 

(years)
Exercise 

price
Opening 
balance

Granted 
during the 

year

Exercised 
during the 

year

Forfeited 
during the 

year
Closing 
balance

Options/
rights 

vested and 
exercisable 

at the end of 
the year

Executive Director Options

21 November 2011(1) 5 $5.36  964,065  - (964,065)  -  -  - 
3 December 2012(1) 5 $7.43  1,085,526  -  -  -  1,085,526  - 
4 December 2013(1) 5 $10.38  672,348  -  -  -  672,348  - 

12 December 2014(1) 5 $19.04  -  514,285  -  -  514,285  - 

Total Executive Director 
Options  2,721,939  514,285 (964,065)  -  2,272,159  - 

Options Plans

1 July 2010 5 $7.39  641,180  - (641,180)  -  -  - 
1 September 2011 5 $5.36  1,729,804  - (1,729,804)  -  -  - 
7 September 2012 5 $7.43  2,129,277  -  -  -  2,129,277  - 
6 September 2013 5 $10.38  1,489,248  -  -  -  1,489,248  - 

6 August 2014 5 $19.04  -  1,033,160  - (329,831)  703,329  - 

Total Options  5,989,509  1,033,160 (2,370,984) (329,831)  4,321,854  - 

Performance Right Plans

6 September 2013 2 $0.00  35  - (35)  -  -  - 
6 September 2013 2.5 $0.00  8  - (8)  -  -  - 
4 December 2013 2.5 $0.00  1  - (1)  -  -  - 
6 August 2014 2 $0.00  -  47  - (2)  45  - 
6 August 2014 2.5 $0.00  -  7  -  -  7  - 

12 December 2014 2.5 $0.00  -  1  -  -  1  - 

Total Performance Rights  44  55 (44) (2)  53  - 

Total All Plans  8,711,492  1,547,500 (3,335,093) (329,833)  6,594,066  - 

Weighted average exercise 
price $7.52 $19.04 $5.75 $19.04 $10.54 $0.00

1. Approved and granted at AGM
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2014 Number of options or rights

Grant date

Expiry 
date 

(years)
Exercise 

price
Opening 
balance

Granted 
during the 

year

Exercised 
during the 

year

Forfeited 
during the 

year
Closing 
balance

Options/
rights 

vested and 
exercisable 

at the end of 
the year

Executive Director Options

6 November 2008 5 $5.29 471,011  - (471,011)  -  -  - 
21 November 2011(1) 4 $6.80 1,156,069  - (1,156,069)  -  -  - 
21 November 2011(1) 5 $5.36 964,065  -  -  -  964,065  - 
3 December 2012(1) 5 $7.43 1,085,526  -  -  -  1,085,526  - 
4 December 2013(1) 5 $10.38  - 672,348  -  -  672,348  - 

Total Executive Director 
Options  3,676,671  672,348 (1,627,080)  -  2,721,939  - 

Options Plans

30 July 2009 5 $4.10 125,319  - (125,319)  -  -  - 
1 July 2010 5 $7.39 1,308,860  - (445,171) (222,509)  641,180  641,180 
1 September 2011 5 $5.36 1,843,625  -  - (113,821)  1,729,804  - 
7 September 2012 5 $7.43  2,320,066  -  - (190,789)  2,129,277  - 
6 September 2013 5 $10.38  - 1,489,248  -  -  1,489,248 

Total Options  5,597,870  1,489,248 (570,490) (527,119)  5,989,509  641,180 

Performance Right Plans

3 December 2012 2 $0.00  10  - (10)  -  -  - 
21 December 2012 2 $0.00  22  - (20) (2)  -  - 
6 September 2013 2 $0.00  -  37  - (2)  35  - 
6 September 2013 2.5 $0.00  -  8  -  -  8  - 
4 December 2013(1) 2.5 $0.00  -  1  -  -  1  - 

Total Performance Rights  32  46 (30) (4)  44  - 

Total All Plans  9,274,573  2,161,642 (2,197,600) (527,123)  8,711,492  641,180 

Weighted average exercise 
price $6.57 $10.38 $6.44 $6.97 $7.52 $7.39

1. Approved and granted at AGM  

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise of options exercised during the year ended 30 June 2015 was $17.35 
(2014: $14.42).

The weighted average remaining contractual life of share options outstanding at the end of the year was 2.20 years (2014: 
2.85 years).

Share option plans in International subsidiaries

Expenses arising from share-based payments transactions – International subsidiaries
Total expenses arising from share-based payments transactions recognised in the Group consolidated financial statements 
during the year relating to International subsidiaries were $7.9m (2014: $10.5m).
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30.  Share-based payments continued
Option Plans - Zhaopin 
The table below summarises the movements in option plans held in SEEK’s subsidiary Zhaopin in FY2015. 

Options are held over class A ordinary shares in Zhaopin Ltd. During the IPO process in June 2014, American Depositary 
Shares (ADSs) in Zhaopin Ltd were listed on the New York Stock Exchange and each ADS represents 2 class A ordinary shares.

2015 - Zhaopin Number of options

Grant date
Expiry date 

(years)

Exercise 
price 

(US$)
Opening 
balance

Granted 
during the 

year

Exercised 
during the 

year

Cancelled 
/ Forfeited 
during the 

year

Expired 
during the 

year
Closing 
balance

Options 
vested and 

exercisable at 
the end of the 

year

Schemes issued prior to FY2014  15,311,315  - (6,421,046) (161,178) (232,337)  8,496,754  6,735,200 
31 March 2014 6 $5.00  222,000  - (6,400) (79,600)  -  136,000  3,200 
31 March 2014 6 $4.00  1,314,820  -  - (270,000)  -  1,044,820  - 
31 March 2014 6 $4.50  115,200  -  - (46,200)  -  69,000  - 
17 April 2014 6 $6.75  80,000  -  -  -  -  80,000  6,400 

2 June 2014 5 $6.75  750,000  -  -  -  -  750,000  - 

Balance at 30 June 2015  17,793,335  - (6,427,446) (556,978) (232,337)  10,576,574  6,744,800 

Weighted average exercise 
price $2.72 n/a $1.94 $4.21 $1.72 $3.14 $2.28

2014 - Zhaopin Number of options

Grant date
Expiry date 

(years)

Exercise 
price 
(US$)

Opening 
balance

Granted 
during the 

year

Exercised 
during the 

year

Cancelled 
/ Forfeited 
during the 

year

Expired 
during the 

year
Closing 
balance

Options 
vested and 

exercisable at 
the end of the 

year

Schemes issued prior to FY2014  23,475,594  - (7,663,409) (440,870) (60,000)  15,311,315  12,136,489 
31 March 2014 6 $5.00  -  228,000  - (6,000)  -  222,000  - 
31 March 2014 6 $4.00  -  1,374,820  - (60,000)  -  1,314,820  - 
31 March 2014 6 $4.50  -  115,200  -  -  -  115,200  - 
17 April 2014 6 $6.75  -  80,000  -  -  -  80,000  - 
2 June 2014 5 $6.75  -  750,000  -  -  -  750,000  - 

Balance at 30 June 2014  23,475,594  2,548,020 (7,663,409) (506,870) (60,000)  17,793,335  12,136,489 

Weighted average exercise 
price $1.88 $5.01 $0.85 $3.52 $1.80 $2.72 $1.96

The weighted average remaining contractual life of share options outstanding at the end of the year was 3.61 years (2014: 
2.03 years).

Option Plans - SEEK Asia
The table below summarises the movements in option plans held in SEEK’s subsidiary SEEKAsia Ltd in FY2015.

2015 - SEEK Asia Number of options

Grant date
Expiry date 

(years)

Exercise 
price 

(US$)
Opening 
balance

Granted 
during the 

year

Exercised 
during the 

year

Cancelled 
/ Forfeited 
during the 

year

Expired 
during the 

year
Closing 
balance

Options 
vested and 

exercisable at 
the end of the 

year

20 November 2014 5 $1.29  -  14,008,910  -  -  -  14,008,910  - 

Balance at 30 June 2015  -  14,008,910  -  -  -  14,008,910  - 

Weighted average exercise price n/a $1.29 n/a n/a n/a $1.29 n/a

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
The weighted average remaining contractual life of share options outstanding at the end of the year was 4.39 years (2014: n/a).
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Option Plans - OCC

The table below summarises the movements in option plans held in SEEK’s subsidiary OCC in FY2015. 

2015 - OCC Number of options

Grant date

Expiry 
date 
(years)

Exercise 
price 

(US$)
Opening 
balance

Granted 
during the 

year

Exercised 
during the 

year

Cancelled 
/ Forfeited 
during the 

year

Expired 
during the 

year
Closing 
balance

Options 
vested and 

exercisable at 
the end of the 

year

Schemes issued prior to FY2014  59,902  - (48,942)  -  -  10,960  8,961 

12 May 2014 10 $145.00  4,758  - (1,807)  -  -  2,951  - 

Balance at 30 June 2015  64,660  - (50,749)  -  -  13,911  8,961 

Weighted average exercise price $100.19 n/a $95.55 n/a n/a $117.14 $101.85

2014 - OCC Number of options

Grant date
Expiry date 

(years)

Exercise 
price 
(US$)

Opening 
balance

Granted 
during the 

year

Exercised 
during the 

year

Cancelled 
/ Forfeited 
during the 

year

Expired 
during the 

year
Closing 
balance

Options 
vested and 

exercisable at 
the end of the 

year

Schemes issued prior to FY2014  65,103  -  - (5,201)  -  59,902  49,851 
12 May 2014 10 $145.00  -  4,758  -  -  -  4,758  799 

Balance at 30 June 2014  65,103  4,758  - (5,201)  -  64,660  50,650 

Weighted average exercise price $97.03 $145.00 n/a $101.56 n/a $100.19 $93.04

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The weighted average remaining contractual life of share options outstanding at the end of the year was 6.45 years (2014: 
6.86 years).

 

31.  Related party transactions
(a)  Interests in controlled entities
Interests in controlled entities are set out in note 23.	

(b)  Transactions with equity accounted investments
The following transactions occurred with equity accounted investments:	

2015 2014
$ $

Dividends and distributions received from equity accounted investments  29,018,388 20,145,630
Directors' fees and other personnel costs charged to equity accounted investments  250,533 232,563

Sales to equity accounted investments  6,734,583 7,045,004

(c)  Transactions with key management personnel

2015 2014
$ $

Short-term employee benefits  7,441,062 6,699,919
Post-employment benefits  285,742 245,509
Share-based employee benefits  8,409,852 6,318,771

Other long-term benefits  171,806 102,208

 16,308,462 13,366,407
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31.  Related party transactions continued
(d)  Transactions with other related parties
No other related parties have been identified other than those disclosed above. 

Some of the Group’s independent non-executive directors are also non-executive directors for other companies. SEEK 
Limited, from time to time, may provide or receive services from these companies on an arm’s-length basis.

32.  Remuneration of auditors
In FY2014 and FY2015 the parent entity and its subsidiaries were audited by PriceWaterhouseCoopers Australia and related 
practices of PriceWaterhouseCoopers Australia. During the year the following fees were paid for services provided by the 
auditor of the parent entity and its related practices:

2015 2014
$ $

(a)  PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia
Audit and other assurance services

Audit and review of financial reports  690,000  1,052,750 

Other assurance services:
Due diligence services  162,625  773,500 

Bank covenant, acquisition & statutory reporting  110,000  - 

Total remuneration for audit and other assurance services  962,625  1,826,250 

Taxation services

Tax consulting - international  96,020  459,740 
Tax consulting - domestic  45,040  295,482 

Tax compliance  32,000  62,226 

Total remuneration for taxation services  173,060  817,448 

Total remuneration of PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia  1,135,685  2,643,698 

(b)  Related practices of PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia
Audit and other assurance services

Audit and review of financial reports(1)  1,794,535  3,138,129 

Other assurance services:

Other non audit services  456,390  765,870 

Total remuneration for audit and other assurance services  2,250,925  3,903,999 

Taxation services

Tax compliance services, including review of company income tax returns  23,180  101,834 

Tax consulting  17,098  - 

Total remuneration for taxation services  40,278  101,834 

Total remuneration of related practices of PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia  2,291,203  4,005,833 

1. Audit and review of financial reports in 2014 includes one-off fees of $2.2m relating to Zhaopin US GAAP review (IPO requirements).
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33.  Other significant accounting policies
(a)  Principles of consolidation

(i)  Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity 
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect 
those returns through its power to direct the relevant activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date 
on which control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases. 

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations by the Group (refer to note 21).

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated. 
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset. 
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by 
the Group. 

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated income statement, 
statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and balance sheet respectively. 

(ii)  Associates and joint ventures
Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control or joint control, generally 
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are accounted for 
using the equity method of accounting, after initially being recognised at cost. The Group’s investment in associates includes 
goodwill identified on acquisition.

Joint ventures are all entities over which the Group has joint control with one or more other investors.  Joint control exists 
only when decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. Investments 
in joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method of accounting, after initially being recognised at cost. The Group’s 
investment in joint ventures includes goodwill identified on acquisition.

Under the equity method, the Group’s share of post-acquisition profits or losses is recognised in profit or loss, and its share of 
post-acquisition other comprehensive income is recognised in other comprehensive income. The cumulative post-acquisition 
movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment. Dividends received are recognised as reduction in the 
carrying amount of the investment.

When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the investment, including any other 
unsecured long-term receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made 
payments on behalf of the associate.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its equity accounted investments are eliminated to the extent of 
the Group’s interest in the investment. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of 
an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of equity accounted investments have been changed where 
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

(iii)  Changes in ownership interests
The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of control as transactions with equity 
owners of the Group. A change in ownership interest results in an adjustment between the carrying amounts of the controlling 
and non-controlling interests to reflect their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount of the 
adjustment to non-controlling interests and any consideration paid or received is recognised in a separate reserve within 
equity attributable to owners of SEEK Limited.

When the Group ceases to have control, joint control or significant influence, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured 
to its fair value with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value becomes the initial carrying 
amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. 
In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if 
the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.

If the ownership interest in a joint venture or an associate is reduced but joint control or significant influence is retained, only 
a proportionate share of the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss 
where appropriate.
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33.  Other significant accounting policies continued
(b)  Foreign currency translation

(i)  Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the entity operates (the functional currency). The consolidated financial statements are 
presented in Australian dollars, which is SEEK Limited’s functional and presentation currency.

(ii)  Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates 
of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the 
translation at year end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in 
profit or loss, except when they are deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying net investment hedges or 
are attributable to part of the net investment in a foreign operation.

Where foreign currency denominated borrowings have been designated as a hedge for accounting purposes and the hedge 
remains effective, exchange gains and losses are recorded in the net investment hedge reserve. Otherwise exchange gains 
and losses are presented in profit or loss, within “finance costs”. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in 
profit or loss on a net basis within other income or other expenses.

(iii)  Group companies
The results and financial position of all Group entities (none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that 
have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

•	 assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of that balance sheet;

•	 income and expenses for each income statement and statement of comprehensive income are translated at average 
exchange rates (unless this is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the 
transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the dates of the transactions); and

•	 all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of any net investment in foreign entities, and 
of borrowings and other financial instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are recognised in other 
comprehensive income. When a foreign operation is sold or any borrowings forming part of the net investment are repaid, the 
associated exchange differences are reclassified to profit or loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities of the 
foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

(c)  Goods and Services Tax (GST) and Valued Added Tax (VAT)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST and VAT, unless the GST and VAT incurred 
is not recoverable from the taxation authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as 
part of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST and VAT receivable or payable. The net amount of GST and 
VAT recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included within “trade and other receivables” or “trade and other 
payables” in the consolidated balance sheet.

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST and VAT components of cash flows arising from investing or financing 
activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority, are presented as operating cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST and VAT recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation 
authority. 

(d)  Impairment of assets
Assets other than goodwill and intangible assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 

For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable 
cash inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units). 

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The 
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. Non-financial assets other than 
goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting period.
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(e)  New and amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations

(i)  New and amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued and effective
The Group has adopted the following new and amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations which were applicable as 
disclosed in the table below. Adoption of these new and amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations has not had a 
material impact on the Company or the Group.

Summary
Application date of 

standard
Application date 

for Group

AASB 2012-3 – Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Offsetting Financial Assets and 
Financial Liabilities

AASB 2012-3 adds application guidance to AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation to 
address inconsistencies identified in applying some of the offsetting criteria of AASB 132, including 
clarifying the meaning of “currently has a legally enforceable right of set-off” and that some gross 
settlement systems may be considered equivalent to net settlement.

1 January 2014 1 July 2014

Annual Improvements 2010-2012 Cycle  

Amendments to clarify minor points in various accounting standards, including AASB 2, AASB 3, 
AASB 8, AASB 13, AASB 116, AASB 138 and AASB 124.

1 July 2014 1 July 2014

AASB 1031 – Materiality

The revised AASB 1031 is an interim standard that cross-references to other Standards and the 
Framework (issued December 2013) that contain guidance on materiality.  AASB 1031 will be 
withdrawn when references to AASB 1031 in all Standards and Interpretations have been removed.

1 January 2014 1 July 2014

AASB 9 – Financial Instruments (2013)

AASB 9 (2013) simplifies the model for classifying and recognising financial instruments and aligns 
hedge accounting more closely with common risk management practices. In addition, the hedge 
effectiveness testing requirements have changed.

1 January 2018 1 July 2014

(ii)  Accounting standards issued but not yet effective
Certain new Accounting Standards and Interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 30 June 2015 reporting 
periods and have not been early adopted by the Group. The Group’s interpretation of the impact of these new Standards is set 
out below:

Summary
Application date of 

standard
Application date 

for Group

AASB 9 – Financial Instruments (2014)

AASB 9’s new impairment model is a move away from AASB 139’s incurred credit loss approach to 
an expected credit loss model. Earlier recognition of impairment losses is likely to result. 

These changes are not expected to result in a material impact on the financial statements.

1 January 2018 1 July 2018

AASB15 – Revenue from contracts with customers

The AASB has issued a new standard for the recognition of revenue. This will replace IAS 18 which 
covers contracts for goods and services and IAS 11 which covers construction contracts. The new 
standard is based on the principle that revenue is recognised when control of a good or service 
transfers to a customer – so the notion of control replaces the existing notion of risks and rewards.

The Group has conducted an initial analysis of the potential impact on each line of business and 
product type. Detailed analysis, including quantification of the potential impact, is now being 
performed on the segments and products that are more likely to generate a material difference.

1 January 2017 1 July 2017

Disclosure Initiative: Amendments to AASB 101

The amendments clarify a number of presentation issues and highlight that preparers are permitted 
to tailor the format and presentation of the financial statements to their circumstances and the 
needs of users.

1 January 2016 1 July 2016

Annual Improvements 2012-2014 Cycle  

Amendments to clarify minor points in various accounting standards, including AASB 5, AASB 7, 
AASB 119 and AASB 134. These changes are not expected to result in a material impact on the 
financial statements.

1 January 2016 1 July 2016

AASB 2014-10 – Sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or JV

The amendments clarify the accounting treatment for sales or contribution of assets between an 
investor and its associates or joint ventures. They confirm that the accounting depends on whether 
the contributed assets constitute a business or an asset. These changes are not expected to result 
in a material impact on the financial statements.

1 January 2016 1 July 2016
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Directors’ Declaration

In the directors’ opinion:

a.	 the financial statements and notes set out on pages 47 to 117 are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

i)	 complying with Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional reporting 
requirements; and

ii)	 giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2015 and of its performance for the 
financial year ended on that date; and

b.	 there are reasonable grounds to believe that SEEK Limited will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and 
payable; and

c.	 at the date of this declaration, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the members of the extended closed Group 
identified in note 25 will be able to meet any obligations or liabilities to which they are, or may become, subject by virtue of 
the deed of cross guarantee described in note 25.

Note 1 confirms that the financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board.

The directors have been given the declarations by the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer required by section 
295A of the Corporations Act 2001.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors. 

Neil Chatfield
Chairman

Melbourne 
29 September 2015
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Independent Auditor’s Report

PricewaterhouseCoopers, ABN 52 780 433 757
Freshwater Place, 2 Southbank Boulevard, SOUTHBANK VIC 3006, GPO Box 1331, MELBOURNE VIC 3001
T: 61 3 8603 1000, F: 61 3 8603 1999, www.pwc.com.au

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.

Independent auditor’s report to the members of SEEK Limited

Report on the financial report
We have audited the accompanying financial report of SEEK Limited (the company), which comprises
the consolidated balance sheet as at 30 June 2015, the consolidated income statement and
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended on that date, a summary of significant
accounting policies, other explanatory notes and the directors’ declaration for the SEEK Limited Group
(the consolidated entity). The consolidated entity comprises the company and the entities it controlled
at year’s end or from time to time during the financial year.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial report
The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the
financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In Note 1, the
directors also state, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial
Statements, that the financial statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we comply
with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error.
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the consolidated
entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well
as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.

Independence
In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations
Act 2001.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Auditor’s opinion
In our opinion:

(a) the financial report of SEEK Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001,
including:

(i) giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity's financial position as at 30 June
2015 and of its performance for the year ended on that date; and

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting
Interpretations) and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

(b) the financial report and notes also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as
disclosed in Note 1.

Report on the Remuneration Report
We have audited the remuneration report included in pages 25 to 44 of the directors’ report for the
year ended 30 June 2015. The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and
presentation of the remuneration report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act
2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the remuneration report, based on our audit
conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.

Auditor’s opinion
In our opinion, the remuneration report of SEEK Limited for the year ended 30 June 2015 complies
with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

John Yeoman Melbourne
Partner 29 September 2015
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Shareholder Information

The shareholder information set out below was applicable as at 30 September 2015.

A.  Distribution of shareholders
Analysis of numbers of ordinary shareholders by size of holding:

Range Total holders Shares
% of Issued 

Capital

1 – 1,000 15,201 7,485,866 2.17
1,001 – 5,000 10,859 24,865,002 7.22
5,001 – 10,000 1,533 11,191,205 3.25
10,001 – 100,000 797 18,435,838 5.35
100,001 + 77 282,459,971 82.01

Total 28,467 344,437,882 100.00

There were 592 holders of less than a marketable parcel of ordinary shares.

B.  Twenty largest quoted equity security holders
The names of the twenty largest registered holders of quoted equity securities are listed below:

Ordinary Shares

Name Number Held
% of Issued 

Capital

JP Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 86,800,125 25.20
National Nominees Limited 57,383,516 16.66
HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 52,931,795 15.37
Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 12,247,400 3.56
Kiteford Pty Ltd (Andrew Bassat Family A/C) 11,250,113 3.27
BNP Paribas Noms Pty Ltd (DRP) 8,632,780 2.51
Netherlane Pty Ltd (Paul Bassat Family A/C) 6,178,698 1.79
RBC Investor Services Australia Nominees Pty Limited (BKCUST A/C) 5,985,984 1.74
Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited (Colonial First State Inv A/C) 4,161,614 1.21
BNP Paribas Nominees Pty Ltd (Agency Lending DRP A/C) 2,872,385 0.83
UBS Nominees Pty Ltd 2,858,733 0.83
Mr Andrew Reuven Bassat 2,673,118 0.78
Daleford Way Pty Ltd 2,300,000 0.67
UBS Wealth Management Australia Nominees Pty Ltd 2,177,368 0.63
Australian Foundation Investment Company Limited 1,870,000 0.54
Mutual Trust Pty Ltd 1,445,328 0.42
Mr Roger William Allen 1,145,820 0.33
HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited (NT-Comnwlth Super Corp A/C) 1,143,189 0.33
Avanteos Investments Limited (2477966 DNR A/C) 1,010,195 0.29
UBS Nominees Pty Ltd 1,000,000 0.29
Top 20 holders of Ordinary Fully Paid Shares (total) 266,068,161 77.25
Other shareholders 78,369,721 22.75

Total 344,437,882 100.00

Unquoted equity securities
Options issued to take up ordinary shares under the:

Number held
Number of 

holders

Performance Rights and Options Plans 6,506,829(1)  10(2)

1.	 Does not include 417,015 options with effective date of 1 July 2014 that are unlikely to vest based on anticipated cessation of employment dates of executives.

2.	 The following persons hold 20% or more of these securities: Andrew Bassat 34.9%.
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C.  Substantial Holders
Substantial holders in the company are set out below:

Number held(1)
% issued 

capital

Fidelity International Group 34,670,966 10.07 
Hyperion Asset Management 31,415,107 9.12
The Capital Group Companies, Inc 21,519,180 6.25
JCP Investment Partners Ltd 17,238,441 5.00

1.	 Number of shares held by substantial shareholders is based on the most recent notifications lodged by substantial shareholders with the ASX.

D.  Voting Rights
The voting rights attaching to each class of equity securities are set out below:

Ordinary shares
On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll each share 
shall have one vote.

Options
No voting rights.
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Five Year Financial Summary

Operating Results
2015

$m
2014

$m
2013

$m
2012

$m
2011

$m

Sales revenue

Employment - job and banner advertising 273.2  240.3  234.9  247.8  224.0 

Early stage employment - job and banner advertising 2.7 0.9 - - -

International - job, banner advertising and CV online 501.3 384.4  224.7  62.1  8.7 

Learning - commission revenue 81.2 84.7  57.8  45.7  44.5 

Learning - classroom-based training - 3.0  3.5  3.8  -   

Eliminations - intercompany transactions - (2.1) (3.9) (4.0) (3.2)

Discontinued operation - THINK - classroom-based training(4) -  45.2  103.2  86.9  69.1 

Total sales revenue(1) 858.4  756.4  620.2  442.3  343.1 

Segment EBITDA(2) 348.9  308.5  239.6  193.6  135.6 

Segment EBITDA to sales (%) 40.6% 40.8% 38.6% 43.8% 39.5%

Share of results of equity accounted investments(3) 21.7  18.7  27.1  30.9  24.7 

Net profit after tax (NPAT) 315.2  223.4  313.7  137.5  96.7 

Non-controlling interests (34.0) (27.8) (13.6) (5.8)  1.0 

Profit for the year attributable to owners of SEEK Limited 281.2  195.6  300.1  131.7  97.7 

SEEK’s share of results of equity accounted investments(3)

IDP 15.7 14.0  10.6  8.2  7.7 

Zhaopin - -  11.3  16.5  8.7 

Brasil Online -  -    -    4.6  4.1 

JCB (0.9) (0.4)  4.0  2.8  2.7 

OCC -  -    -    0.8  0.8 

JobsDB -  -    -    -    0.7 

Swinburne Online 10.0 6.4  1.2 (2.0) (0.0)

OAM (2.8) (1.2)  -    -    -   

Babajob (0.3) -  -    -    -   

Other individually immaterial investments - (0.1)  -    -    -   

Total SEEK’s share of results of equity accounted investments(3) 21.7 18.7  27.1  30.9  24.7 

Balance Sheet

Current assets 642.2 446.1  320.9  167.5  160.5 

Non-current assets 2,658.9 1,786.1  1,883.7  1,232.2  810.1 

Total assets 3,301.1 2,232.2  2,204.6  1,399.7  970.6 

Current Liabilities 599.4 284.8  358.2  223.4  237.2 

Non-current liabilities 900.8 478.8  549.8  405.2  298.6 

Total liabilities 1,500.2 763.6  908.0  628.6  535.8 

Net assets 1,800.9 1,468.6  1,296.6  771.1  434.8 

Equity 1,800.9 1,468.6  1,296.6  771.1  434.8 

Gearing (debt/debt+equity) 35.3% 21.5% 27.4% 29.2% 38.8%

Per ordinary share ($) (from continuing operations)

Dividends - interim 19.0 14.0 10.0 8.3  6.8 

Dividends - final 17.0 16.0 12.0 9.0  7.5 

Dividends - total 36.0 30.0  22.0  17.3  14.3 

Basic earnings per share 82.1 57.7  89.0  39.1  29.0 

Diluted earnings per share 79.9 56.8  88.3  38.9  28.9 

1.	 Sales revenue is revenue excluding interest, dividend, other revenue and other income  from fair value gains on aquisitions.

2.	 Segment EBITDA is earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation and excludes share of results of equity accounted investments, amortisation of share-based payments 
and long-term incentives, gains/losses on investing activities, and other non-operating gains/losses.

3.	 Includes dilution of investments in associates.

4.	 THINK business was sold in November 2013 and treated as a discontinued operation from this time. 
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“I enjoy the freedom of the blank page.” – Irvine Welsh, author.
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on the New York Stock Exchange  
(Listing code: ZPIN)

Website
www.seek.com.au

ABN 46 080 075 314
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